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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of F8 Enterprises
(Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibilities, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the "GEM
Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

To our Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of F8 Enterprises
(Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual audited financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2023.

The Group’s revenue increased by approximately 20.3% from
approximately HK$357.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to
approximately HK$429.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. The
Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$4.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023, as compared with a net loss of approximately
HK$31.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2022, representing
decrease in net loss of approximately HK$27.1 million. The decrease in
net loss of the Group was mainly attributable to (i) increase in sale and
transportation of diesel oil business for the year ended 31 March 2023,
(ii) decrease in allowance for expected credit loss on financial assets,
net by approximately HK$8.5 million and (iii) absence of one-off loss on
derecognition of contingent consideration receivable of approximately
HK$15.4 million, which were incurred for the year ended 31 March
2022. The increase in gross profit was mainly due to increase in revenue
and higher markup offered to our customers in the diesel oil market for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a fleet of eight diesel tank wagons
of various capacity, a marine oil barge and a vessel to meet customers’
requirement.

Besides, the Group had carried out marketing and promotional

activities and negotiated with potential customers to secure purchase

orders for marine diesel oil.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

Since the emergence of the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic (the
“Pandemic”) in 2020, the diesel oil and marine diesel oil market had
been significantly hit and our business and financial performance had
been adversely affected. With the easing of the Pandemic and the
relaxation of travel restrictions and stringent anti-epidemic measures
(the “Relaxation Policy”) in the first quarter of 2023, the business and
financial performance of the Group are expected to be improved.
Looking forward, we believe that market trend of the sale of diesel oil
and marine diesel oil market in Hong Kong should be optimistic mainly
due to the stable and high level investment in public infrastructure
including the railway network, development of marine construction
projects including the Hong Kong International Airport’s third runway
project together with the recovery of logistics industry in Hong Kong.

The Board would like to extend its sincere thanks to our shareholders
(the “"Shareholders”), business partners and customers for their utmost
support to the Group. We would also like to take this opportunity to
thank all management members and staff for their hard work and
dedication throughout the year.

FONG Chun Man
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2023

B 2020 F R 1R 1E 3 COVID-19 15 (&4 1) LA
K- SRR MAEATEXBBETE - &
PNEBEMBRRAAZBNTNZE - BBE
20235 F —F ER B8 LA KRR ik 2 R 5l
REME RS ((MEREK])  KNEBEME
BRI BRBAARHEMEE - RERE K
PIRERR A RMASREETHENTEE
DEE  TEARNAHEZ(BREEBRBE) W
REREHEFRERAKF BFETREER(E
EEBERBESE=IGNBEBR)WHENAR
FEMRENERT

EEeHRR(RR])  ZBEHLREPHUA
ROWHE - BHMPBAEENE X -
BPTELRERHMAEEREKRERETHE
EFRFEHIIERZER -

FRX
S

& 1 2023F6 A 23 H

Fek (IR EMARAT / T =558 5



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally carries on the business of sale and transportation
of diesel oil and related products and other products in Hong Kong.
The Group also supplies marine diesel oil used for construction vessels
and lubricant oil used for construction machinery and vehicles. Most of
the Group's customers are construction companies which require
diesel oil to operate their construction machinery and vehicles. The
Group had a fleet of eight diesel tank wagons of various capacity, a
marine oil barge and a vessel as at 31 March 2023.

On 29 April 2022, the Company entered into a vessel transfer
agreement in respect of the acquisition of a vessel at the consideration
of HK$9,500,000 and the acquisition was completed on 29 April 2022.
For further details, please refer to the announcement dated 29 April
2022.

On 29 June 2022, the Company has completed a share consolidation
which involves the consolidation of every ten issued and unissued
existing shares of the Company of par value HK$0.01 each into one
consolidated share of the Company of par value of HK$0.10 each.

On 15 September 2022, the Company has completed an allotment and
issue of ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to the right issue on
the basis of one rights share for every two existing shares of the
Company, details of which are disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 23 August 2022.

Sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products
business

The Group’s revenue increased by approximately 20.3% from
approximately HK$357.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to
approximately HK$429.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2023,
revenue from diesel oil, marine diesel oil and lubricant oil represented
97.7%, 2.0% and 0.3% of the Group's total revenue, respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded a net loss of
approximately HK$4.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2023, as
compared with a net loss of approximately HK$31.9 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022, representing decrease in net loss of
approximately HK$27.1 million. The decrease in net loss of the Group
was mainly attributable to (i) increase in sale and transportation of
diesel oil business for the year ended 31 March 2023, (ii) decrease in
allowance for expected credit loss on financial assets, net by
approximately HK$8.5 million and (iii) absence of one-off loss on
derecognition of contingent consideration receivable of approximately
HK$15.4 million, which were incurred for the year ended 31 March
2022.

Sales of steel product business is no longer the business of the Group
after the disposal of Meijia Shell Group on 31 March 2022. Sales and
transportation of diesel oil and related products was the core business
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2022, international oil prices fluctuated significantly. The outbreak of
COVID-19 pandemic brings uncertainties to the international oil prices
in short-term. With the Relaxation Policy in the first quarter of 2023 and
the expected stable and high level investment in public infrastructure
in the future, market trend of the sale of diesel oil and marine diesel oil
market in Hong Kong should be optimistic.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Pandemic has brought adverse impact on the economic condition
in an international and domestic context in 2022. With the easing of
the Pandemic, the Relaxation Policy and the Hong Kong's economy
expanded 5.3% in the first quarter of 2023, the Directors are optimistic
the Group's business and financial performance. In addition, the
Directors will continue to observe closely and manage risks associated.

In view of the challenging business environment and keen competition
in the diesel oil sales market in Hong Kong, the Group will deploy
more resources on talent recruitment, strengthening the business
development and marketing strategy on diesel oil guardedly. The
Group will also proactively seek potential business opportunities that
broaden our sources of income and enhance value to the Shareholders.
Meanwhile, the Group will execute strict control on costs and expenses
so as to improve its operational efficiency and profitability of the
Group's businesses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased by approximately HK$72.4 million or
approximately 20.3% from approximately HK$357.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$429.9 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

Revenue from the sale of diesel oil, marine diesel oil and lubricant oil
amounted to approximately HK$420.0 million, HK$8.6 million and
HK$1.3 million, representing approximately 97.7%, 2.0% and 0.3%,
respectively, of the Group's total revenue for the year ended 31 March
2023. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the revenue from the sale of
diesel oil, marine diesel oil and lubricant oil accounted for
approximately HK$351.1 million, HK$4.0 million and HK$2.4 million,
representing approximately 98.2%, 1.1% and 0.7%, respectively, of the
Group's total revenue.

The increase in the Group's revenue was primarily due to increase in
demand from construction customers and logistic customers and
higher diesel oil prices during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Cost of sales

Cost of the sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products
business primarily consists of diesel oil costs, marine diesel oil costs,
lubricant oil costs, direct labour costs and depreciation. The purchase
cost for the diesel oil, marine diesel oil costs and lubricant oil costs
depends on the domestic purchase price offered by the Group's oil
suppliers, with reference to the price indices such as Europe Brent spot
crude price. Cost of the sale of steel product business mainly consists
of raw material costs, direct labour costs and transportation costs. For
the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’'s cost of sales was
approximately HK$413.7 million, representing an increase of
approximately 17.3% from approximately HK$352.6 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022.
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Management Discussion
EEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit represented the Group's revenue less cost of sales.
The Group's gross profit increased by approximately HK$11.3 million
from approximately HK$4.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2022
to approximately HK$16.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2023.
The Group's gross profit margin increased from approximately 1.4% for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately 3.8% for the year
ended 31 March 2023. The increased in gross profit was mainly due to
the increase in revenue and higher markup offered to our customers in
the diesel oil market for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Contingent consideration receivable

Pursuant to the announcements dated 23 March 2020 and 31 March
2020 (the "Two Announcements”), the Group entered into sale and
purchase agreement in relation to the acquisition of Meijia Shell
Group, the Vendors (defined under the Two Announcements) have
given a guarantee to the Group that the audited consolidated net
profit after tax of Meijia Shell Group for the three financial years ending
31 March 2021, 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 (each of the
"Guaranteed Period”) would be no less than RMB5,000,000,
RMB 10,000,000 and RMB10,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Sum”) for each
of the Guaranteed Period (the “Profit Guarantee”). On 31 March 2022,
which is the completion date of disposal of the Meijia Shell Group, the
Vendors was released and discharged from their obligations and
liabilities of the Profit Guarantee and the fair value of contingent
consideration was derecognized on 31 March 2022. For further details,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 31 March
2022 and 8 April 2022.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recognised a loss of
approximately HK$4.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2023, as
compared with a net loss of approximately HK$31.9 million. The Group
recorded a negative net profit margin of approximately 1.1% for the
year ended 31 March 2023 as compared to negative net profit margin
of approximately 8.9% for the year ended 31 March 2022. The decrease
in net loss and negative net profit margin for the year ended 31 March
2023 was mainly due to (i) increase in sale and transportation of diesel
oil business for the year ended 31 March 2023, (ii) decrease in
allowance for expected credit loss on financial assets, net by
approximately HK$8.5 million and (iii) absence of one-off loss on
derecognition of contingent consideration receivable of approximately
HK$15.4 million, which were incurred for the year ended 31 March
2022.

and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Financial Resources and Liquidity

The Group finances its operations through cash generated from
operating activities and interest-bearing bank borrowings. The Group
recorded net current assets of approximately HK$46.8 million as at 31
March 2023 (as at 31 March 2022: approximately HK$46.1 million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's current assets amounted to
approximately HK$129.0 million (as at 31 March 2022: approximately
HK$131.4 million) and the Group’s current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$82.2 million (as at 31 March 2022: approximately
HK$85.3 million). Current ratio was approximately 1.6 as at 31 March
2023 (as at 31 March 2022: approximately 1.5). Current ratio is
calculated based on total current assets as at the year ended date
divided by total current liabilities as at the year ended date.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2023, the maximum limit of the borrowing facilities
available to the Group amounted to approximately HK$75.1 million (as
at 31 March 2022: HK$59.3 million) and approximately HK$20.5 million
(as at 31 March 2022: HK$11.7 million) of the revolving borrowing
facilities available to the Group was unutilised.

The bank and other borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong
dollars at interest rates of the range from 2.00% to 7.13% per annum
for the year ended 31 March 2023. For the year ended 31 March 2022,
the bank and other borrowings carried at interest rate of the range
from 1.83% to 20.40% per annum. As at 31 March 2023, the bank and
other borrowings of the Group were secured by the corporate
guarantee, fixed deposits, oil barges, investment property, personal
guarantee from Mr. Fong and motor vehicles of the Group.

Gearing ratio was approximately 45.0% as at 31 March 2023 which was
calculated based on the total debt at the end of the year divided by
total equity at the end of the year (as at 31 March 2022: 46.2%).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the capital structure of the Group
consisted of equity attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$101.3 million (2022: approximately HK$95.4 million).
The share capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary shares.

On 8 August 2021, 130,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company were allotted and issued as fully paid to a nominated
shareholder at the issue price of HK$0.086 each under general
mandate. For further details, please refer to the announcements dated
11 June 2021, 16 June 2021, 8 July 2021, 30 July 2021 and 4 August
2021.

On 29 June 2022, the Company has completed a share consolidation
which involves the consolidation of every ten issued and unissued
existing shares of the Company of par value HK$0.01 each into one
consolidated share of the Company of par value of HK$0.10 each.

On 15 September 2022, the Company has completed an allotment and
issue of ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to the right issue on
the basis of one rights share for every two existing shares of the
Company, details of which are disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 23 August 2022.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE RISKS

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to the distribution of lubricant oil and steel products
transactions settled in Renminbi and the disposal of foreign operations.
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is
not the group entities’ functional currency. The Group however did not
engage in any derivatives agreements and did not commit to any
financial instrument to hedge its foreign exchange exposure during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

BEARRER

HE2023F3A3MBILFE KAEENER
HEBEARGHE ABGERZNA10138
EB7T(2022F  4)95.4ABEETT) - AEER
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2021498 A8H - 130,000,000% & #% E1E0.01
FETCR AR BT AR (AR AE — AR 1% % 0.086
BT EBETERERARERE REITAHR
Bin - BREIE—FFF1E - 52K B H R 2021
F6HA1AB ~ 2021F6H16H ~ 20217 A8H -
202147 A30H N 202148 A4 HEY A »

R202F6 4298 » KRRRITZRKGE 6
B S LEETRERAE BT AT
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TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 March 2023. The Group strives
to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To
manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group'’s liquidity
position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's assets,
liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding requirements
from time to time.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
and elsewhere of this report, the Group did not have significant
investments held, material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures during the year ended 31 March 2023.

FINANCIAL ASSETS THROUGH PROFIT AND
LOSS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had approximately HK$5.3 million of
key management personnel life insurance with an insurance company
(2022: approximately HK$5.9 million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023, save as disclosed below in the section headed
"Use of Unutilised Proceeds From the Listing” and elsewhere in this
report, the Group did not have any other material capital commitments
or any material contingent liabilities.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend a payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's pledged bank deposits in the amount
of approximately HK$6.1 million (as at 31 March 2022: approximately
HK$6.1 million), investment property in the amount of approximately
HK$19.4 million (as at 31 March 2022: HK$20.0 million), life insurance
policy in the amount of HK$4.4 million (as at 31 March 2022:
approximately HK$5.0 million), vessels in the amount of approximately
HK$12.6 million (as at 31 March 2022: Nil) and motor vehicles in the
amount of approximately HK$0.5 million (as at 31 March 2022:
approximately HK$0.6 million) were pledged as security for the Group's
banking facilities.

COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL
IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS

The following is a comparison of the Group's implementation plans for
its business strategies up to 31 March 2023 as set out in the section
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 29 March 2017 (the “Prospectus”) with the Group
actual implementation progress:

Implementation plan

from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2023
20174 H1HZE2023%3H31H
BT 8

Business strategy

eSS

BEERH

MR2023F3H3NE - AEERNEEFRITHE
RN ABBET(R2022FE3 8318 4961
BEETT) REWEN194FEBIT(72022
F3IA3NH: YJ200FEBL) ASRELSL
BEBIL(N2022F3A31H : #1508 8%
JL) ~ MEMA12.6 B BB (502022638318 -
T)RITEL0.5EHEBIL(2022F3 8318 -
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HILL B

TR AKNAT HEA2017E3 8298 9B K
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Actual implementation
progress up to 31 March 2023
BEZE2023F3AH31HK
BRIETEE

Expansion and enhancement e Purchase three new diesel tank

of our fleet of diesel tank wagons
wagons .
wagons
. Continue to evaluate the
effectiveness and operating
efficiency of new diesel tank
wagons and assess our need for

additional diesel tank wagons in

view of our business development

BE SRR
o  HRZ=BBRANSHITER

1B M = SR RTE R E X

o  HEEIFSHITEENERIER
BITHE - WRHERPIR RS 3%

REFEZ R EENTE

Replace three existing diesel tank

Fek (IR EMARAT / T =558

o Three new diesel tank wagons had
been purchased and two existing
diesel tank wagons had been
replaced. The delivery of the rest of
new diesel tank wagon will be
completed at the end of March
2024.

J The effectiveness and operating
efficiency of new diesel tank
wagons has been closely evaluated.

o CRE=HHREERERR
BRI A R SHATIE S o B} T ROHT
S BT R B 0 2024 4F 3 AR TTRK
A e

o  CERYUFHMOISOMTEENARIE
NBITHR o
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COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL

IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS (Continued)

Implementation plan

Business strategy

from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2023

201748 1H%E2023543HA31H

ESC P

R HETT ST &

ERRBEETEEERETEE
L& (@)

Actual implementation
progress up to 31 March 2023
BHZE2023F3H31HW
BERETEE

Development and expansion @
of our marine bunkering
business

TR MBS EHORES .

Upgrading our information J
technology and systems

RAEM RS .

Commence trial and full operation
of the marine diesel oil barge

Carry out marketing and promotional
activities and negotiate with potential
customers to secure purchase orders
for marine diesel oil

Evaluate the effectiveness and
operating efficiency of the marine
diesel oil barge

PR M SR B M 2 EUETT

HEITTISHEENREEEE  WHE
R PETERAREMA SR
REERTE

AT A fin PR S oh B A B0 B R0 N AT
Purchase and upgrade new office
administrative information
technology systems

Continue to review and maintain
the performance of the information
technology systems
BEREHFHASITIHEE AR
REH

BERORERFEARERFNE
i}
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The Group had obtained all the
licences and permits and commenced
trial operation of the marine diesel ol
barge in April 2018 and commenced
full operation in July 2018.

The Group had carried out marketing
and promotional activities and
negotiated with potential customers
to secure purchase orders for marine
diesel oil.

The effectiveness and operating
efficiency of the marine diesel oil
barge had been evaluated from
time to time.
REBDEBUSHB IR LFFARE
A7 2018 5F 4 7 B8 fe A A 5 e B
MFEITI R 201847 ARK2E
BT
REBDETHISERLREEE
B WREERFPETERNES
i RSBV EREBATE -
BN Rl s AR S0 B e 0 B A1
NBITREK o

Minor upgrade of information
technology systems had been
done. The Group was still in
negotiation with the potential
suppliers on the requirements and
specification of the new office
administrative information
technology systems.

The Group closely monitors and
maintains the performance of the
information technology systems.
EEKE AR ARNRETR
REBBDRIFMAZITHEARE
R BESR RGBT R
TR o

REBE Y G R R B AR &
MRS -
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COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS ER R ITTEIEERRETEE
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL KL & ()

IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS (Continued)

Implementation plan

Actual implementation

Business strategy from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2023 progress up to 31 March 2023
20174818 %E2023543HA31H EXE2023F3H31HK

E3r S B HEATRT & BRETER

Strengthening our manpower ~ ® Recruit three drivers and three J One logistics assistant was hired, it

logistics assistants to strengthen
our workforce required for our fleet
of diesel tank wagons

° Recruit one safety supervisor to
enhance our occupational safety
management

. Recruit (i) seafarers including two
coxswains, two technical operators,
four sailors, (i) one administration
staff, (iii) one operation manager
and (iv) one independent
consultant to cope with our marine
bunkering business

. Evaluate the performance of the
newly recruited staff and assess our
need to recruit additional staff in
view of our business development

] Provide training to our existing and
newly recruited staff and/or
sponsor our staff to attend training
courses on occupational health and

safety
IEEF IR AF o B RN =B RENE - U
MER PSR REEERAMENA
EJE
. EE—RLTRET  AMBBER
2EE

] AiaE LR EBEMEERE ()8

8 BREMARTF - WA RMERE

8« MAKTF : (i) —BRITHRAE

(i) —BBIELIE  K(v) —BBL
A [

] ST AR B THKRIE - WA
MRAEXEBEREBEELZETH

] BIRE N AR B TIREEE
N,/ SEBE T2 m s
2 HIE IR

\

\

is expected that the rest of staff will
be hired around March 2023.

o Safety supervisor was hired through
job reallocation.

o The Group contracted with a
service company to operate the
marine bunkering business.

o The Group evaluates and assesses
the performance of our manpower
continuously so as to facilitate the
Group's business development.

J Training courses and on-the-job
training have been provided to
staff.

° BEF—RYREIE - ?FEHHE{ 8
TR 20234 3 ARTAREE o
. BRI B O ERLRET

o AEBEERBAFLELIAL
B EHORER -

o  AEERFENGELFEATFHOR
B MMEEAREEEBER -

o DREBITRHEIIRE R -
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USE OF UNUTILISED PROCEEDS FROM THE
LISTING

As disclosed in the last year annual report of the Company issued on
22 July 2022, the actual net proceeds (the “"Net Proceeds”) from the
Share Offer (after deduction of the underwriting commission and
Listing related expenses) were approximately HK$45.1 million, which
was less than the estimated Net Proceeds of approximately HK$50.9
million as set out in the Prospectus and the allotment results
announcement of the Company dated 11 April 2017.

Set out below is the actual use of the Net Proceeds up to 31 March
2023:

ABRALETHRERERAR

BN A R 2022F7 A 22 B T8 A F o F
HAARE  BROBEEEMEFRFR(HRE
RIEFE ) (RAOBKEHES N EMHBRX
BRI AEETL ERERERRAR
AIRER2017FARANBHREERAMA
A PISRIBFRNS09B8ETT

VAT #0511 8 2 20234 3 A 31 H & P15 I
EERMS -

Expected

Actual use Unused timeframe for

Approximate of Net total Net the remaining

Planned use percentage of Proceedsup Proceeds up utilising

of total Net total Net to 31 March to 31 March net proceeds

Proceeds Proceeds 2023 2023 (Note 6)
EZ2023F

EE2023% 3A31HH FeHA

B R8BS 3A31BH fef K G AR FEREEE

HIEFR REFE FMEREER BRE FHRER

dEAR BNESH ERAR MEFR (GiET))
HK$ million HK$ million  HK$ million

BEETL % BEEL BEETL
Purchase of diesel tank wagons R mETES 78 17.3% 50 28 By31March 2024
(Note 1) (Bi3E1) M2024%3/31 A
Z i
Purchase of marine diesel oil barge BB fi 4 m B 14.0 31.0% 14.0 - -
Further strengthen our manpower — #E—#1IBATF 6.1 13.5% 46 15 By 31 March 2024
(Note 2) (H¥5E2) R20245F3A31H
Z Al
Upgrade of our information RABMBHERZ L 36 8.0% 1.1 2.5 By 31 March 2024
technology systems (Note 3) (Fi3E3) 202453 A31H
Z Al
Working capital necessary for the BT EE R 9.1 20.2% 9.1 -
operation of the new diesel tank B LM EB AN
wagons and marine bunkering LEES
business
Working capital EEEAR 45 10.0% 45 -
Total A% 451 100.0% 38.3 6.8
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USE OF UNUTILISED PROCEEDS FROM THE
LISTING (Continued)

Notes:

1 Three new diesel tank wagons had been purchased and two existing diesel tank
wagons had been replaced up to 31 March 2023.

2 The Group has been actively involved in the recruitment and selection of suitable
candidates through various means including job advertisements in major
newspapers.

3 The Group was still in negotiation with the potential suppliers on the requirements

and specification of the new office administrative information technology systems.

4 The expected timeline for utilising the remaining proceeds is based on the best
estimation of the future market condition made by the Group. It will be subject to
change based on current and future development of market conditions.

Save as disclosed above, the Group will apply the net proceeds
received from the Share Offer in the manners consistent with the
proposed applications set out in the section headed “Future Plans and
Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The implantation plans for
business strategies and use of net proceeds as stated in the Prospectus
were based on the best estimation and assumption of future market
conditions made by the Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus.
The Group will continue to implement its business strategies and apply
the net proceeds based on the actual development of the Group's
business and industry, as well as market conditions. In addition, in view
of the situation of the Pandemic, the Directors consider that it was not
a good timing to expand our business by acquiring diesel tank wagons
and diesel oil barge, hiring more manpower and upgrade of our
information technology systems during the year ended 31 March 2023.
Accordingly, the unutilised Net Proceeds could not be fully utilised
during the year ended 31 March 2023. The Group intends to utilise the
unutilised Net Proceeds as soon as practicable by 31 March 2024.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS ISSUE

On 15 September 2022, the Company has completed an allotment and
issue of ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to the right issue on
the basis of one rights share for every two existing shares of the
Company (the "Rights Issue”). The net proceeds received by the
Company from the Rights Issue, after deduction of all relevant
expenses for the Rights Issue, was approximately HK$11.0 million. The
Company intended to apply the net proceeds from the Rights Issued
for repayment of a loan of the Group and as general working capital of
the Group. Details of which are disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 23 August 2022.

The Company has fully utilised all the proceeds from the Rights Issue
before 31 March 2023.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total of 26 employees (as at 31
March 2022: 28 employees) including the Directors. For the year ended
31 March 2023, total staff costs amounted to approximately HK$10.1
million (year ended 31 March 2022: approximately HK$9.4 million).

The Remuneration Policy of Directors

Quality and committed staff are valuable assets contributing to the
Group's success. To ensure the ability to attract and retain talents, the
Group's remuneration policy of Directors is built upon the principles of
providing equitable and market-competitive remuneration package
that support the performance culture and enable the achievement of
strategic business goals. The Group's remuneration policy of Directors
is, therefore, aiming at providing competitive but not excessive
remuneration package to the Directors.

The Directors’ remuneration comprises fixed salary or service fee and
variable components (such as bonus and share options), which is
benchmarked against companies of comparable business or scale with
reference to a mix of factors such as the prevailing market condition,
the Company'’s performance and the qualifications, skills, experience
and educational background of the Directors.

The Directors’ remuneration is reviewed annually and are subject to
shareholders’ approval.

The Remuneration Policy of Employees

In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable smooth
operations within the Group, the remuneration policy and package of
the Group's employees are periodically reviewed. Employees’ salary
and relevant benefits are determined on the basis of performance,
qualification, experience, positions and the Group's business
performance.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in elsewhere of this report, the Directors are not
aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place
subsequent to the date of this report.
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Corporate Governance Report
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is committed to establish and ensure high standards of
corporate governance and adopt sound corporate governance
practices so as to achieve effective accountability. The Company’s
corporate governance practices are based on the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 15 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).
The Directors strongly believe that reasonable and sound corporate
governance practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for
safeguarding and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with all the
applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group's overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for the
management and administration of the Group. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees of
the Company. Further details of the board committees of the Company
are set out below in this report.

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting the
success of the Group by the direction and supervision of the Group's
business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for day to day
management of the Group which is delegated to the management. To
this end, monthly financial and operational information are provided to
the Board for assessing the performance of the Company and its
subsidiaries. For significant matters that are specifically delegated by
the Board, the management must report back to and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.
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The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code, which include:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

(e) to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Board Composition

Details of the composition of the Directors of the Company during the
year and up to the date of this report by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee
Mr. Chan Chi Fai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap
Mr. Wang Anyuan

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or substantive
experience and industry knowledge. The Board as a whole has
achieved an appropriate balance of skills and experience. The
composition of the Board is in accordance with the requirements of
Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules. There are three
independent non-executive Directors and one of them has account
professional qualification. More than one-third of the members of the
Board are independent non-executive Directors, which brings a fairly
strong independence element in its composition.
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The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the Board
brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent judgment
on issues relating to the Group's strategies, performance, conflicts of
interests and management process to ensure that the interests of all
Shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Board of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 87 to 92 of
this report. Other than that Ms. Lo Pui Yee who is the wife of Mr. Fong
Chun Man, there are no family or other material relationships among
members of the Board.

The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility
for leadership and monitoring of the Company. The Directors are
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group's affairs.

The Board sets strategies and directions for the Group's activities with
a view to developing its business and enhancing shareholders’ value.
The Board has delegated the daily operation and day-to-day
management of the Group as well as the implementation of the
Board's policies and strategies to the executive Directors and
management of the Group.

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and nomination committee (the
"Nomination Committee”), on 23 March 2017 with delegated powers
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affair. Each of the
committees of the Board has been established with written terms of
reference, in which the terms of reference of the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee were amended and restated with effect
from 1 January 2019 and the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee were amended on 3 January 2023.
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The Board will conduct at least four regular meetings a year. The
Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means of
electronic communication in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles”). The Chairman also meets with the
independent non-executive Directors at least once a year without the
presence of other executive Directors. Notices and agendas of regular
Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before
convening the Board meeting. For all other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. All other schedules and
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the relevant information of each Board and committee meeting are RAIZHZERXEEHELESKE - B FH
generally made available to Directors or committee members at least i%A&X§$i’jTﬁ§Eﬁi I8 A B B4
three days in advance. The Board and each Director also have separate
and independent access to the management whenever necessary.
The attendance of each of the Directors at the Annual General ®BEEZEZENFRNET ZH&%EEKA Ay
Meeting, Board Meeting and meetings of the Audit Committee, &% BRZREZESLH FWZESTgEUR
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee held during the }%%%E@@%Zﬁ}%w%ﬁw—r
year is set out below:
Attendance/Number of meetings
HERE ERETRY
General 'Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting  Committee = Committee ~ Committee
Esps RRAE 'EZE8E EHZEE HFMZREE REZEE
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman) FEEE (£E) 2/2 717 - 1/1 11
Ms. Lo Pui Yee BiELt 212 77 - - -
Mr. Chan Chi Fai REEELE 22 77 - - -
Independent Non-executive Directors: B FHTES :
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert EECEE 2/2 717 /b 171 11
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap BBk 2/2 717 66 I n
Mr. Wang Anyuan FEnEE 2/2 717 6/6 n 17
In addition to abovementioned regular board meetings, the Chairman Bk il FEiE @23/ 0 RNEZE2023F3 A

also held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors in
the absence of the executive Directors and management during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters arising
from corporate governance, risk management, statutory compliance,
accounting and finance.
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Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to Directors in advance. At least 14 days’
notice should be given for a regular Board meeting. For other Board
and committee meetings, reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters
considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company
Secretary at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from
voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each
Board meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles provide that at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three

years.

The independent non-executive Directors should be appointed for a
specific term and subject to re-election. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the
Company. The appointment letter of each of the independent non-
executive Directors is for a term of three years, which may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other. The aforesaid appointment letters are subject
to termination provisions therein and the retirement and re-election
provisions in the Articles. Details of the appointment letters are
summarised in the Report of the Board of Directors on pages 72 to 86
of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
all Directors have participated in continuous professional development
by attending training course or reading relevant materials on the topics
related to corporate governance and regulations in compliance with
code provision C.1.4 if of the CG Code. Records of the training
received by the respective Directors are kept and updated by the
Company Secretary of the Company.

The record of continuous professional development relating to
directors’ duties and regulatory and business development that have
been received by the Directors during the year ended 31 March 2023
are summarised as follows:

ESCHERIIRERRE

RHPEENRHEEERR  ARTEZHES
DEFEEXEFRUBREEMNRE ZAHR
Rt - EEREE ERRSESENBBRT
AEFSFEHEINER - REEHRREE
ABEAH  2RERCETLEE TN
STRIMESCCA4 - BB FERIIRIENBE
BEEEANMRIIZEHNSEFEEEXER -
BEEZMRISBAARR 2 ARMERE K
EH o

EENHE2023F3IANAUEFEERNE
EREMRENEBERBBSEEEERC
BEENT

Type of training

EIEE
(Note)
Directors 2= (P &)
Executive Director BITES
Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman) FESTE(FE) A B
Ms. Lo Pui Yee BEz+ A B
Mr. Chan Chi Fai PREIB S A A B
Independent Non-executive Director BAFHITES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert ESCEE A B
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap BB SE 4 A B
Mr. Wang Anyuan FRITEE A, B
Notes: fieE -
Types of training BHIiEE
A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefing, seminars, ~ A: HEFI  BIFEETRAGNE  FE - -
conferences, forums and workshops iR TYED
B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant B: BIEMRAE - R - B7 - M RGEM ETRE

publications relating to the latest development of the GEM Listing Rules, other
applicable regulatory requirements and directors’ duties and responsibilities
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap and Mr. Wang Anyuan
were appointed as the independent non-executive Directors with
effect from 23 March 2017.

The independent non-executive Directors are experienced
professionals with expertise in respective areas of accounting, finance,
industry knowledge and expertise. With their professional knowledge
and experience, the independent non-executive Directors serve an
important function of advising the senior management on strategy
development and ensure that the Board maintains high standards in
financial and other mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate
checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders
and the Company as a whole; and participate in the Company'’s various
committees including Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence. The
Company considers the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Fong Chun Man was appointed as the Chairman of the Board and
an executive Director of the Company on 23 March 2017. Mr. Chan Chi
Fai was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive
Director of the Company on 23 March 2017.

The Chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board and is
also responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in
accordance with good corporate governance practice and is
responsible for the overall corporate management of the business
development strategies of the Group. The Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for the implementation of the business strategies, policies
and objectives set out by the Board and is accountable to the Board
for the overall operations of the Group. These functions and
responsibilities are current being shared by the management team.
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BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 23 March 2017
in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and with
written terms of reference amended and restated with effect from 1
January 2019 in compliance with Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The full terms of reference setting out details of the authority,
duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available on both
the GEM website and the Company's website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap and
Mr. Wang Anyuan meanwhile Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control and risk management system, overseeing the balance,
transparency and integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
the application of financial reporting principles, reviewing the
relationship with the external auditor and its independence assessment
and the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the
Company's accounting staff, their training programs and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited (the "HLB"), and recommended the Board to reappoint
HLB as the Company's auditors for the year ending 31 March 2024,
which is subject to the approval of Shareholders at the forthcoming
AGM. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group's consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held not less than twice a year and the external
auditor may request a meeting if they consider that one is necessary.

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and Directors
attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of Meetings
and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 21 to 22 in this report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 23 March 2017 in compliance with
Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, which comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Anyuan and
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert together with Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Wang
Anyuan is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the Group,
review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals, and
ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The full terms of reference setting out details of duties of the
Remuneration Committee is available on both the GEM website and
the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee determines Directors’ remuneration by
reference to the benchmarking of the market. The Company also looks
into individual Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities,
performance and the results of the Group in determining the exact
level of remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year and additional meetings
should be held if the committee shall so request.

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of

Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 21 to 22 in this report.

Senior Management’s remuneration

HK$
BT
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BREEE R F

Number of individuals

AB

Nil to HK$1,000,000 0% 1,000,000 % 7T

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior
management members was based on their experience, level of
responsibility and general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus
and other merit payments are linked to the performance of the Group
and the individual performance of the Directors and senior

management members.

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 23 March 2017 which comprised Mr. Fong Chun Man
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Yuk
Lap and Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert. Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap is the Chairman
of the Nomination Committee. The written terms of reference are
amended and restated with effect from 1 January 2019.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
policy concerning diversity of board members and the structure, size
and composition of the Board on regular basis and disclose such
policy, including any measurable objectives that the Committee has set
for implementing the policy and progress on achieving those
objectives, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules (including disclosure in
the Company'’s corporate governance report as appropriate); identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The full terms of
reference setting out details of the authority, duties and responsibilities
of the Nomination Committee is available on both the GEM website
and the Company's website.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance with the following key
procedures and process:

i. The Nomination Committee will, giving due consideration to the
current composition and size of the Board, develop a list of
desirable skills, perspectives and experience at the outset to
focus the search effort;

i.  The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it considers
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such
as interviews, background checks, presentations and third party
reference checks;
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iii.  Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of
written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation
to the Board for appointment; and

iv.. The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year and additional meetings
should be held if the committee shall so request.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the Policy as well as discussing matters
regarding the retirement and re-election of Directors.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 21 to 22 in this report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for
ensuring that the Group's consolidated financial statements for each
financial year are prepared to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs, the financial results and cash flows of the Group in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2023, the Board has adopted appropriate and
consistent accounting policies and made prudent, fair and reasonable
judgments and estimates. The Directors are responsible for
maintaining proper accounting records which reflect with reasonable
accuracy the state of affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity
movement of the Group at any time. The Directors confirm that the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group is in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company'’s ability to continue
as a going concern.
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The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditors about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company'’s auditors, are set out in
the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 93 to 99 of this report.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the remuneration for the audit
and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to the
Group was as follows:

EXRERDMAAESESRREAKEN
BE  NRBERMERRFEREMERITS
BB EA M MR P RS (EHZH
ERB 2B RE o

RABZEAHERETHNARELIIE
99 B RIB Y AZH AR -

BTN =

REZ2023F3A3MBHIEFE  KARAIZH
Bl A S B IR M E R R IER T IR A B < 20
T

Services rendered HK$'000

RAERTE TR

Annual audit service for the year BZE202343 431 HILFED 650
ended 31 March 2023 FREETIRE

Non-audit service for the year BZ2023F3 A31 HIEFER 128

ended 31 March 2023 (Note) IETT RS (M 5E)

Note: Non-audit service fee of HK$128,000 represents service fee for engaging HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as reporting accountants to report on the unaudited
proforma financial information in relation to rights issue, which approximately
HK$94,000 and HK$34,000 were recognised in profit or loss and equity, respectively.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as developing and reviewing the Company'’s policies,
practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of the directors and senior management,
the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors will review the Group's corporate governance policies
and compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply with
the “comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance report
which will be included in the annual reports upon the Listing.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the requirement as set out in the CG Code, which is summarised as
below:

The policy of the Company specifies that in designing the composition
the Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board
members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity including gender diversity of the Board. Selection
of candidates for the Board will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, culture,
ethnicity and educational background, professional experience,
knowledge and skills. It also sets out the Board’s commitment to
gender diversity and other diversity aspects, with the ultimate goal of
achieving gender parity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the Board
in Corporate Governance Report every year and supervise the
implementation of the Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revision that may be required, and recommend any such revision
to the Board for consideration and approval.

As at 31 March 2023, the gender ratio in the workforce (including senior
management) of the Group was 81% male and 19% female. The Group
will continue to take gender diversity into consideration during
recruitment and increase the female proportion at all levels over time
with the ultimate goal of achieving gender diversity, such that there is a
pipeline of female senior management and potential successors to the
Board in the future.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as its own code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”) regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having
made specific enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have
complied with the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31
March 2023 and up to the date of this report.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has adopted a
Shareholders’ communication policy, which has helped the Company
to ensure that the Shareholders will have equal and timely access to
the information about the Company in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow
them to engage actively with the Company.

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or
other general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and
encourage their participation.

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for
separate issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions put
forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
shareholder meeting.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant information
on the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to relevant
regulatory requirements.

Significant Changes in the Constitutional Documents

The Company adopted by a special resolution the second amended
and restated memorandum and articles of association on 16
September 2022. For further details, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 27 July 2022 and the circular of the Company
dated 29 July 2022. Saved as disclosed, during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this report, there has been no significant changes
in the constitutional documents of the Company. The Articles are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

General Meetings with Shareholders

The Company’s annual general meeting will be held on Monday, 7
August 2023.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

(a)

(b)

(c)

Convening of an extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by shareholders

Pursuant to Articles, any one or more shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. Shareholders
also have the right to propose a person for election as a Director,
the procedures are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to
the operations and management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall be sent to the
company secretary of the Company by a written requisition.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should convene
an extraordinary general meeting by following the procedures
set out in “Convening of an extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by shareholders” above.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the
extent such information is publicly available to the Company
Secretary who is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board and communication relating
to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and
consumer complaints, to the Chief Executive Officer, in writing to
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event
the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office specifying the objects of the enquiries.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is
a key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of
open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders
and investment public. The Company updates its shareholders on its
latest business developments and financial performance through its
annual, interim and quarterly reports. The corporate website of the
Company (http://www.f8.com.hk) has provided an effective
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engages an external service provider, Ms. Leung Yin Fai,
as its Company Secretary, Mr. Cheung Lee Kwok, the chief operation
officer of the Group, is the primary contact person who Ms. Leung Yin
Fai can contact.

Ms. Leung Yin Fai, the Company Secretary, is responsible for advising
the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that the
Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and
regulations are followed. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures
and all applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the Company Secretary
is responsible for facilitating communications among Directors as well
as with management.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018
which sets out the principles and measures on how the Company may
propose a dividend.

The Board will take into account the following factors when considering
the payment of dividends:

i The general financial condition of the Group;

ii The actual and future operations and liquidity positions of the
Group;

iii The future cash requirements and availability;
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iv. Any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group's lenders;

v The general market conditions; and
vi  Any other factor that the Board deems appropriate.

Any declaration and payment of future dividends under the dividend
policy will be subject to the Board’s determination that the same would
be in the best interests of the Group and the Shareholders of the
Company as a whole. In addition, the declaration and payment of
dividends may be subject to legal restrictions or any applicable laws,
rules and regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The Group's systems of risk management and
internal control include a defined management structure with limits of
authority, is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of
failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group's
objectives.

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures,
lines of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.
The division/department head of each core business segment is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such segment within
the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and the Board
together, and reports directly to the Board.

In the course of conducting the business of the Group, it is exposed to
various types of risks. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the
following principal risks of the Group were identified and classified into
strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.
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Risk Areas
2 B 4B 15

Principal Risks
FERR

Strategic Risks
market competition risk, reputation risk

B RE

Operational Risks

LERR BPHHETR - T - EARRRSTEH

Financial Risks

Lt nBEZRER  FEERRE - FXRER - SMNERR

Compliance Risks

BHEFBEROGURNE - REFFRMEEP MK - MIZHF AR

Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new technologies and customers’ taste;

CBEER

Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Liquidity risk, credit risk interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, inflation risk

ERER

Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances related to

employment; change of GEM Listing Rules and relevant company regulations and ordinances

BRER HEB X 2 MEREE BOER

B 2 A5 51 3B 2

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the
Group and it has delegated to executive management to carry out the
risk identification and monitoring procedures. The objectives of the risk
management are to enhance the governance and corporate
management processes as well as to safeguard the Group against
unacceptable levels of risks and losses.

The risk management process of the Group will involve, among others,
(i) an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which involves
assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and the
development of risk management plans for mitigating such risks; and
(i) an annual review of the implementation of the risk management
plans and fine tuning of the implementation plan when necessary.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the
Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted review of both
design and implementation effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, with a view to
ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit
Committee communicates any material issues to the Board.

Up to the date of this report, the Group has engaged an experienced
personnel to maintain an internal audit function, the Board has overall
responsibility for the risk management and internal control systems and
for reviewing its effectiveness.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group's system of internal controls and risk
management annually and further enhance the Group's internal control
and risk management systems as appropriate.
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Overall, the Company has complied with the risk management and
internal control code provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting
Period.

The Company has also established a whistleblowing policy as well as
anti-corruption policy and systems, details of which are set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report below.

Internal control on connected transaction

As a general control, the Group maintained a list of connected persons
and entities for the monitoring and identification of connected
transaction. The risk management and internal control of the Group
were reviewed by the Board and the Audit Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that (i) the risk
management and internal control system of the Company was
adequate and efficient; and (ii) the resources allocated, staff
qualifications and experience in respect of the accounting, internal
auditing and financial reporting functions of the Company as well as
training programs and budget were adequate and sufficient.

Independent non-executive Directors’ view on internal
control for connected transactions

The management and independent non-executive Directors will
continue to monitor connected transactions of the Company. The
management and independent non-executive Directors consider that
information provided by the Company’s management to assist
independent non-executive Directors in their annual review of
connected transaction are fair and sufficient. The independent non-
executive Directors also made regular enquiries upon whether there is
any continuing connected transaction exceeding the proposed annual
caps to ensure that continuing connected transaction was identified
timely. The independent non-executive Directors have not
encountered any challenges or difficulties in their annual review of
connected transaction of the Company save as disclosed in this report.

LOOKING FORWARD

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standards
on a timely basis and the Board endeavors to take the necessary
actions to ensure compliance with the required practices and standards
including the provisions of the CG Code.
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INTRODUCTION, ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE POLICIES

F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited ("F8 Enterprises”,

“"Company”,
"Group”), was principally engaged in the provision of the business of

we” and "our”), with its subsidiaries (collectively, the

sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong
during the year ended on 31 March 2023.

This Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") Report summarizes
the environmental, social and governance initiatives, plans and
performances of the Group and demonstrates its commitment to
sustainable development.

Our Business

F8 Enterprise was listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited with the stock code of 8347. The principal
operating activity of the Group is sale and transportation of diesel oil
and related products in Hong Kong, and also supply of marine diesel
oil for construction vessels and lubricant oil for construction machinery
and vehicles. With the competitive advantage of economies of scale,
with our experienced management, our own diesel tank wagons and
marine diesel oil barge, the Group enjoys a competitive edge in the
diesel oil industry in Hong Kong.

Our Vision

To maintain the leading position in the industry in order to provide
high quality products and services in Hong Kong.

Our Mission

To provide the best quality and safe products and services to meet
customers’ demands and create value to the shareholders and

investors.
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Board of Directors

Executive Directors

BTES

Exg

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman)
FEXFE(EE)

Ms. Lo Pui Yee
BimigEi L

Mr. Chan Chi Fai
PR IB S

The ESG Governance Structure

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert
Bk

Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap
BRIBSL S

Mr. Wang Anyuan
TRkt

BRI HEREANERRE

The Group has set up an ESG working taskforce (the “Taskforce”), ZANEBBEMKIZHBIEEEITE THMKNIRE « 1
composed of staff from relevant departments, in which, full-time staff &@&REARTIEEFE/NA(EENA])  EHiE
has been assigned to collect the data relevant to ESG and compile the  #BIRE2HE TWEBIIRE - £ REAHE
ESG Report. The Taskforce would periodically report to the board of EFEWHREIRE - L LEARS - BE/ET
directors of the Company (the “Board”), assisting in the assessment HiAARRZEES ([EEE ) HE - LB
and identification of risk management of the Group on ESG aspects i Ri#BIAEBEERE - 2 REATEARE
and whether its internal control system is appropriate and effective. BREIEURERNIFEIEFRFESDEE LG -
The Taskforce reviews the ESG performance of the Group, including ZHE/NEBEEEAEBEMNIRE HEehER
environmental, labour practices, and other ESG aspects. The Board %W EHBFERE LT HERULEMIR
sets the tone at the top for its ESG strategies and is responsible for 3 - @ M EREE - E T HERE 42
ensuring effective risk management and internal controls. The detail of NEARMENREMN  WEERREREER

the ESG strategy is stated below.
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Detail of the ESG Strategy

We established an ESG management system with clarified

management functions and responsibilities at all levels. We carry out

specific work through the Taskforce and help the Board understand

our ESG risks and performance in a timely manner, and so a better
incorporate ESG factor into company planning and daily operations.

40

The Board is responsible for:

assessing and determining the Group's ESG risks

ensuring the establishment of appropriate and effective

ESG risk management and internal control system

developing ESG strategies, action plans and objectives

monitoring the progress and performance of ESG work

reviewing and approving annual ESG reports

The management is responsible for:

reporting ESG-related risks and opportunities to the Board
implementing ESG risk management and internal control
systems

informing the Board of the effectiveness of ESG risk
management and internal control systems

arranging work in accordance with the ESG strategies,
action plans and objectives developed by the Board

reporting to the Board on the progress and performance of
ESG work

reviewing and submitting annual ESG report to the Board
for approval
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J The Taskforce is responsible for:
—  carrying out specific ESG work
—  reporting to the management on the progress of the work
—  collecting information and data

— preparing annual ESG reports and reporting to the
management

SCOPE OF REPORTING

This ESG Report covers the Group's business activities of offices in
Hong Kong and mainland China, which represent the Group’s major
sources of revenue. The ESG key performance indicator (“KPI”) data is
gathered and included subsidiaries under the Group's direct control.
The Group will extend the scope of disclosures when and where
applicable. The KPIs are shown in the ESG Report as well as
supplemented by explanatory notes to establish benchmarks.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
"Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the "ESG
Reporting Guide”) as set out in the Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Information
relating to the corporate governance practices of the Group has been
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on p.19 to p.37 of Annual
Report for the year ended 31 March 2023.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report describes the ESG activities, challenges and measures
taken by the Group from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (the
“Reporting Period”).
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT EEASH

%zﬁ'ﬁiﬁ*g AR EH RIS RIRE - £

MERTHNRERER - BTHERERET
x?ﬁ&%ﬂ BA—EREEESARGEY)
BRERETRREBEBAN - BUT - #E
BREE BREARRAL EF -EENU
Kitg o

We value our stakeholders and their feedback regarding our
businesses and ESG aspects. In order to understand and address their
key concerns, we have maintained close communication with our key
stakeholders, including but not limited to Hong Kong Stock Exchange, & -
government, suppliers, investors, media & public, customers,
employees, as well as society.

BB E REANIRE - L8 REIQRE
R B@NATXAREETRNSET K R
BRRE LR AL -

We take stakeholders’ expectations into consideration in formulating
our businesses and ESG strategies by utilizing diversified engagement
methods and communication channels, shown as below.

Stakeholders
EEA

Expectations and Requirements

HERER

Means of Communication

BEAR

Hong Kong Stock Exchange

Compliance with GEM Listing Rules

Routine meetings, website updates
and announcements

BEH A o HESFGEM EMHRAI o BIITEHE  MUMEHRAE
Government e Observance of laws and disciplines e Compliance checks in cooperation
and payment of tax according to laws with government and regulatory
authorities
e Periodic filings workshops/seminars
B o BIRRENILBRIMERT s RABNAEEERBRITRIEEGH
mE
s THHHZ2HETEE S
Suppliers e Fair competition/quality and price e Business communication/procurement
e Stable payment terms contract/e-mail and telephone contact
e Fair competition
HEm o RTHBF ERZRER o EEBR/BEHN/ BETHBMHLE

Shareholders/Investors

BT E R

Financial performance
Corporate governance
Market image

uﬂé 3
NS

Information published on websites of
the Company/Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (e.g. announcements,
circulars, quarterly results reports,
interim reports, annual reports, etc.)

RERREE o BIRE . RE/ BB NS
o BXRENR (fﬁllﬁﬂ/‘i B FEEERE -
s MIHER hEHE  FHEF)
Media & Public e Corporate governance, environmental e Explanation on key issues/press
protection, and human rights releases
ESLSEYNAA o PEED  REBERERARE o BYZEBEE BRI FER
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Stakeholders Expectations and Requirements Means of Communication
EmA HERER BELN
Customers ® Product quality e Setting up a variety of communication
e Prohibited/restricted substance channels to understand customers’
management needs by email, phone call and client
e Environmental, safety and health questionnaire
management performance e Audit feedback/self-managed
* Implementation performance of the performance feedback
code of conduct (labour relations/
labour rights/compliance with laws
and regulations)
e Transparency and reliability of
information disclosure
Y o EmmE s BUREBBEE BATH  FTHE
o XA/RAMEER REFHERTHELTR
o RIF LR REEEBEN o TERX[EIE B EEIREMCIE
o TREABITER(BEMER ST
R, EERROIERE)
o EKEFAAHEHEASEN
Employees ® Good salary and benefits e The Company'’s internal website/
e Fair promotion and career e-mail/employee suggestion box/
development Discussion between employees and
e Good and safe working environment executives/surveys (irregular)

e Strengthening communications with
employees to provide fair promotion
and establishing training system to
equip employees with adequate
working skills

EE o RIFHIEBN AR o RATAEAY, EFEH REEER
o RTFMBERBEER R/ BERIEHX HERE (TE
s RIFREFHTIERIR H)

o INSREEE TIEME @ REATHEH
GRGEIFIIHE  FETABRER
B TIERRAE

Society e Environmental issues/compliance with @ Sponsoring community public welfare
laws activities/community visits/corporate
e Transportation website
e Employment opportunities/ e Environmental protection
community/public welfare
e Corporate Responsibility
e o IRFEH HTEE s BIHEBEARES MBI, ARE]

We aim to collaborate with our stakeholders to improve our ESG
performance and create greater value for the wider community on a

continuous basis.

ER
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The management and staff of the Group's respective major operations
have participated in the preparation of the ESG Report to assist the
Group in reviewing our operations and identifying relevant ESG issues
and assess the importance of related matters to our businesses and
stakeholders. Based on the assessed significant ESG issues, a data
collection questionnaire was prepared to collect information from
relevant departments and business units of the Group.

The following is a summary of the Group’s material ESG issues
included in this ESG Report:

Material ESG aspects of the Group

° Greenhouse Gas ("GHG") Emissions

° Energy Consumption

J Paperless Office

° Recruitment, Remuneration, Promotion and Dismissal
o Customer Privacy Protection

o Customer Services

During the Reporting Period, the Group confirmed that it has
established appropriate and effective management policies and
internal control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the
disclosed contents are in compliance with the requirements of the
"ESG Reporting Guide”.

CONTACT US

We welcome stakeholders to provide their opinions and suggestions.
You can provide valuable advices in respect of the ESG Report or our
performances in sustainable development by sending your feedback
and enquires to our Customer Service Manager at cs@f8.com.hk.
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CARING FOR THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1 Emissions

Governance on Air Pollutants, GHG Emissions and Waste
Management

The Group is strongly committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which we operate. As such, the Group
has established relevant procedures to detect and prevent any possible
pollution incidents which affect the surrounding environment that may
occur in the course of our business operations. During the year ended
31 March 2023, we measured and managed our environmental
performance in several aspects throughout our operations.

In terms of the Group's sale, supply and transportation of diesel oil and
related products businesses in Hong Kong, we understand there are
environmental emissions such as air emissions, GHG emissions, waste-
water discharges, general waste, and hazardous waste disposals.
During the Reporting Period, the emissions and waste produced from
the operations of 8 diesel oil tank wagons. By integrating
environmental consideration into our decision-making processes, we
embrace our responsibilities to create an environmentally sustainable
business. We are also committed to raising our employees’
environmental awareness and complying with relevant environmental
laws and regulations.

To enhance our environmental governance practice and mitigate the
environmental impacts produced by our operations, we have
implemented relevant environmental protection policies and
communicated such policies to our employees. These policies
encourage our staff to contribute towards sustainability by adopting
environmentally friendly operation methods. In the long run, we will
continue to enhance our environmental management strategies in
monitoring and minimizing the environmental impacts brought by our
businesses regularly in the coming years.
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Air Pollutants Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the total air emission produced by the
Group amounted to approximately 6,322.76 kg, which increased by
approximately 118.37% compared to last year. The emission intensity
was approximately 790.35 kg per vehicles (2022: 361.93 kg per vehicles).
The Group strives to save energy and reduce waste as much as
possible in its daily work, thereby reducing air pollutants emissions.
Through different environmental protection measures, employees’
awareness of reducing exhaust gas emissions has been raised. The
Group's air emissions during the Reporting Period were as follows:

RSB

R EE  AEEEENTERERDBEEL
56,32276F 55 B B B BF E BN
118.37% ° T8 )78 &I FE 58 E £ £ 790.35 F
7 (2022 : BE/AE36193F =) - AEH
BORBEIERREMNNERIBAVESE -
MM =R - BATRMNIRRE
i BEEIRL BEREMAEMSGUREA - B
WA - AEBNTE RS AR

Air Pollutants Emission Unit 2021/2022  2022/2023 % Change
ZERT YK By 2021/20224F 2022/2023F HILEEH
Nitrogen oxides (“NOx") KG 2,698.89 5,893.57 +118.37%
A|tm(TaELd])) T

Sulphur oxides ("SOx") KG 2.49 5.43 +118.37%
meaky ((FmEtwl) Fr

Particulate matters ("PM") KG 194.06 423.76 +118.37%
AT IR A B BORL ([ o] R A SRS AORE |) T

Total 2,895.44 6,322.76 +118.37%
we

GHG Emissions and Energy Conservation

The GHG emissions generated by the Group are summarized below in
direct and indirect section. The direct emissions are from the Group's
vehicles’ consumption of fuels while the indirect emissions are via using
energy and paper disposal at landfills.

During the Reporting Period, the total GHG were approximately 902.49
tonnes. Our GHG emissions were mainly classified into three scopes:

Scope 1: Direct emission from the usage of fuels by our vehicles;
Scope 2:  Energy indirect emissions; and

Scope 3: Indirect emissions of paper disposal at landfills.
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The following table showed the figures of the Group’s GHG emissions ~ RNRERANEBRREHFAEERESHE -
during the Reporting Period.
GHG emissions Unit 2021/2022  2022/2023 % Change
BERBHER B 2021/2022F 2022/2023%F HOLL#E
Direct emissions of GHG from the usage of Emissions tonnes
fuels by vehicles 406.36 887.37 118.37%
FTEAE RS R R =R A8 HEHRNE
BEYER
Indirect emissions of GHG from the energy Emissions tonnes 12.60 13.38 6.19%
BEIRE K H))E = RS TR R HERL HEHUE
Indirect emissions of GHG from the paper Emissions tonnes
disposal at landfills 1.74 1.74 0.00%
MU R B B A REK AR ERE HEHNA
G379
Total 420.70 902.48 114.52%

In line with our policies to minimize air pollutants and GHG emissions,
The Group has set a target to reduce the air pollutants emission and
the annual GHG emission intensity per unit of production volume by
3%. The Group's offices air conditioning are set and maintained at a
fixed temperature and requiring employees to turn off all the lights and
switch off the desktops after work.

Employees are also encouraged turn off the lights at lunch time and
using power saving appliances all the times.

Waste Management

Hazardous waste handling method

Despite the Group did not generate hazardous wastes during the
Reporting Period, we have established guidelines in governing the
management and disposal of hazardous wastes. In case there is any
hazardous waste produced, we must engage a qualified chemical
waste collector to handle such waste, which is complied with the

relevant environmental regulations and rules.
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Non-hazardous waste handling method

During the Reporting Period, the non-hazardous waste produced by
the Group was mainly paper waste, which amount to 371.75 kg (2022:
362.16 kg) with a rise compared to last year. The paper wastes
produced per employee was 14.30 kg per employee (2022: 13.93 kg
per employee). The paper consumption increased when comparing
with last year. We strive for reducing paper consumption in the coming
year.

The Group has set a goal of reducing the intensity per employee in
respect of hazardous and non-hazardous waste by 3% in the coming
year. With the aim of minimizing the environmental impacts from non-
hazardous wastes generated from our business operations, the Group
have implemented measures to handle such wastes and launched
different reduction initiatives. The Group have disposed the waste
generated by business operation into three categories, which are
general waste, recyclable waste and special waste. Recyclable waste
includes papers, bottles, cans, etc. Special waste includes toner,
battery, etc. The three categories are handled in different ways based
on their nature.

We have implemented the following procedures to encourage

employees to share responsibilities in waste management and

minimize waste generations:

J Receiving faxes electronically as much as possible, using
electronic systems for filing documents and distributing messages

by electronic channels

o Purchasing environmentally friendly by checking item
consumption to avoid overbuying

o Using recycled toner/inkjet cartridges
J Using double-sided printing or photocopying wherever possible
J Avoiding unnecessary paper using in the office

o Recycling one-sided printed paper

o Reusable tableware is provided in the pantry

J Recycling bins are placed in the office

o A food waste decomposer machine is in place for handling food
waste
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material non-
compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulations in
Hong Kong and mainland China, including but not limited to the
“"Waste Disposal Ordinance”, “Air Pollution Control Ordinance”,
“"Noise Control Ordinance” of Hong Kong and “Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China” of mainland China
that had a significant influence on the Group's operations.

A2 Use of Resources

The Group strives to optimise resource usage in our business
operations and take initiatives to introduce measures on promoting
resource efficiency and adopting eco-friendly approaches in our
operations. The Group’s major resource consumption contributes to
energy consumption. We have established related policies and
initiatives related to energy consumption management, which will be
mentioned in this section.

Energy Consumption

The major energy consumption of the Group was electricity
consumption in the daily operation. The Group aims to minimize
environmental impacts in our operations by identifying and adopting
appropriate measures. We continuously explore the use of new energy
in our business operation and how to optimize, integrate and use the
resources in a highly efficient manner with the support of the latest
information science and technology, thereby achieving sustainable
development. Related policies and initiatives on energy conservation
have been developed to show our concern on energy efficiency. All
employees must implement the adopted policies and measures in
resource utilization. Regular review is conducted on our energy
objectives and targets to seek continuous improvement in the Group's
energy performance.

Monthly monitoring on the usage of electricity was implemented.
Unexpected high electricity consumption would be investigated to find
out the root cause and preventive measures would be taken. During
the Reporting Period, the Group has implemented the following
measures relating to mitigating emissions:

o Switching off unnecessary lightings and electrical appliances
when not in use

o Don't use the high power incandescent lamps
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J The air-conditioning of the meeting room should not be turned
on until 15 minutes before anyone uses it, and the air-
conditioning should be turned off immediately when leaving the
meeting room

J Lower the curtains before leaving the office to reduce the amount
of direct sunlight in the office the following day

J Initiating the standby or hibernate mode of the computer in
order to make sure to turn off their computers before leaving the

office

o Turning off unnecessary servers at night and on public holidays

J Implementing “no light policy” during lunch time

J Using appliances and devices which are eco-friendly or energy-
saving

o Setting all printers, photocopiers and computers to energy saving
mode

During the Reporting Period, the total electricity consumption amount
of the Group was approximately 36.17 MWh (2022: 34.06 MWh) and the
electricity consumption intensity was approximately 1.39 MWh per
employee (2022: 1.31 MWh per employee). After carefully reviewing
current business operations, the Group has set the consumption target
of energy as reducing 3% the electricity consumption intensity in the
coming year. The Group will adopt measures in promoting the
employee’s awareness of energy conservation.

Water Consumption

As our principal business was focusing on sale and transportation of
diesel oil products, we did not consume significant amounts of water
through our business activities. In respect of water sourcing for office
use, since the water source is from the government department, there
was no water sourcing issue during the Reporting Period.

Use of Packaging Material

Due to the nature of the Group's business, the Group has no industrial
production and no factory facilities. Therefore, no significant amount of
packaging materials is used for packaging products.
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A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
Protecting the Environmental Impact and Natural Resources

The business activities of the Group have no direct/significant impact
on environment and natural resources. The Group nonetheless
commits to using natural resources wisely and efficiently while we
encourage the reuse and recycling of materials within our operations.
We spent efforts in mitigating our potential environmental impacts
through adopting industry best practices targeted at reducing natural
resources consumption and developing effective environmental
management. We regularly assess the environmental risks of our
businesses, adopt preventive measures to reduce potential risks and
ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Due to the increased usage of vehicles for transportation of diesel oil
and related products and the expansion in our business, our carbon
emissions, paper consumption and electricity consumption increased
when compared with the emission from last year. Nonetheless, the
awareness of environmental protection and sustainability has been
raised among our employees.

In addition, in order to prevent any diesel oil leakage during both land
and water transport, the oil tank wagons, and barge are inspected
frequently and are closely monitored. Instant repairs and maintenance
are carried out in case any unusual conditions are found in our vehicles.
Besides, we have enough space vehicles for backup when needed. For
the oil tank barge, we have contracted with a crew of experienced
sailors to monitor the daily operations of the water transportation.

Paperless Office

In order to reduce paper usage, the Group strongly advocated
paperless office operations. All offices are operated in the electronic
system as far as possible to reduce the use and consumption of office
paper in order to save forest resources. We also encouraged electronic
medium for communications within the office and with suppliers.

As a socially responsible enterprise, protecting nature and the
environment has become an integral part of the Group's corporate
culture and important value, the Group constantly looks for ways to
maximize benefits with minimal resource consumption and
environmental impact, and continue to strive for sustainable
development.
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A4 Climate Change

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not been significantly
impacted by climate-related issues while the Group understands
climate-related issues are harmful to the environment and have been
rigorously regulated by the United Nations’ Framework Convention.
The Group recognises the importance of identifying climate change
risk to mitigate the associated impacts on its business operations by
minimizing its GHG emission. However, typhoon, sandstorms, haze and
other natural disaster, all of which, would directly affect the daily
operating of the Group. As a result, the Group has continuously
evaluated for any impact arising from natural disaster and has taken
measures to mitigate its impacts.

CARING FOR THE PEOPLE AND SOCIETY
B. SOCIAL

B1 Employment and Labor Practices
Equal Employment Practices

The Group puts significant emphasis on the welfare of employees
whom they are considered as the Group’s most valuable assets. Hence,
the Group strives to attract and retain talents and reconcile economical
imperatives with well-beings, aiming at reinforcing satisfaction, loyalty
and commitment of human capital.

The Group has adopted comprehensive human resources manual
which includes policies and procedures applicable to staff. All
employees are treated fairly regarding recruitment, training and
development, appraisal of work performance, promotions, rest periods,
remuneration and benefits. Staff dismissals are based on the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of Laws of Hong Kong) or relevant
local laws and regulations, as well as the requirements stipulated in the
employment contracts. The Group is committed to providing equal
opportunity for all employees and applicants without regard to race,
color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, sexual
orientation, disability, political affiliation, personal appearance, family
responsibilities, matriculation or any other characteristic protected
under local law.

Throughout the F8 Enterprises’ operation, the Group strives to provide
an excellent and comfortable working environment. Based on the
features of the principal business, the Group understands that taking a
break by its staff from time to time is necessary for accomplishing the
long-term goals of the Group, and so, it strike a proper work life
balance of its employees, providing them 6-day work per week with 8
working hours per weekday and 3 working hours every Saturday. We
appreciate the efforts of employees during their working hours, and
advocate a no over time working culture, to allow sufficient rest time
for employees. In case overtime is needed, overtime compensation is
paid to employees according to the actual additional working hours.
The Group provides paid annual leave, maternity leave, paternity leave
and funeral leave in addition to statutory holidays for the employees.
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In addition, we contribute to the Mandatory Provident Fund and
employee’s compensation insurance with reference to the relevant
regulations and laws. Medical allowance is also provided by the Group
to employees covering their clinic consultation, traditional Chinese
medicine, dentistry, as a basic benefit for employees.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed 26 staffs in total. As an
illustration, the workforce statistic in relation to employee breakdown
by gender, age group, employment type, employment category and
geographical region are illustrated in pie graphs while breakdown of
employee turnover rate are disclosed as bar charts:

Gender and Age Distribution
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Geographical Region Distribution
[z 53 1

Breakdown by Geographical Region
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The Group is committed to complying with relevant labour standards
and employment laws and regulations which are applicable to our
business. During the Reporting Period, no material and significant
disputes between the Group and the employees were occurred.

B2 Health and Safety
Promoting Health and Safety

The Group considers health and safety of its employees as one of its
primary responsibilities. As such, the Group is committed to providing
a workplace free from injury and illness through effective procedures
and practice on occupational health and safety.

Regarding workplace health and safety, first aid boxes are available at
readily accessible locations in the Group's offices. Treatment for minor
injuries can be obtained on request to the supervisor in charge at the
site of the first aid box nearest to the scene of the accident. The Group
purchased medical insurance for all employees to cover any medical,
dental, hospital and surgical expenses and conducted health check
from time to time to ensure the health of employees. Employees who
suffer from injury arising out of and in the course of employment are
entitled to compensation in accordance with the related regulations.
During the Reporting Period, there were no fatal cases reported, in
which we successfully achieved a 0% rate of fatality.

The measures for emergency situations in respect of fire occurring in
certain buildings or installations are also regulated in terms of
guidelines assisting employees to take sensible immediate action when
discovering a fire. The Group provides fire drill for the employees to
ensure they can evacuate quickly and safely from the premises and
assembled in the designated area away from the building in the event
of a fire.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has ensured full compliance
with relevant occupational health and safety legislations of Hong Kong,
the PRC, and other relevant legislations. No severe injury or fatality was
reported and the number of days lost due to work-related injuries is O
throughout the Reporting Period.
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B3 Development and Training
Talent Management

The Group recognizes the valuable contribution of our talents for the
continuous success of the Group. Nurturing talents and polishing the
skills of our human capital is crucial in leading us to excellence. This is
achieved through development of training strategy that focuses on
creating values and serving the needs of our customers, talents and
society. Therefore, we encourage our employees to attend trainings
and obtain professional qualifications.

We notice the importance of training and development for our staff to
keep abreast of the latest trend in the industry and the dynamic pace
in current market. During the Reporting Period, the Group mainly
provided informal on-the-job training to employees. The Group also
provided regular formal safety trainings for all its drivers and Excel
programming updated for its office staff. The training time hours for
the male staff is 326 and for the female is 13. The Group determine the
company's vision and be willing to share it with employee. The Group
also motivate employees by asking employees for their opinions and
sharing ideas, so as to improve the cohesion and attraction of the
team. In this way, employees feel that they are part of the team and an
important participant in the success of the team. the Group has
established relevant policies in the Staff Handbook stating that it
employees are welcome to participate in the external training sessions
organized by government agencies on occupational safety and
environmental awareness.
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During the Reporting Period, the development and training statistic by R EARS - R4 BI R EREERIZ DN EE R
gender and employment category are disclosed in following bar IS BIEH BN A TIEFE -
graphs:

Average Training Hours Completed Average Training Hours Completed
per Employee by Gender per Employee by Employee Category
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B4 Labor Standards
Prohibiting Child and Forced Labor

The Group prohibits the use of child labor and forced or compulsory
labor at all its units and suppliers. No employee is made to work
against his/her will or work as forced labor, or subject to corporal
punishment or coercion of any type related to work.

Personal data are collected during the process to assist in the selection
of suitable candidates and to verify candidates’ personal data to ensure
no child labor will be recruited. The human resources department also
ensures identity documents are carefully checked. Overtime working is
on a voluntary basis. Also, compensation is provided for overtime
working with prior approval obtained from respective supervisor. If
violation is involved, it will be dealt with in the light of the

circumstances.

Also, the Group has zero-tolerance to employment of child labor and
forced labor and the Group is not aware of any non-compliance with
relevant rules and regulations, including but not limited to Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), on preventing child or
forced labor.

B5 Supply Chain Management
Upholding High Procurement Standards

The Group highly values our relationship with suppliers and regards
them as important business partners. All suppliers are evaluated
carefully and subjected to regular monitoring and assessment. The
Group has formulated related procurement policies and procedures to
manage its suppliers and the policies and procedures are reviewed

annually.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group engaged 23 qualified oil suppliers in
Hong Kong, including 4 major suppliers: Mobil, Caltex, Sinopec,
SHELL. The Group has set clear requirements on selection and
management of suppliers to ensure standardized management and
proper selection of suppliers and effective control over operational
risks resulting from improper selection, unreasonable method or
fraudulent practice of suppliers. The Group's policies regarding the
purchase from suppliers focused on quality, environment protection,
price, and reputation, etc.
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The Group have a set of criteria to choose suppliers. The basic criteria
for selecting suppliers is the "Q, C, D, S” principle, which is the
principle of quality, cost, delivery and service. Among the four, the
quality factor is the most important. First, it is necessary to confirm
whether the supplier has established a stable and effective quality
assurance system (including whether the products and/or services are
environmentally preferable), and then confirm whether the supplier has
the equipment and process capabilities to produce the specific
products required. The second is cost, it is necessary to use value
engineering methods to analyze the cost of the products involved, and
to achieve cost savings through price negotiations. In terms of delivery,
it is necessary to determine whether the supplier has sufficient
production capacity, whether human resources are sufficient, and
whether there is potential for production capacity. The last point is the
supplier’s pre-sales and after-sales service records.

In order to manage the progress and quality of work conducted by our
suppliers, we have set up standards for the tender and purchase from
suppliers. We have also established a database of suppliers, which
includes the basic information of suppliers, the types of products or
services providers, the types of suppliers and the supply prices for the
Group's long-term follow-up assessment of suppliers. Our managers
and project coordinators conduct regular review with the appointed
suppliers.

Related policies are formulated by the Group to ensure that the
suppliers could participate in competitions in an open and fair way.
The Group should not have differentiated or discriminated treatment
on certain suppliers; it would strictly monitor and prevent all kinds of
business bribery; and employees or personnel having any interest
relationship with the supplier should not be involved in the related
business activity.
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B6 Product Responsibility
Delivering Unmatched Product Quality

The Group’s business led by its experienced management team is
committed to offering higher-value services to customers, in order to
enhance the Group’s competitiveness and achieve mutual success
between the Group and customers. In order to ensure product quality,
careful supply quality inspection is performed as mentioned above.
Moreover, to ensure the service quality, regular training is provided to
all drivers for the job-related skills and knowledge. During the
Reporting Period, there was no case of product recalls for safety and
health reason, nor was there any complaint received.

Intellectual Property Right

The Group is committed to safeguarding intangible assets and
confidential information of its customers. The Group has strict
guidelines on the handling of intellectual property related products,
including patents, copyrights, trademarks, technology and trade
secrets. Any employee found to improperly handling intellectual
property rights will be subject to disciplinary action.

Customer Data Protection

The Group takes serious protection of our members’ confidential
information. The Group seeks to protect our members’ information
and accounts by employing data security measures such as encryption,
passwords and firewalls, etc. The Group has hired specific employees
to handle the storage and access of our customers’ information. Our
employees are prohibited to use the personal information of our
customers for purposes which are not related to the maintenance of
their accounts, unless their prior consent is obtained. If our employees
would like to access the information of our customers, they will need to
apply for approval. We do not sell, rent or otherwise share the personal
information of clients with any third parties without their prior consent.
Stipulated in our privacy policy, we make sure that the processing of
personal data for marketing purposes, fulfil the requirements of
applicable law.
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Complaint Mechanism

To provide a pleasant user experience for our customers, the Group
has long established a set of procedures to handle customers’
feedbacks or complaints in a professional manner. Customers’
information will be recorded, and enquiries or complaints cases
received will be transferred to the related departments or further
handling. Reviews on feedback or complaints is conducted, and action
plans are in place promptly to address the identified issues. The Group
will collect the information on the complaint cases, such as the
occasion, reason, and the contact of the client, etc. Customers’
satisfaction is evaluated after the cases are settled, and feedbacks or
complaints may be circulated to management if necessary.

During the Reporting Period, there was no case of non-compliance
with laws and regulations in relation to product responsibility within the
offices of the Group.

B7 Anti-Corruption
Commitment to Anti-Corruption

The Group commits to maintaining a high standard of integrity when
doing business as we strongly believe that it is essential to meeting the
expectations of our stakeholders.

The Group promotes integrity and prevents unethical pursuits. Anti-
corruption policy has been formulated to comply with the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group
has also implemented an effective whistle-blowing policy for reporting
fraud, corruption, bribery, extortion and money laundering. We
encourage the reporting of suspected business irregularities and
provide clear channels specifically for this purpose. When suspected
wrongdoings are identified, such as breach of duty, abuse of power,
receiving bribes, staff are trained to report to the Board for
investigation and verification, and report to the regulator and/or to law
enforcement authority when necessary.

There are no concluded legal cases regarding corruption brought
against the Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.
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B8 Community Investment
Contributing to the Welfare of Society

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group participated in
various community activities to help the environment of the society.
For example, volunteering services, flood donation, etc. To have a
better understanding of the needs in society and strengthen the
connection with local communities, we regularly communicated with
local charities. We have also encouraged our employees to participate
in community activities and suggested areas of contribution based on
their personal experiences in the community. In the coming years, the
Group will continue paying efforts in the environmental, employees
and customers aspects and keeping the success of this year and at the
same time, the Group will intend to invest more resources into
volunteering initiatives to contribute to the society.
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and intensity.

HER/RREEERERRERE) BERE

PG

o

Water consumption in total and intensity.

FKBERTE -

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

fit e TR (E A Bz At BI M PSR R

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

FHAERBRKSZEEFAENTS BE - B/KEEI RERGKR
BT RE e
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Use of Resources
FRER

Use of Resources — Energy
Consumption

EREIR — REREFE

Use of Resources — Water
Consumption (Not applicable
— Explained)

FARER —FK(TER —B
)

Use of Resources — Energy
Consumption

ERER — R

Use of Resources — Water
Consumption

(Not applicable — Explained)
FRAER —FKCINER —B2
fRrE)



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE HERERRE

Subject Areas,

Aspect,

General Disclosure

and KPlIs Description
FTEEE EEH-
—RIEREREE

MiEE it

Section/Declaration

i) 27

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and with reference to per unit produced.

MERIERA25 ARKE () BEMHEE  Y2REEMLE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

ASEH : REEXARER

Use of Resources — Use of
Packaging Material

(Not applicable — Explained)
ERER — BEMEHER
(TER —ERE)

General Disclosure  Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

—RRHE BAREEIT AR RN EREK BT EHBER
KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the

environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

BRASIEIZEAI  HHEBESHRFEERANERNERAFERDEKDNEERS
R 2n7T8) o

Aspect A4: Climate Change
BT A4 : RIFEL

The Environment and Natural
Resources
RIBERXAER

The Environment and Natural
Resources — Paperless Office

REARAER —BERLE

General Disclosure  Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.

— R E BRINEH KRR A HETAEETENEARIZIERA
FEHBOR

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted and the actions taken to manage them

BREMIERAL  HABKNAIESHETAELTENERRGEBER
N EHTE)

Climate Change

TIREE

Climate Change

TIREE
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RE HERERRE

Subject Areas,
Aspect,
General Disclosure
and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FTEEY - EE
—RRERERE
BIEE Rt &, 89
Aspect B1: Employment
B1/EMH : &R
General Disclosure  Information on: Employment and Labour
(@) the policies; and Practise
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare
—RIXEE BRGNS e - RAE N B - TIRRFEN - AR - T 5K BEESTER
g Zlt - RIEARIA KBRS AR
@ HX: M
b) HETABEATENHBERLROINER -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, ~ Employment and Labour

full-or part-time), age group and geographical region.
BRAMIEIRBI RIS BEEE (WEBEGRE) - FRAR MinEE o
EERH -

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

FSAERUEREB12 RMER - FiRER IR DMRERARLLE

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
B2fEH : REHZZ

Practise

BENBTER

Employment and Labour
Practise

BEESTER

General Disclosure  Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
— MR ER BRRHZ2TIEFREIRERERBEBELEEEN
(@ EHE: &
b) BEBTHBETABEAZENHEBEENBROINER -
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R -HERERRS

Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure
and KPIs

FHEEE  EH| -
—REERERE
BIEER

Description

P

Section/Declaration

i) 27

Aspect B3: Development and Training

B3EME : BERIE

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI'B3.1

RSB RUIEIR B3

KPI'B3.2

RSB ISR B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BRRIHEBET LIERE OB R REENBUR - fdiE
EEIE

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

RURNREEEN(NEREERE PREEE) ENNR
JMEER DL

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

BRI REEERIE D - BRES TN TR -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

B4EME : T %8|

Development and Training

R Mg

Development and Training

R Mg

Development and Training

TR MIE

General Disclosure

— IR

KPI B4.1

RR B IEIR B4

KPI B4.2

RSB IEIRBA.2

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BB IEE T okoahil&s THY -

(@) Xk

b) BEFHETAEBEAZEMNHBEERLROINER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.
f it i s RSB B M AR R E T RRH ST -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

R38R 2 BB R B B RIS U PT SR ER Y 5 5],

Labour Standards

Labour Standards

5 TR

&%

Labour Standards

5 TR
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R -HERERRS

Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure
and KPIs

FHEEE  EH| -
—REERERE
Mg

Description

P

Section/Declaration

i) 27

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

B5EMH : HEREE

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B5.1
RS A 4515 BS.1

KPI'B5.2

RA4 B W IEIZ B5.2

KPI'B5.3

BASEAENIE1R B5.3

KPI B5.4

FASAENIERB5 .4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain
EEHERNRE R SEREEK

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
i S oM EREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

AR HEERNIED - MERTEBEN RS
B UNMEBERITRERTE -

Description of practices used to identify environmental and
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

Rt B AR RS R NIRE R G ARAES - LA
RAARITRERITE -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

F i PR R R 2 R IRE mn L IRBS VB - A
HERITRERTTE -
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Supply Chain Management
HrEgEER

Supply Chain Management
HrEgEEE

Supply Chain Management

HiEEE R

Supply Chain Management

HiEEE R

Supply Chain Management

HiEEE R
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R -HERERRS

Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure
and KPIs

FTEEE EEH-
—RIEREREE
MIEE

Description

P

Section/Declaration

i) 27

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

B6BH : EREME

General Disclosure

— R E

KPI'B6.1

RSB RIE 1R B6.1

KPI'B6.2

PR A MIE 1R B6.2

KPI B6.3

FASAENIEIR B6.3

KPI B6.4

RS AE IR B6 .4

KPIB6.5

PSR AE MIE1R B6.5

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and

privacy matters relating to products and services provided

and methods of redress.

ERFRHERMREHRERZ S - BE - 8% 7l

HIARFRIT AN

@@ BE: K

b) BFHBITABERZENHBERZNADINER -

el

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.

EEXDEXERAET R BEREHMERKNE D

Lt °

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

EIERAE fn RISV IR B A R EH X -

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.
Fi it R4 o S ARPS AN EERE R A 1E D)

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.
i E 2R TEBREREMRBIKIEF

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.
fMUEBEERRE RALBBER - AREBARITRERR
& o

=S

Product Responsibility

Delivering Unmatched Product
Quality
RHREEMER

Complaint Mechanism
BRI

Intellectual Property Right
FERE

Delivering Unmatched Product
Quality
RHREEMER

Customer Data Protection

BEFERMRE
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R -HERERRS

Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure
and KPIs

FTEEE  EH-
— R ERERE
MiEE

Description

P

Section/Declaration

i) 27

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

B7EM® : RESS

General Disclosure

—fRINEE

KPI B7.1

RAS AR 1R BT

KPI B7.2

FASHE ISR BT .2
KPI B7.3

RREMIEIRBT 3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRA RS - $1R - MEFROLREH ¢

@ BX: Kk

b) BETFTHZBTABERZENHBERZNROINER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERPAHETASEBERBD A EFENBSHARN
BB E MARAAER o

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

Rty 15 b R RIR T - AT RERTE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors
and staff.
it mESE N8 TRENRESHEI -
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Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

RES

Anti-corruption

R&3F
Anti-corruption

RES
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R -HERERRS

Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure
and KPIs

FHEEE  EH| -
—REERERE
BIEER

Description

P

Section/Declaration

i) 27

Aspect B8: Community Investment

B8EM : HERE

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI'B8.1

RSB RIS 1R B8

KPI B8.2

RS ISR B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to
ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
BRANZERTBETAEEMELRT2NRRELERE
PeZELRMEHBOR -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
ETEREE(MHE  RREE BIFTR BE X
-85 -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area.

EEIHRBMPAER(MNSEREM) o

Community Investment

HERE

Community Investment

HEIRE

Community Investment

HEIRE
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EEERE

The Directors of the Company are pleased to present their report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND SHARE
OFFER

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Act as an exempted company with limited liability on 30
March 2016.

The shares of the Company have been listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange by way of placing and public offer on 12 April 2017.

On 8 August 2021, 130,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company were allotted and issued as fully paid to a nominated
shareholder at the issue price of HK$0.086 each under general mandate.
For further details, please refer to the announcements dated 11 June
2021, 16 June 2021, 8 July 2021, 30 July 2021 and 4 August 2021.

On 29 June 2022, the Company has completed a share consolidation
which involves the consolidation of every ten issued and unissued existing
shares of the Company of par value HK$0.01 each into one consolidated
share of the Company of par value of HK$0.10 each.

On 15 September 2022, the Company has completed an allotment and
issue of ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to the right issue on
the basis of one rights share for every two existing shares of the
Company, details of which are disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 23 August 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements. The principal activity of the Group is
sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong
Kong.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023 and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 106. The
Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 March 2023.
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Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five years is set out on pages 231 to 232 of this
report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any
significant investment, material acquisitions nor disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies save for the section headed
“Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and Disposals” in this
report. Save for note 38 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group did not have any future plans for material investments and
capital assets as at 31 March 2023.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

On the Listing Date, the Company'’s shares were listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange. A total of 200,000,000 new shares with nominal value
of HK$0.01 each of the Company (the “Share(s)") were issued at
HK$0.32 per share for a total of approximately HK$64.0 million. The net
proceeds received by the Company from the Share Offer, after
deduction of the underwriting commission and related expenses in
connection with the Share Offer, was approximately HK$45.1 million.
The net proceeds, upon receipt by the Company after Listing, has
been deposited at a bank and such net proceeds will be applied in the
manners consistent with the proposed applications set out in the
section headed "Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS ISSUE

On 15 September 2022, the Company has completed an allotment and
issue of ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to the right issue on
the basis of one rights share for every two existing shares of the
Company (the “Rights Issue”). The net proceeds received by the
Company from the Rights Issue, after deduction of all relevant
expenses for the Rights Issue, was approximately HK$11.0 million. The
Company intended to apply the net proceeds from the Rights Issued
for repayment of a loan of the Group and as general working capital of
the Group. Details of which are disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 23 August 2022.

The Company has fully utilised all the proceeds from the Rights Issue
before 31 March 2023.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2023 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31
March 2023.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 104 and note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operation, business and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group
relating to our business:

o The Group is dependent on the major supplier (in terms of total
purchases) for the supply of diesel oil. Any shortage or delay in
the supply of diesel oil from it, or any change in its existing
marketing strategies may materially and/or adversely affect the
Group's business and results of operations if we cannot secure
alternative sources of supply immediately.

° The Group's customers are not subject to any minimum purchase
requirement to purchase diesel oil from the Group.
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EEERE

A significant portion of the Group's revenue was attributable to
the sale of diesel oil and its profitability may be adversely
affected if demand for diesel oil declines for any reason.

The demand for our diesel oil would be adversely affected by the
delay in public sector projects caused by failures or delays in
passing funding for public work proposals by committees of the
Legislative Council due to lawmakers’ filibustering.

The Group's business and results of operations are dependent
on the oil price which are driven by factors beyond the Group's
control and the uncertainty of the crude oil price could have a

material adverse impact on the Group’s financial condition and

results of operations.

J Changes in the market conditions and trends in the construction
industry and in the overall economy may affect the Group's

operations and growth.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Up to 31 March 2023, there has been no purchase, sale or redemption
of any Company’s listed securities by the Company or any of its

subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2023

and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee (Vice Chairlady)
Mr. Chan Chi Fai (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap
Mr. Wang Anyuan
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fid $5m M B REAEFIER T A&
E RN AR BTHATE -

. WABKEEERTARBENAER
RSB BB AREB RN LRA
BERMER - RFEHEREEE
THEE -

s AREXRBRELEXBEIORTAEEE
EEBIE R B A ER - MRRE
1% B0 TN TE [ 3% A BE & HY AN SR [ B 55X
AR EREERERNTFZE -

. IRARTHRAREDAREBEH
HALYEREEOBERER -

BE - HEIEED LHES

HZE20235F3A31H » RQ Ak E AL 7] i B
NEMERE - HEIBREAARR LHE

S

HE2023F3A3MBtFEREZAFHEHRH
B RARESENAT ¢

HITES

TR (E/F)
St (B/LE)
BREWESE L (TTBAEEL)

BYFHITESE
BEC kA
BB S A
FLnhE

Fek (IR EMARAT / T =558 75



Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

Pursuant to article 84 of Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”), one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation
and re-election at an annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles, provided that every Director shall be
retired at least once every three years. Accordingly, Ms. Lo Pui Yee, our
executive Director and Mr. Chan Chi Fai, our executive Director, will
retire from office as executive Directors at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (“AGM") to be held on Monday, 7 August 2023. Ms.
Lo Pui Yee and Mr. Chan Chi Fai, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Confirmation of Independence

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent and meet the independent
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

(a)

Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company and shall continue thereafter unless
terminated in accordance with the terms therein. Under the terms
of the service contract, the service contract may be terminated by
not less than three months’ notice served by either party on the
other. The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

(b) Independent Non-executive Director

Each of the independent non-executive Director has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company which may be
terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by either
party on the other. The term of service of a Director is three years
commencing on the Listing Date subject to the provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to
have a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee by reference to the benchmarking of the market. The
Company also looks into individual Director’'s competence, duties,
responsibilities, and performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 87 to 92 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements,
none of the Directors had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party at any time during or at the end of the year
ended 31 March 2023.

As of 31 March 2023, no contract of significance had been entered into
between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2023, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and/or administration contracts in respect of the whole
or any principal business of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this report,
the Directors are not aware of any business and interest of the
Directors nor the controlling shareholders of the Company nor any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
that compete or may compete, directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group and any other conflict of interests which any such person
has or may have with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023
and up to the date of this report. The independent non-executive
Directors confirmed that the internal control measures in relation to
managing actual or potential conflict of interest of the Group have
been properly implemented.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKINGS

On 23 March 2017, Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited
(being controlling shareholders of the Group) entered into a deed of
non-competition (“Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the
Company (for itself and each of its subsidiaries), pursuant to which each
of Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited has irrevocably and
unconditionally, jointly and severally, warrants and undertakes with the
Company that, immediately upon the Share Offer becoming
unconditional, each of them shall not, and shall procure each of his/its
close associates and any company directly or indirectly controlled by Mr.
Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited (except for the members the
Group) shall not, except through any member of our Group, directly or
indirectly (whether on its own account or with each other or in
conjunction with or on behalf of any person or company, or as principal
or agent, through any body corporate, partnership, joint venture or other
contractual arrangement and whether for profit or otherwise), carry on,
engage in, invest or acquire or hold any rights or be interested or
otherwise involved in any business that is similar to or in competition
directly or indirectly with or is likely to be in competition with any
business currently and from time to time engaged by our Group in Hong
Kong and any other country or jurisdiction to which our Group carries on
business or grants franchise from time to time (“Restricted Business”).
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Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited further undertake that
when he/it or his/its close associates other than any member of the
Group is offered or becomes aware of any new project or business
opportunity (“New Business Opportunity”) directly or indirectly to
engage or become interested in a Restricted Business, he/it (i) shall
promptly notify our Company of such New Business Opportunity in
writing, refer the same to our Company for consideration first and
provide such information as may be reasonably required by our
Company to make an informed assessment of such New Business
Opportunity; and (ii) shall not, and shall procure that the controlled
persons or controlled company not to, invest or participate in any such
New Business Opportunity unless such New Business Opportunity is
declined by our Company, or our Company does not proceed with
such New Business Opportunity within 30 business days from the date
of the written notice (of if requested by our Company in writing, such
30 business days period may be extended to a maximum of 60
business days), and the principal terms of which he/it and/or his/its
close associates invest or participate in are no more favourable than
those made available to our Company.

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-
Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus.

Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited have both confirmed
to the Company of his/its compliance with the Deed of Non-
Competition during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
status of compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings under the
Deed of Non-Competition have been complied by each of Mr. Fong
Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited and duly enforced during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

For the year ended 31 March 2023, there has been no purchase, sale or
redemption of any Company’s listed securities by the Company or any
of the subsidiaries.
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Interests and short positions of Directors and chief executive
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or (ii)
to be entered into the register required to be kept therein, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to securities transactions by Directors to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

EERBRSTHRAEBREQATREAGEE
BHRG  HEROREEZPIOERZR
-}

MR2023F3A31B  EFERARA ZREITR
ABRART SR EME AR (& RES M
EIEFIEXVED) %D - IR D S EEEF
BA () REES M EEPIEXVIBET R8H
HEMG AN RBRATHERS KRR (B
RIEFE % M BB E (5018 B SU B 1E AR Ve
BREREARE)KG)BAARBESRBAE
1151 55 35218 7B 77 B My & R0 1 7 A 4 25 R0
2 - 8 (i) BB GEM TR B £ 5.46 16 5 5.67
EERBAMEARNR MBS RITNE S EITES
RS MANGAQE KRBT KA R
™

Number of Percentage of
Name of Directors Capacity/nature of interest shares held shareholding
EEnE 51 REnttE BEROHBE BREDL
Mr. Fong Chun Man Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 1) 75,686,400 55.04%
(Long position)
TEX L RyEhhEmEmER (1) 75,686,400 55.04%
(F8)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee Interest of spouse (Note 2) 75,686,400 55.04%
(Long position)
Bzt Ao Bt as (KTt 2) 75,686,400 55.04%
(F8)
Notes: HsE -
1. The shares are held by Grand Tycoon Limited, the equity interest of which is owned 1. ZERMNBERFERAREE - H100%&#EH 5 &

as to 100% by Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Fong Chun Man is deemed to be interested
in all the shares held by Grand Tycoon Limited for the purpose of Part XV of SFO.

2. Ms. Lo Pui Yee is the spouse of Mr. Fong Chun Man and is therefore deemed to be
interested in all the shares which Mr. Fong Chun Man is interested for the purpose
of Part XV of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company has any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part V of the SFO
(including interests and/or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) to be entered
into the register required to be kept therein, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by directors to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

Interests and short positions of the substantial shareholders
and other persons in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2023, so far as it is known to the Directors, the following
persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
or were deemed to have interests in shares or underlying shares which
(i) were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or (ii) which would fall to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the
GEM Listing Rules or, (iii) who will be, directly or indirectly, be
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings
of any member of our Group.

Br EXPTHEEEE N - 1A2023F3 4318 + #
BEERANAZRTTHRAERARN AR KEME
BrE(Tx BESLEEEDIFEXVE) /K
D MG REEETES () REFESF RS
EIEPIEVEETRSD MAME AN T B
R EDSAR (BEREFEAFALPE
&8 BIES E (ESARIE A R R, 5
KA K BINAREES RBEEAE
32 EBAFBEME LM AT MERIAE
g (i) IR % GEM L 48 B S5 5.46 16 R 5.67 168
AN ARRRBMRANESRETESRR S
MmAMEG AR F LB R TR E RSO R -

TERRREMATREAL TR EHEE
EHRG  HEROREEZTIHERR
RE

MR2023F3A318 " BEEMA © THALCR
AEIEBREEHTTERABRIN R HkiEEE
B& 0 P B S R IEE B s - () B AR
RARIRIBEES KRB ERDI5E 336 6 iR T AT
BRERGM - k(i) RIEEH & EE GG XV
ESE 2 N2 30 BB IEST K GEM _E T AR BIl M #5 T BA
W - Sk (i) 8 B B ok R O B A AE R AT R BT
EBERTEAEBEMKEARTMBREAS
RRE T KB RIRL AN E B 10% sk A - h A

Ns
= o

T
Number of Percentage of
Name of Shareholders Capacity/nature of interest shares held shareholding
BRREB A B EnttE BEROHBE BREDL
Grand Tycoon Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 75,686,400 55.04%
(Long position)
REFBRAA BEamEAA (M) 75,686,400 55.04%
(F&)

Note: fisE -

1. The shares are held by Grand Tycoon Limited, the equity interest of which is owned 1. ZEROBEFERARREE - H100%KEHT &
as to 100% by Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Fong Chun Man is deemed to be interested NEEER  c ESRBEGRMIEXNVETE - HE
in all the shares held by Grand Tycoon Limited for the purpose of Part XV of SFO. XEEWRARBEFT ERAFEE 2 2HMRG %

B o
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Directors have not [ F X EE I - R2023F3H31H » &

been notified by any person who had interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
or which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Share Option Scheme

The Company has conditionally adopted the share option scheme in
which certain eligible participants including, among others, the
Directors and employees of the Group may be granted options to
subscribe for Shares on 23 March 2017 (the “Adoption Date”). The
share option scheme became unconditional upon the Listing Date.
Under the terms of the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, grant
options to eligible participants to subscribe for Shares.

No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed since
the Adoption Date up to 31 March 2023, and there was no share option
outstanding as at 31 March 2023. Therefore, the Company may grant
options in respect of up to 80,000,000 Shares (or such numbers of
Shares as shall result from a sub-division or a consolidation of such
80,000,000 Shares from time to time) to the participants under the
share option scheme.

Competing Interests

The Directors confirm that none of the Controlling Shareholders or the
Directors and their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) is interested in any business apart from the business
operated by our Group which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with our Group's business during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this report.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company
confirms that all of the Directors complied with such required standard
of dealings and its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as at the date of this report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Save for one isolated case for non-compliance under the GEM Listing
Rules, details of which are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 10 August 2021, the Director is aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group and no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations during the year ended 31 March 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of turnover
attributed to the Group’s largest and the five largest customers
accounted for 22.3% and 45.9% (2022: 15.0% and 46.6%) of the total
revenue of the Group, respectively. For the year ended 31 March 2022,
the Group's purchase from the largest and the five largest suppliers
accounted for 25.2% and 76.0% (2022: 20.7% and 69.9%) of the total
purchases of the Group, respectively. At no time during the year ended
31 March 2023 did the Directors, their associates nor any shareholder
of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) have any interest in the
Group's major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 March 2023, the
Group did not enter into any transactions which need to be disclosed
as connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the material related party transactions are set out in note 44
to the consolidated financial statements of this report. These related
party transactions did not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Remuneration to key management personnel of the Group, including
Directors described in notes 14 and 15 to the Group's consolidated
financial statements are continuing connected transactions exempt
from the connected transaction requirements under Rule 20.93 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and ensuring a high
level of corporate governance standards and will review and improve
the corporate governance practices and standards constantly. During
the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has complied with the
code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code
Provisions”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 19
to 37 of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no
equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2023 or subsisted at the end of the reporting
year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, suppliers and customers in order to
meet its employees, immediate and long-term goals. During the
Reporting Period, there was no material or significant dispute between
the Group and its suppliers and customers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws
of Cayman Islands or the Articles which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 March 2023, a directors’ liability insurance
was currently in place to protect the Directors against potential costs
and liabilities arising from claims brought against the Directors.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 26 employees (2022: 28
employees) including the Directors. The remuneration package the
Group offered to the employees includes salary, bonuses and other
cash subsidies. In general, the Group determines employees’ salaries
based on each employee’s qualifications, position and seniority. The
Group has designed an annual review system to assess the
performance of our employees, which forms the basis of the Group's
decisions with respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and outlook of the Company as well as a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position,
including a description of an indication of likely future development
can be found in the management discussion and analysis set out on
pages 6 to 18 of this annual report. Those discussions form part of this
report.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or tax exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

The Company has received no tax relief for the year ended 31 March
2023 (2022: Nil), which is reflected in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting ("AGM") of the Company will be held on
Monday, 7 August 2023, the notice of which shall be sent to the
shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Articles, the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 2 August 2023 to Monday, 7 August 2023, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of the shares of the Company
will be registered.

Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom
Share Registrars (HK) Limited, at Room 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road,
North Point, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 1 August
2023.
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ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The principal activity of the sale and transportation of diesel oil and
related products business of the Group is governed by Hong Kong
environmental laws and regulations including the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in
Hong Kong.

These laws and regulations cover a broad range of environmental
matters, including air pollution, noise and gas emissions, leakage of oil
products or other hazardous substances. The Group recognises the
importance of environmental protection and has implemented various
environmental protection measures in order to minimise the operation
impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group will continue to monitor the business operations in order to
ensure that it does not have only significant adverse effect on the
environment and that the Group's environment protection measures
are adequate to ensure compliance with all applicable current Hong
Kong laws or regulations.

As at the date of this report, no prosecution, penalty or punishment
has been imposed upon the Group for the violation of any
environmental laws or regulations.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Board is not aware of any
significant events that have occurred requiring disclosure.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31 March 2023
has been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, who shall
retire at the forthcoming AGM and being eligible to offer themselves
for re-appointment.

By order of the Board

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED
FONG Chun Man
Chairman
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fong Chun Man (“Mr. Fong"), aged 43, is our founder, executive
Director, Chairman, compliance officer, member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee, and is responsible for our
Group's overall corporate management and business development
strategies. Mr. Fong was appointed as an executive Director on 23
March 2017. Mr. Fong established our Group in early 2005 and was
appointed as the director of Great Wall (International) Oil Limited in
December 2005.

Mr. Fong has over 18 years of experience in the sale and transportation
of diesel oil and related products. The performance of the Company is
achieved in great level. He was responsible for the Company'’s daily
operation, including but not limited to submitting tender proposals
and undertaking construction projects, managing its corporate
accounting and administrative matter, monitoring the logistics of
projects and contacting suppliers and customers, such as authorised
agents appointed by the Oil Majors. Mr. Fong has also been the
director of Jet Good Limited since April 2005, a company whose
principal business involves the provision of construction materials and
related logistics services in Hong Kong, where he has gained
experience in business operation and management expertise. In
addition, Mr. Fong has acquired Xun Xiang Metalware Company
Limited since 2017 to operate scrap iron recycling business.

Mr. Fong has been a committee member of the Chinese People's
Political Consultative Conference Guangzhou City Yue Xiu District
Committee (FEIARBUGHEEZEMNMBERZE B ) since May
2008, the president of Guangzhou City Yue Xiu Youth Association (&
N FE R F F ) since 2014, a member of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference Guangzhou Committee (Bl A R
At e @ ENTZEZ B ®) ("CPPCC Guangzhou Committee”) since
January 2017 and was promoted to a standing committee member of
CPPCC Guangzhou Committee in 2020. In addition, since 2012, Mr.
Fong has been a director of Pok Oi Hospital, a non-profit hospital in
Hong Kong, and has been re-appointed as the chairman of the audit
committee of Pok Oi Hospital since 2016. He has been the deputy
commissioner of the Hong Kong Road Safety Patrol since 2013 and was
promoted to the commissioner of the Hong Kong Road Safety Patrol in
2015 and the president of the Hong Kong Road Safety Patrol in 2021.
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In addition, Mr. Fong has been the executive vice chairman of the
Hong Kong Federation of Guangzhou Associations (B/&EMNtt EEE
and the chairman of the volunteer team since 2015, the life honorary
chairman of the Hong Kong Commerce and Industry Associations since
2018 and the vice chairman of the Hong Kong Federation of
Guangzhou Associations since 2019. Since 2021, Mr. Fong has been
serving as an elected member of the Hong Kong Election Committee
for the Associations of Chinese Fellow Townsmen in the third sector (&
= ABIRAES4H). Mr. Fong is the spouse of Ms. Lo.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed companies
for the last three preceding years.

Note: The English translation of name is for identification purpose only. The official names
of the organisations are in Chinese

Ms. Lo Pui Yee ("Ms. Lo"), aged 44, was appointed as our executive
Director, and vice chairlady on 22 August 2016. Ms. Lo is responsible
for supervising the overall administration and operation of our Group.
She has more than 20 years of experience in the business
administration and marketing area. Ms. Lo joined our Group in June
2016.

Ms. Lo has completed the Hong Kong Advanced Level Examination in
July 1999. Since June 2002, Ms. Lo has gained exposure in the daily
administration, operation and executive management and has been a
sole proprietor of Alpha Communications Company, which carries on
the business of the provision of telecommunication and internet
services, and has been responsible for supervising the business
development and corporate governance. Since 2011, Ms. Lo has been
a director and shareholder of Luxe Tuxedo Limited, an apparel
company offering high-end men'’s formal suit and attire in Hong Kong,
responsible for overseeing the administrative function, enhancing
communication channels between management and staff and product
branding. Ms. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Fong.

Note: The English translation of name is for identification purpose only. The official names
of the organisations are in Chinese

In addition, Ms. Lo is also currently a member of the Chinese People's
Political Consultative Conference Guangzhou Nansha District
Committee, an executive committee member of Guangzhou
Federation of Industry and Commerce (& I T T 7 % B & €), an
executive vice president of the Hong Kong Federation of Guangzhou
Women Association (&7 E /N IFHE 42 € ), an honorary vice president of
the foundation of Kowloon East Association (J1 88 5 [& & S Ht €) and
an honorary president of the Hong Kong Girl Guides Association
Shatin branch.
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Saved as disclosed above, she was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Note: The English translation of name is for identification purpose only. The official names
of the organisations are in Chinese

Mr. Chan Chi Fai (“Mr. Chan"), aged 42, was appointed as our
executive Director and chief executive officer on 22 August 2016 and is
responsible for the operation of our fleet of tank wagon and business
strategies implementation. Mr. Chan has joined Great Wall
(International) Oil Company since September 2010.

Mr. Chan obtained a higher certificate and a higher diploma in Civil
Engineering from the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education in
July 2007 and July 2009, respectively. Mr. Chan also completed the
certificate for Safety Supervisor (Construction Industry), Safety Training
Techniques Course and Safe Working Cycle Course in February 2002,
January 2009 and January 2009, respectively. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Chan worked as a foreman in Yuk Shing Engineering Co.,
Limited from March 2000 to February 2007 whose principal business is
construction and engineering, responsible for general site operation
for drainage work and earthwork. From March 2007 to July 2010, Mr.
Chan joined Vibro (H.K.) Limited and was promoted as a geotechnical
field technician, whose principal business is construction, responsible
for ground investigation arrangement and carrying out necessary
testing.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert (“"Mr. Chui”), aged 66, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 23 March 2017. Mr. Chui is
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Chui obtained a Bachelor’s degree in commerce from the
Concordia University in June 1978 and was awarded the Medal of
Honour by the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region in 2014. Mr. Chui is currently a practicing certified public
accountant in Hong Kong and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Society of Accountants since June 1991 and the Chartered Association
of Certified Accountants since May 1989. Mr. Chui has over 36 years of
experience in the accounting field and is the founder of a Hong Kong
accounting firm, Robert Chui CPA Limited since August 1991.
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Mr. Chui has been appointed as a director of the following listed
companies on the Stock Exchange during the periods indicated below:

B S T SO R AR B 4 5 DA TR 2
HARMES

Name of listed company (stock code)

L DFHME (RADR)

Dragon King Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8493)
EE2EEZERAR AT (RMHAE : 8493)
Asia Cassava Resources Holdings Limited
(stock code: 841)
DMNAREERIERARRE (RO : 841)
National Arts Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8228)
Bl & E R B RR A R (AR 5% - 8228)
Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited
(stock code: 417)
FimE AT (BIR) AR AR
(Bt HR5% = 417)
Wing Lee Property Investments Limited
(stock code: 864)
KA EERAR QA (RHAIE : 864)
Huiyin Holdings Group Limited
(stock code: 1178)
FERIEREEAR AR (RO : 1178)

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed

Position held
FriEEmis

Independent non-executive
directors

B FITES

Independent non-executive
director

B IFMITES

Independent non-executive
director

B FITES

Independent non-executive
director

BYFRITES

Independent non-executive
director

B IFRITES

Independent non-executive
director

BYIFRITES

PR EXXPRIEEE SN -

Period during which he held
directorship

EEESHB

May 2023—Current

202355 HZS
August 2018-Current

201858 AES
May 2009-November 2022

2009 4F 5 AZE 20224 11 A
April 1999-Current

19944 %5
February 2013-Current

2013F2/R&5
October 2020-December 2021

20204F 10 A& 2021 12 A

B BE=FAALENE

companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap (“Mr. Kwong”), aged 47, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 23 March 2017. Mr. Kwong is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.

Mr. Kwong obtained a Bachelor’s degree in electronics from The Open
University of Hong Kong in December 2001, a diploma in information
technology from the School of Professional and Continuing Education
of The University of Hong Kong in June 2004 and a master degree in
information technology from Charles Sturt University, Australia in
November 2005.

From December 2013 to October 2015, Mr. Kwong was appointed as a
non-executive director of Wealth Glory Holdings Limited (Hong Kong
stock code: 8269). From November 2015 to August 2016, Mr. Kwong
was re-designated as an executive director of Wealth Glory Holdings
Limited.
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From April 2022 to December 2022, Mr. Kwong was appointed as an
executive director of Sino Energy International Holdings Group Limited
(stock code: 1096).

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Wang Anyuan (“Mr. Wang”), aged 52, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 23 March 2017. Mr. Wang is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.

Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor's degree specialising in maritime and
communication accounting from the Shanghai Maritime University in
July 1994. He joined China Merchants Group and served as the
manager of the audit (risk assurance) department from September
1996 to July 2001, the chief financial officer of China Merchants
Securities (HK) Company Limited from July 2001 to January 2007 and
general manager of audit (risk assurance) department of China
Merchants Finance Holdings Company Limited from February 2007 to
February 2008. In April 2008, Mr. Wang served BOCOM International
Holdings Company Limited as an executive director and head of China
operation, responsible for the equity sales. From June to December
2009, Mr. Wang served CITIC Securities International as a director and
head of China operation, responsible for their securities business and
had been the account executive of CITIC Securities International
Company Limited from January 2010 to November 2012. In October
2012, Mr. Wang served as a deputy head of brokerage department of
China Investment Securities (Hong Kong) Financial Holdings Limited,
responsible for securities trading. In February 2013, Mr. Wang served
as a responsible officer of China Investment Securities International
Brokerage Limited of Type 1 (Dealing in Securities) regulated activities
as defined in the SFO. Since May 2013, Mr. Wang joined Orient
Finance Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited as a business director of the
brokerage department. Mr. Wang has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of China Carbon Neutral
Development Group Limited (stock code: 1372) since November 2021.
In addition, from May 2013 to May 2023, Mr. Wang joined Orient
Finance Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited as a business director of the
brokerage department. Since June 2023, Mr. Wang has been
appointed as a director of the wealth management department of
China Merchants Securities (HK) Co., Limited and carries out regulated
activities on its behalf.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Lee Kwok (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 45, is our chief
operation officer and is responsible for overseeing the daily operation
and general financial management of our Group. Mr. Cheung has
joined our Group since April 2016.

Mr. Cheung has over 15 years of experience in operational
management. He obtained a bachelor's degree in mathematics from
the National Central University, Taiwan, in June 2002. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Cheung worked as an information technology engineer
in Di Sheng Computer Limited (4 B 5 AR A F]*) from March 2004
to July 2005, and from January 2007 to May 2007, responsible for
conducting products testing and providing customer support. From
June 2007 to April 2010, Mr. Cheung worked as an engineer in
Chunghwa Picture Tubes, Ltd. (FZEME % {5 H R A 7)) whose principal
business is involved in the optoelectronic industry (Taiwan stock
exchange, stock code: 2475, and Luxembourg stock exchange, ISIN
code: US17133M7092), responsible for supervising the production
operation and quality control, as well as managing technicians and
support staffs for improving operational efficiency. Mr. Cheung then
worked in the sale of diesel oil related business in Great Wall
(International) Company for six years from April 2010 to March 2016,
responsible for the daily operations of the sole proprietorship.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (R#&), aged 58, was appointed as the Group's
company secretary on 26 October 2017. Ms. Leung has been a director
of K E Corporate Services Limited (a company secretarial services
provider) since April 2016, the managing director of K E Management
& Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since August 2015 and an
independent non-executive director of Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 6063) since March 2020. Ms. Leung was a director of KCS
Hong Kong Limited from August 2008 to October 2014 and an
independent non-executive director of Green leader Holdings Group
Limited (Stock Code: 0061) from April 2014 to January 2020.

Ms. Leung was admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (currently known as Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants) in the United Kingdom in July 1995. Ms. Leung
was also admitted as a fellow member of the CPA Australia in May
2004 and is currently a member of HKICPA. Ms. Leung obtained a
master’s degree in commerce from the University of New South Wales,
Australia in November 2002.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B M A% B R

B it EH A R E
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of F8
Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited (the "Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
100 to 230, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2023, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “"Code"),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B M % BAT R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
BARESEE

BRESNEE

RETFRISRERMNEXHE - BRY
AR MBRENBETRRIEEZNTIA - 5
LEHEARMBABEREAMBHRERIEA
TBREETERIEN - AT SHELFHREH
BEENER -

How our audit address the key audit matter

RANETNMRERRETSE

Allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL") on trade
and other receivables

EEREMERFRARFESR (AREEER]) BRE

Refer to Notes 5(b), 26 and 27 to the consolidated financial

statements.
2R A B RRMEESb) - 26 %227 -

At 31 March 2023, the Group had trade receivables and
other receivables of approximately HK$75,814,000 (2022:
HK$83,284,000) and HK$4,443,000 (2022: HK$10,077,000),
respectively with allowance for ECL on trade receivables
and other receivables of approximately HK$16,509,000
(2022: HK$13,290,000) and HK$3,743,000 (2022:
HK$3,820,000) respectively.

M2023F3A31H BEEEE S EWHIE K H i B
FIE 9 Bl #) %75,814,0007% 7T (20224 : 83,284,000 7T )
K. 4,443,0007% 7T (20224F : 10,077,000 7T.) » i & 5 FE U
FRIA I Hoth FE WK IE TR ER{E BB R 9 B 4Y /516,509,000
7 7T (2022 4F : 13,290,000 7T ) 3,743,000/ 7T (2022 4F :
3,820,000/ 7T) °

The determination as to whether trade and other
receivables are collectable involved high level of
management’s judgement. Specific factors management
considered include the age of the balances, business
nature of customers, existence of disputes, recent historical
payment patterns and any other available information
concerning the creditworthiness of counterparties.
Management used these information to determine whether
a provision for ECL is required either for a specific
transaction or for a customer'’s balance overall.
ETESHREMERFRIBREAIWES REKFNERE
HEr -  EREZRNNTARBREEHRER TREBML
B REGFEFZ OHBENFIEARBEHFHES
WEMEMAESER ERECTRABEHEANEERS
ABERSUBEEPERTTIRAPEEBRRES -

Our procedures in relation to management’s ECL
assessment of trade and other receivables included but
not limited to:

BN EEENE S REMEWRFIBTERESEBETG
EITHREFEEETRER :

o Understanding the key controls that the Group has
implemented to manage and monitor its credit
risk, and evaluating management’s assessment
process for allowance for ECL;

A BEEECEMNBREEEBATE RER
HEERR YA EERESHENEEHREEE
MRS IBAE |

J Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of
the trade and other receivables as at 31 March
2023 to the underlying financial records and post
year-end settlements to bank receipts;
WMEBER2023F 3 A31 AU EREERNMES
Ko oAt e OsR IR BR B 1B 0 A F 48 R R SRITAEH UK
i
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) HARETEE B
Key audit matter How our audit address the key audit matter
BRETEE B ETNAEERRETSE
Allowance for ECL on trade and other receivables o Inquiring of management for the status of each of
(Continued) the material trade and other receivables past due
BEZRHEMEBEBRFERAREESERE (A as at year end and corroborating explanations from

management with supporting evidence, such as
performing public search for selected customers,
understanding on-going business relationship with
the customers based on trade records, checking
historical and subsequent settlement records of
and other correspondence with the customers; and
EHEEEEHFHAREANNSEERES LA
tb JE W R IR AR S LA K% 7 B2 i LA R 9 S Y R R (1
MHEFEFPETARBE ENE SR E
BEENHEEBRAER REBERREEELHIN
NEEPFzEAEMERER) - &

o Assessing the appropriateness of the ECL
provisioning methodology, examining the key data
inputs on a sample basis to assess their accuracy
and completeness, and challenging the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-
looking information, used to determine the ECL.
AMETEMEEEERBB AR DRE  BEEEH
R ABUBNTEEEEE R TR - WERET
TG EEIEF AR (RIERE RATRIEER) -

We found that the management judgement and
estimates used to assess the allowance for ECL on trade
and other receivables to be supportable by available
evidence.

PR - EEEANAFGE S L EMEYRIATRIE
EBEREeFE R A SRR
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B M A% B R

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BREMRETREMBERERNELE

BANBR  SHRAMBHREABERE T
R EGF e i R M B A B A SR BULEG
BIERE - XY HABEREFE R A2 B &
FeoHMER BT HERRER) HRERMANE
R Bt ZIMREREEMB R - RATEH
RE AT REREMA TR SR EEM
Bif - BEFRELSKFORE - BETEERE
EREREEAETOET AR —EXE
AR PRI 1 IR AR RE 3R IR o B8 AR BRI AT LA f BRRF
IR - MRS BFEHEMEBRELR
KA EGEMBRRERE - KEZFER
EMBMERAMELHLEARTE - BIBARAER
BRI AT AR VEE K ©

EREEBEEAETEHBRET - M
ERTERHE  RETEXEREER - T
I

o HBIMFHEARKFFRBRMERSE
MBEBRFEEREREGAORER - &
FERMITE R R LAY E L AR - A

RERFTRMEENETRE FRR
MEROEM - AR RFFAIES L&
woE - EEER Fﬁfﬁxﬁﬁuﬁz&’%’

MBME S| 2 £ - FHRREH IR EFEM
BYNB A RBUE A E RSN AREHE
3 AR RR MG B B A4 SRR ) LB

o THRERFHEBOAMES - UREHE
EHEEF fEEH’MUE;T E\m.
NEBIEH B RIEERER -

o HMAEEMERASFEERNREIERE

= u+1ﬁﬁ+iﬂ]$a Egﬁﬁéﬂjﬂé\ﬁ’\”_{ °
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B M A% B R

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Hon Koon Fai, Alex.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hon Koon Fai, Alex
Practising Certificate Number: P05029

Hong Kong, 23 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ReEEEkEtEZERER

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
For the year ended 31 March 2023 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZ2023F3A31HLEE Bt EE FET FAT
Continuing operations FEREXEK
Revenue &= 6 429,940 357,471
Cost of sales HE KA (413,699) (352,579)
Gross profit EF 16,241 4,892
Other income H A A 8 7,655 6,954
Other gains or losses HibWamsEia 1,834 (222)
Loss on derecognition of contingent RIEERER AR ENEE
consideration receivable - (15,421)
Administrative expenses THAX (18,378) (14,062)
Other operating expenses Hip&ErR% (6,531) (5,713)
Allowance for expected credit loss on & @& ETEHE BB EEE
financial assets, net R (3,130) (11,635)
Loss from operations ReEEE (2,309) (35,207)
Finance costs BLE KA 10 (2,816) (4,437)
Share of results of an associate A e /NI E 1,217 (703)
Loss before taxation BB AT E B 11 (3,908) (40,347)
Income tax (expenses)/credit Fisft () & 12 (929) 1,090
Loss for the year from FRFELE
continuing operations E¥KER (4,837) (39,257)
Discontinued operations DRI
Profit for the year from FARR I ETE
discontinued operations gl 13 - 7,370
Loss for the year FREE (4,837) (31,887)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income  FREME2E (EE), E
for the year
ltems that may be reclassified HigAJpEEH DR h
subsequently to profit or loss: HH :
Exchange differences arising BMEBINEBEER
on translation of foreign operations  [& i, = %8 - 174
Reclassification of cumulative HEBINER 1B B5
exchange reserve upon disposal N R E D
of foreign operations = (1,466)
Share of other comprehensive FE(E —E R E A A E A
(loss)/income of an associate 2 (E18), /W (1,320) 293
Other comprehensive loss BRBEFREAM
for the year, net of tax 2HEER (1,320) (999)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEEkEtEERER

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
For the year ended 31 March 2023 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZ2023F3A31HLEE Bt = FHET FAT
Total comprehensive loss FREHEBEERE
for the year (6,157) (32,886)
Loss for the year attributable EAREEAEEER
to owners of the Company: Ei1E -
— from continuing operations — REREED (4,837) (39,257)
— from discontinued operations — BRI E T - 8,040
(4,837) (31,217)
Loss for the year attributable FEREREEFER
to non-controlling interests: B
— from continuing operations — BB E - -
— from discontinued operations — BRI T = (670)
- (670)
(4,837) (31,887)
Total comprehensive loss for the FREG2EEE
year attributable to: B
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEFEN (6,157) (32,293)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R - (593)
(6,157) (32,886)
Total comprehensive loss for the KAREEAEBEER
year attributable to owners 2HEBERE:
of the Company:
— from continuing operations — BBREER (6,157) (38,954)
— from discontinued operations — ERIEREEE - 6,661
(6,157) (32,293)
Loss per share attributable AATHEE AEMN
to owners of the Company BRER 17
(Restated)
(Fe571))
From continuing and discontinued FEEEEBRERLE
operations: R
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR #5E OBL) (3.96) (31.49)
From continuing operations: BELSEEK
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BN EEE (BL) (3.96) (39.60)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated — BEB{MI st &It F47 A P IS RER AR -
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A MR R

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
At 31 March 2023 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
R2023F3H31H Bt EE FET FAT
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - = NEE 18 13,192 5122
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 19 - 574
Investment property KEYE 20 19,400 20,000
Interest in an associate —MEEE AR 22 17,819 17,922
Financial assets at fair value through BAEFAETZH
profit or loss TREE 24 5,297 5,945
Deferred tax assets BT IEE 36 - 159
55,708 49722
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 25 403 820
Trade receivables B 5 ENRIE 26 75,814 83,284
Prepayments, deposits and TENHIE - Ze Rk
other receivables H fth fE U F0 T8 27 5,990 12,285
Amount due from an associate i adinl i NI E QL] 28 12,109 13,082
Tax recoverable A Ui Bl F7 18 - 1,587
Pledged bank deposits BHEARERITIFH 29 6,087 6,077
Cash and bank balances Be RIRITHES 29 28,557 14,276
128,960 131,411
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B S5 FIE 30 30,818 36,622
Accruals, other payables and BErER EfEMZRIER
deposits received Bz e 31 5,769 4,616
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EAB K 33 45,589 43,089
Bonds payable JEHE S 34 - 800
Lease liabilities HEaE 35 - 168
82,176 85,295
Net current assets REBEEFE 46,784 46,116
Total assets less current liabilities BEAERABARS 102,492 95,838
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ma BRI R

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

At 31 March 2023 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

R2023F3H31H Bt EE FET FAT
Non-current liabilities FRBEME

Deferred tax liabilities FREFHIEA E 36 1,238 468

Net assets EEFE 101,254 95,370
Capital and reserves BEXRREE

Share capital B& R 37 13,752 10,080

Reserves = 87,502 85,290

Total equity RS 101,254 95,370

Approved and authorised for the issue by the board of directors on 23 E #2023 6 A23HEZE S #t ) MR #E T

June 2023 and signed on its behalf by: B WA TATRRESSHE
Fong Chun Man Lo Pui Yee
F&RX simE
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEE HITEE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated — BEMI I 5t At F47 A BA RS TRZRAVAERZE D o
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERBREEX

Attributable to owners of the Company

ERTREAER
Fair value
through
other Retained
Capital  comprehensive earnings/ Non-
Share Share Other  contribution income Exchange  (accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) Sub-total interests Total
RATEFA
&x Eft2E RERF/
e RiEE HtiE RAGE WE EifE  (RiAER) Nt FBRER &3t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$000
Thn Thn T Thr Thn T T Thx Thn T
For the year ended 31 March 2023 (Notei) (Note i) (Note i) (Note v) (Note )
BENBFIANALER (M) (Hiati) (histii) (Bist) (Hitv)
At1 April 2021 RONE4R1R 8,780 64,821 = 24652 (905) 1319 17,75 116,483 15,555 132038
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (312 (3121 (670 (31.887)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income EMANRE(ER) Mk
for the year - - - - - (1,076) - (1,076) 7 (999)
Loss and total comprehensive loss FREER2EERESE
for the year - - - - - (1,076) (31.217) (32293 (593 (32,886)
Issue of shares upon acqisition BEKERENER
of investment property (Note 20) i (Bt 20) 1,300 9,880 - - - - - 11,180 - 11,180
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 38) HERBAR(H38) - - - - - - - - (14962 (14,962)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RAREIRNER
W0F4R1H 10,080 74,701 -+ 24,652 (905) 303 (13,461) 95,370 - 95370
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (4,837) (4,837) - (4,837)
Other comprehensive loss for the year £ £ 12 ESIE - - - - - (1,320) - (1,320) - (1,320
Loss and total comprehensive loss ERBERZEERSE
for the year - - - - - (1,320) (4,837) (6,157) = (6,157)
Issue of shares by way of DR ETRG
rights issue (Note 37) (Hisk37) 3,672 8,813 - - - - - 12,485 - 12,485
Cost attributable to issue of shares DMERR S BT
by way of rights issue AR = (444) - - - - - (444) - (44)
At 31 March 2023 H202353531R 13,752 83,070 = 24,652 (905) (1,017) (18,298) 101,254 - 101,254

Notes: F%E

0} Share premium represents the excess of shares issue over the par value. (i) R RERER N EITBBMENSHE

(ii) Other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the total equity of (ii) REBMEMFEEIRZS B A R E S EE
the subsidiaries and the aggregated share capital of the subsidiaries pursuant to the B R ERIR AR R ) AR AN R EE 2 R 2= 2R (B
reorganisation where the transfer of the subsidiaries to the Company are satisfies by BARTARRRFEBARREITHRG M)
issue of new shares from the Company.

(iii) Capital contribution reserve represents the amount of the financial impact arisen (iii) BAEHFEEBERE (BR)ARARCBELLER)
from the transfer of business from Great Wall (International) Qil Company (Sole MR (B ABER AR EREBELNNBE
Proprietorship Business) to Great Wall (International) Oil Limited. ZH)0E -

(iv) Fair value through other comprehensive income (“"FVTOCI”) reserve comprises the (iv) BRAFEFAEMEEEZE ((RAFESFAEME
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity investments designated at FVTOCI. mle ) EEREETEAEAFE AEMEAEK

mERRE N TEREEBFE -

(v) Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations outside Hong Kong. (v) BE 5 R E IR E B BIRIMNOEINES I SRR T

The balance was approximately HK$8.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
For the year ended 31 March 2023 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE2023F3A31HLEE Bt EE FET FAT
Operating activities RETER
Loss before taxation from FELE TG
continuing operations MRt ATE 1B (3,908) (40,347)
Profit before taxation from B IEREEBR
discontinued operations B B Al ) — 7,644
(3,908) (32,703)
Adjustments for: BUTREELAE
Interest Income FBUA 8 (11) (15)
Finance costs B & Bk AN 10 2,816 4,437
Depreciation of property, plant WE - BEMRIEITE
and equipment 18 2,292 1,140
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BREEERE 19 64 382
Loss arising on change in fair value REMENTEEZ
of investment property FITiEE A e iE 20 600 1,907
Unrealised loss/(gain) on financial BEAFEFABZAE R
assets at fair value through BERSHEE (W&
profit or loss 9 648 (167)
Gain on deemed disposal of RAIEH & —fEEE & 2 A8
an associate Wz 9 = 81
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERTE R R - (8,744
Loss on derecognition of contingent R ER AR ER
consideration receivable B8 - 15,421
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE - BEREE
plant and equipment ol 9 (350) -
Gain on extinguishment of EEHE M AR RS
other borrowing 9 (3,718) -
Allowance for expected credit loss PHMEAENERES
on financial assets, net E 1R HE 558 3,130 11,630
Unrealised exchange loss/(gain) BIRE HEE (W) 985 (1,437)
Share of results of an associate R D /NI E S (1,217) 703
Operating cash flows before EELELRHA2RE
movements in working capital HeRE 1,331 (7,527)
Decrease in inventories FERd 417 16
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 2 5 FEU R IER L (3L 40) 4,251 (30,939)
Decrease in deposits, prepayments & BFEE R HAER
and other receivables TRIER 6,372 12,581
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables & 5 FIE (CRl4), 10 (5,804) 13,955
Increase/(decrease) in accruals, other JEtER - HiENHER
payables and deposits received BUIREEMCd) 2,090 (2,416)
Increase in contract liabilities B4 EEE N - 683
Cash generated from/(used in) rEESME/ (A RE
operating activities 8,657 (13,647)
Income tax refunded/(paid) BiR (B e 1,587 (1,429
Net cash generated from/(used in) BESTERE (TR RS
operating activities = 10,244 (15,076)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
For the year ended 31 March 2023 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZ2023F3A31HLEE Bt aE FET FAT
Investing activities RETER
Interest received EHFE 1 15
Deposits for property, plant and EERME  BEK
equipment refunded Byl en - 6,000
Net cash outflow from disposal HERBATIRG R F5E
of subsidiaries 38 = (1,867)
Acquisition of property, plant WEEIZ - B Skt
and equipment (9,852) (14)
Acquisition of investment property WHEIR & Y% - (10,727)
Acquisition of financial assets at YR AT ET AERN
fair value through profit or loss PHEE = (1,000)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  HEKERE
plant and equipment PSSR 350 -
Withdrawal of pledged B EARITER
bank deposit - 6,081
Net cash used in investing activities REEFEFTAREFE (9,501) (1,512)
Financing activities RMEER
Interest paid [=ENEIES) (3,753) @,177)
Proceeds from bank and other RIT M E MBS IR
borrowings 74,713 48,219
Repayments of bank and other EEIRIT R EAER
borrowings (68,495) (25,087)
Repayments of bonds payable EBREMES (800) (8,000)
Repayments of lease liabilities BELEARE (168) (590)
Proceeds from issue of shares DA AR FE = 32T AR 1
by way of rights issue FR1S3RIA 12,485 -
Costs attributable to issue of shares AR = 34T RR (D
by way of rights issue B BIBOR (444) -
Net cash generated from METHEREFH
financing activities 13,538 10,365
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BRERBESZEYH
cash equivalents ', CRD) F8 14,281 (6,223)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FYRENRIREEEY
beginning of the year 14,276 20,535
Effect of foreign exchange rate EESHTE
changes = (36)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRABEERBEEEEY
of the year
Cash and bank balances Ne NIRRT 28,557 14,276

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated — BEB{MI st &It F47 A IS RER AR -
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law as
an exempted company with limited liability on 30 March 2018
and its shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and principal place of
business in Hong Kong is Unit 3304, 33/F, Tower 1, Enterprise
Square Five, 38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong. The
Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is Grand
Tycoon Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. Grand Tycoon Limited is controlled by Mr. Fong Chun
Man, a director of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in sale and transportation of
diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong.

The Group was also engaged in sale and transportation of diesel
oil and related products, manufacturing and sale of steel
products and sale of injecting molding machine in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") which were discontinued during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands
(HK$'000), except when otherwise stated.

—REH

FREX (B EBEERAR(TARF D)
20184 3 A 30 HIRIE R AR S 7F
SEMARILAEREERAR - AN
REBBEXIMAERAR ([BRF])
GEMEM ARG aTMREEEREA
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands R BB EBE XA STEN
FEERIRBIBREERS A —E33E
3304 E - ARRMEE RERKIER AR
REFERRAR  ZRBINRER LR
SEMMKEL - ZZBERABHARAE
EHEX AT -

RRABRBREER AR - ENB AR E
ZEBRBNEHE LEXSRRA KA
BAEMm °

AEBRGEFEARLMBE((HE])
MBI E KB XL IR KA E M
SIENEEMERALEE T PHE
B MBEREEHERANEE TS
MEKDNEE202F3A31BILEE
BRIE

BRRBMEN A B RERARNRAF]
MmIeEERET(BIT) 25 MR
BEZFEESEEOTML(TET)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

2.

108

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning
on or after 1 April 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before

Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of

Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020  Insurance Contracts'
and February 2022 Amendments

to HKFRS 17)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-Current Liabilities with Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

and HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The directors anticipated that the application of all the new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

110

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basic of preparation of consolidated financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, which is a collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards and related interpretations issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered
material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosure required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) and by the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain property and
financial instruments that are measured at fair values, as
explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
the consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16
Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basic of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment property which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

J Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

3.

112

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidation financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

J has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

J has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTHEEK#E)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

114

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are
critical to the ability to continue producing outputs,
including an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes
or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or
cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay
in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owner of the acquire and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquire. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is
on or after 1 April 2022, the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset
and a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) except for transactions and events within the
scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group
applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the
Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination. Contingent assets are
not recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& EJH%*E?E*F%E—E&EE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEE e

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTHEEK#E)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the indefinable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

J liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquire or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquire are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2;

o assets that are classified as held for sale in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance
with that standard; and
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3.

116

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of
the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of
low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquire
(if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date.
If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer's previously held interest in the acquire (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchases gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #ZEeMBHRRFEREERTE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SEBER (@)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTEERE)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at
its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that
arise from additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year
from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates
and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an
asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent
reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquire prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost a established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
("CGUs") (or group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the
amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed
of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs)
retained.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTHEEK#E)

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

RBE LAz R
BENRRAKREAREARE
B EAXENIE2EKKRES
LR EBFRORR - 1B IEFE I
S HFEENZFRR2ES -

BERRZEENEERBBTR
DDA ASREPBRE -
RETERARMMEABZERARZ
AR - Ty EA S EAEEL
BRATHBUR S R EHFAAE—
Bz @t BRAEE - REEDE -
KB E QB2 WE VTR AR R
BB RER - LRIEL A
B UBRLAKEEEBERARZ
BahEME2ERE - BERRE
EFHE (B R E M 2RI
ZEBHTT AR BRIFABE
LSO SEIGIESIPIRCE 3 Sagunbith o
B o BEAKERGH L QR EER
BERBERRZ#ERE(BREE
FRAARERBERARFREZ
EARMED)  AIARKER LE
REEBIGEZE-—TER - EELE
B0 E AT S E B RS R
BRRSFIE - AEREING
1’

REERRNIRERERRE KR
BENRE BREEREREARK-
PR L A RINIRER - ’RE
FRANER AR SR E D HARE 77 A
%'Jﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁ’]’“?i%‘ﬁﬁ’\]fﬂﬂ%ﬁ
DHERAREE  FARKRENRE
B AEES AR EERAE
B FE AR R E AR (AT B
R EREH R RKEIRE
HEFEJETE SHERR o

Fek (IR EMARAT / T =558 119



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of
the associate and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the
same basis as would be required if that associate had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTHEEK#E)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if
the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provide to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is
responsible for allocation resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the steering committee that makes strategic
decisions.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

J the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

. the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTHEEK#E)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to
be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Further details of the Group's revenue recognition policies
are as follows:

Sale of diesel oil and related product, injecting molding
machine and steel products

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when control of
the goods is transferred, being delivery of the goods to the
customers.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease from lease component, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

J any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in

dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities other
than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from Covid-
19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the
practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon exercising
purchase options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use
assets and the related accumulated depreciation and
impairment loss are transferred to property, plant and
equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable.

The lease payments included:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

J the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is

reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

J payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use

assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts
for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that standalone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the
Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the
lease liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments
using the unchanged discount rate, unless the change in
lease payments results from a change in floating interest
rates. In that case, the Group uses the revised discount rate
that reflects change in the interest rate and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets. A lease modification is required by interest rate
benchmark reform if, and only if, both of these conditions
are met:

o the modification is necessary as a direct consequence
of interest rate benchmark reform; and

o the new basis for determining the lease payments is

economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the modification).
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SEE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEFHERGE)
Leases (Continued) HE(B)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AREEERFMA (B8)
Changes in the basis for determining the future lease ﬂ%%‘;&ﬂﬁziﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬂiﬂﬁﬁ
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform ENREEEY (E)

(Continued)

If lease modifications are made in addition to those lease
modifications required by interest rate benchmark reform,
the Group applies the applicable requirements in HKFRS 16
to account for all lease modifications made at the same
time, including those required by interest rate benchmark
reform.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

o the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

o there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions
the same way it would account for the changes applying
HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for
as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities are
adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss
in the period in which the event occurs.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value
model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& EJH%*E?E*F%E—E&EE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEE e

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
,except for exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore
forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation),
which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal or partial disposal of the Group's interests in
associates.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes
a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes
a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or
joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended

use or sale.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are included.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. %445t
SETEE @)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 FEESHBE#E)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution scheme, the assets of which are held
in separate trustee-administered funds.
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3.

134

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefits costs (Continued)

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, with the employers’
contributions subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. The Group's contributions to the MPF
Scheme are expensed as incurred. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. There are no forfeited contributions for the MPF
Scheme as the contributions are fully vested to the
employees upon payment to the MPF Scheme.

The employees employed by the Group's subsidiaries in
the PRC are members of state-managed retirement benefit
schemes operated by the government of the PRC. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a specific
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefits schemes
operated by the government of the PRC is to make the
specified contributions under the schemes.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of the
estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the
Group in respect of services provided by employees up to
the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying
amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

3.

FRENBRREREERTE
2EBCR ()

3.2 FEEHEER®E)
ESHEF (&)

IRIKIE IR A (48)
BiERESHE BERIEEYZA
ZEBMEEWA Z5%REEEH
HE o HRETHEIAFTABERA
30,0008 70 A LR - NREBE ¥ ETE
SR EIZ HEREER T -
HEBEAEBRNBEEMMNRE
T o AR MARTES 8 AR
2HRERES MU ERIESTE
AR o

AEBERTEMBARERE
ERPEBFERE BERKERRIN
BAETEIZKE - ZEMBARIA
BT ERANNEE B DL RERKE
FEH BV - (FRE BRINGEF
& o AEEL P BEBRFEENENR
‘|G E MM — BT AR EIE

AR K

KRR B A R B E 8157

75 B B R A T AR MR B IR RS
5 T8 HA S A 9 48 1 B R R 3R & BR B
ReFMBERYEERNER SR
X BER—BBEMBREER
ZXRFINABEBERMAANEENX
7 BIYER ©

EMBREAXNMERNSRE - Y
BEESHOERAN(HIMITE RF
& FERAMBR)ERAE -

EREAMEHRRERMNERZA
& DERASEEYNEERER
& B HIFT R AR R Z (At R 2K
ReRb2REFE - ARBK
A MEREFMFESHNEER
EEZEFNES  HREDTHE
R X —HEBYBREENR
KA HBREE T AEEKAN
ARSI -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #ZEelMBHRRFEREERTE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SEBER (@)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 FEEHEER®E)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair value
of the goods or services received, except where that fair
value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods
or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values of
the goods or services received are recognises as expenses
(unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as
assets).

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to
be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition of
the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. Temporary differences arising from subsequent
revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

The property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are depreciated over their estimated useful
lives, after taking into account of their residual value, on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvement Over the lease terms
Motor vehicles 30%-33%

Office equipment 20%-33%

Oil barge 10%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reassessed at each reporting date.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR &
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTHEEK#E)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU unit or group of CGU.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #& ﬂﬂﬁ%iﬁﬁf%g—ﬁﬁig

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SEE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESTHBERE)
Inventories -1
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable GFEURKA R AT IR FEMRE R
value with absorption cost. Cost is determined using the KEEH2ILKAR—RE IR o BN
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents IEFEEEET o A #IRFEET

the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount
of the receivable can be measured reliably.

At EERATA AR TR
RGBHERA - EITHERTH
KRABREZRBRIHEIEEK
AEAREESETHEMUAESE
HIFEIR B R

BiE

il 25 62 (B R B 1 14 T 33 R R B
FEHEEET  NEBEEALEE
EEMT BZETSREER EE
5t BIERERBE o

HERARBBOHERNREHARF
BRFEEMFRENRER
B s Rz B AR R KN EARA
BE - W AEEBABEREE
ENRESREAERE N ER
FEENTEBEA  HEEER
ZERERENHRE -

BHIRE =T WEASERENE
TRABEEN DR - HERET
B S B IR REEE T
FEE ARERASER/E
o

Fek (IR EMARAT / T =558 141



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other
unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an
inflow of economic benefits to the Group and they are not
recognised in the consolidated financial statements. The
Group assesses continually the development of contingent
assets. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of
economic benefits will arise, the Group recognises the asset
and the related income in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change

occurs.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from
past events but is not recognised because it is not probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of
the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and
it is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no
reliable estimate can be made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or
less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

J the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

J it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

J it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
"other gains and losses” line item.

%é‘ﬂ?ﬁ%#ﬁ%f%g-ﬁﬁii
SRR (&

3.2 FEESHBE#E)

RITA(E)
eMEE (B)
DHENMHEGHESHEE (B)

?222115.#)\?@ S REE
TREEM AT AR AT
?ﬁ.ﬁr/\ﬁﬂﬂzﬁ% SETE R
ERRAFERF AR M EEK S
R AIRAFEFABRTE -

REBEIR - RAFEFAER
E’J/\Eﬂﬁ?ﬁ?&?ﬁﬂr% i (£ 1a]

N Y s B 1R AR B A
R o RIB R RHER A sk Sk B 1R F
BN BIE & BVE B T RE A (E A
BB AR - WAt A TE MU K
BRI BAR -

Fek (IR EMARAT / T =558 147



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amount due from an associate, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting period. Assessment are done
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting period as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #ZEeMBHRRFEREERTE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SEBER (@)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 FEESHBE#E)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

J an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #ZEeMBHRRFEREERTE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SEBER (@)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 FEESHBE#E)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

J significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

J it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

] the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over 2 years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivable are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when formulating
the grouping:

. Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #ZEelMBHRRFEREERTE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SEBER (@)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 FEESHBE#E)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through

a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

154

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including bank and other borrowings,
bonds payable, lease liabilities, trade payables and accruals,
other payables and deposits received) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Related parties transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiaries is related to
the others);

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group which the other entity is a
member;

(i)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Related parties transactions (Continued)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employees are
also related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Company's
parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity

and include:

(a)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic

par‘mer;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;

and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or

domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction

when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between

the Group and a related party, regardless of whether a

price is charged.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that the management have made in the
process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group's investment
properties are not held under a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time. Therefore, in
determining the deferred taxation on investment properties, the
directors have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the fair value
model are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. The
Group has not recognised any deferred tax on changes in fair
value of investment properties as the Group is not subject to any
income taxes on the fair value changes of the investment
properties on disposal.
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158

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowance for ECL for trade and other receivables and
deposits

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables which are not assessed individually using a
provision matrix. The provision rates are based on aging of
debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into consideration
the Group’s historical default rates and forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

Other receivables and deposits are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade and other
receivables and deposits are disclosed in Note 5(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value measurement of investment property

Investment property is stated at fair value based on the market
values, being the estimated amount for which property could be
exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and
a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction or the valuation
performed by an independent valuer. In determining the fair
value, the valuer has based on method of valuation which
involves certain estimates and assumptions. In relying on the
valuation report, the management has exercised their
judgements and is satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market conditions. Should there be any
changes in assumptions due to change of market conditions, the
fair value of the investment property will be adjusted accordingly.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the Group's
investment property is HK$16,400,000 (2022: HK$20,000,000).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. $MTIA
(a) Categories of financial instruments (@) &WmITEAEER
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets tHMEE
At amortised cost biig: 31z N
— Trade receivables — B SR FRIE 75,814 83,284
— Deposits and other receivables — &E RH MK RRIE 5,400 10,853
— Amount due from an associate — JEULES N A 718 12,109 13,082
— Pledged bank deposits — BEMRITER 6,087 6,077
— Cash and bank balances —IRe MBITESR 28,557 14,276
127,967 127,572
At fair value woFE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABENEREE 5,297 5,945
Financial liabilities tRas
At amortised cost 317N
— Trade payables — B S ERTIE 30,818 36,622
— Accruals, other payables and — BB - HibENIE
deposits received Lelize 5,769 4,616
— Bank and other borrowings — RITREMIEK 45,589 43,089
— Bonds payable — ERES - 800
— Lease liabilities —HEAE = 168
82,176 85,295
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BERKEEBEERBE

The management monitors and manages the financial risks
relating to the operations of the Group through internal
risks reports which analyse the exposures by degree and
magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk
(including interest rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit

risk and liquidity risk.

BT R -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

The Group's major financial instruments include trade

receivables, deposits and other receivables, amount due

from an associate, pledged bank deposits, bank balances,

financial assets at FVTPL, trade payables, accruals, other

payables and deposits received, bank and other

borrowings, bonds payable and lease liabilities. Details of

these financial instruments and the policies on how to

mitigate these risks are set out below. Management

manages and monitors these exposures to ensure

appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.

(i)

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings and
lease liabilities. The Group is also exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances and variable-rate bank and other
borrowings. The Group cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest
rates on bank balances and Hong Kong Inter-Bank
Offered Rate ("HIBOR") and HK$ prime rate as
determined by the lender arising from the Group's
HK$ denominated borrowings. The Group aims at
keeping borrowings at variable rates. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the
potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook.
The management will review the proportion of
borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure they
are within reasonable range.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate
benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including
the replacement of some interbank offered rates
("IBORs") with alternative nearly risk-free rates. Details
of the impacts on the Group's risk management
strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark
reform and the progress towards implementation of
alternative benchmark interest rates are set out under
“interest rate benchmark reform” in this note.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for the
variable-rate bank borrowings. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 50-basis point (2022:
50-basis point) increase or decrease in variable-rate
bank borrowings are used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates. Bank
balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank
balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax loss for the year ended 31 March
2023 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$181,000 (2022: HK$88,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates
on its variable-rate bank borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and
transactions are mainly denominated in HK$ and
Renminbi (“RMB"). Foreign currency risk arises from
future commercial transactions, which are
denominated in a currency that is not the functional
currency of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

E@MIT A

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BEEREEEHERBEKE)
(Continued)
()  Market risk (Continued) (iy TWERKGE)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SNFE B e ()
At the end of each reporting period, the carrying NEREEAFR - REBE A
amounts of the monetary assets and liabilities of the R (I IETh g &8 ) +HE M
Group, which are denominated in RMB, that is not the EMEENAENEEEN
functional currency are as follows: T
Assets Liabilities
& &
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023 F 2022 2023 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT THERT TET
RMB N 12,119 13,090 - -
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency MUAINESTENEEREE
hedging policy in respect of assets and liabilities mE @ ANEEIRR I EE
denominated in foreign currency. The Group will R o NEEBZY)E
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will REINERR - WHRNER
consider hedging significant foreign currency EREPEKXIMNER
exposure should the need arise.
The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a TRHAMAEFEETE A
5% increase and decrease in HK$ against RMB. 5% is RESPESR T % 5% 88t
the sensitivity rate used which represents R o 5% AE IR BYERA]
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible BE & &) 1E 51 P A A9 R K
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity B o lhBREDITEBTEN
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency INEDIERREEEEIAER
denominated monetary items and adjusts their T 5 3R 5 HA 2R Tk O i e =R
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% B)S% EHEMEEITHFHE -
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number TREBERTMHMETEAR
below indicates a decrease in post-tax loss where HK$ MEZ1E 5% » BiERSER D ©
weakens 5% against RMB. For a 5% strengthening of BB TH AREFAES%T
HK$ against RMB, there would be an equal and = BEHEBRERELAMER
opposite impact on the post-tax loss and the number HEERARHNEE  TERH
below would be negative. FHERA -
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FABT
If HKS strengthens against RMB by 5% /& 7T X A REEFE 5% (5006) (547)
If HK$ weaken against RMB by 5% BT AR E5% 506 547
* Amount less the HK$1,000 * SFOMR1,000/8 7T
Feb¥ (ER)EBMBERAR/ —TE_=FFR 163
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amount due from an associate, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances. At 31 March 2023 and
2022, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk,
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties arising from the carrying amounts of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with
its financial assets.

Trade receivables

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit terms. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as to the

economic environment.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arises when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables arising from the sale
and transportation of diesel oil and related products
in Hong Kong and steel products in the PRC, the
Group has a concentration of credit risk in certain
individual customers. At the end of each reporting
period, the Group has concentration of credit risk as
13% (2022: 14%) and 45% (2022: 42%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group's largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively
within the sale of diesel oil business. The directors
closely monitor the risk exposure of the customers
and would take appropriate action to ensure the risk
exposure is acceptable.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
reviews the recoverability of each trade receivable at
the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate allowance for ECL are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies simplified
approach on trade receivables to provide for the ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The Group measures loss
allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal
to lifetime ECL, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group's historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns
for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed on a collective basis by using provision
matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Trade
receivables that are credit-impaired with gross
carrying amounts of HK$13,397,000 as at 31 March
2023 (2022: HK$12,342,000) were assessed
individually.

5. @I A
(b) HERMRETEBEREE(®)

(ii)

FERRERBENGE(E)

EH SN E (E)
TREHEEER2HBELHE
BEEBB(ITEEERE) NF
AR R e AT,
WE ZEKFENEERR
& Ko M2023%F3A31H
BR T 4 & /13,397,000 7T
(2022 % : 12,342,000/ 7T )
BAZEERENE SRR
BEHEITEBIFEY

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
RAEER ARTE A E BiERE
At 31 March 2023 % HK$'000 HK$'000
R2023%3A31H % TER FET
Current (not yet past due) BNHA (R HA) 1.13 27,240 308
1-90 days past due BHEI1 E 90K 1.80 30,534 549
91-180 days past due mHI91 2180 H 6.69 15,667 1,049
181-365 days past due #HI181 £ 365H 21.99 5,485 1,206
78,926 3,112

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TREAE IR RE#AE EERHE
At 31 March 2022 % HK$'000 HK$'000
1R202243 A 31 A % T T
Current (not yet past due) ENER (R ER) 0.51 63,769 325
1-90 days past due BHEI1 = 90K 0.96 14,812 142
91-180 days past due ®HI91 =180 H 6.00 2,627 157
181-365 days past due #HI181 £ 365H 9.10 2,852 260
1 year to 2 years 1226 37.33 172 64
84,232 948
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

At 31 March 2023, the Group recognised allowance
for ECL of HK$3,112,000 (2022: HK$948,000) on trade
receivables, based on collective assessment.
Allowance for ECL of HK$13,397,000 (2022:
HK$12,342,000) was made on credit-impaired trade
receivables.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables
under the simplified approach:

5. 2@ A
(b) HMERMRETEBEREE(®)

(ii)

FERRRBEGE (B

B Z BN E (B)

B EREIREEBAR
EHRFHNBEERMFE
WEMGEE XREFH LB
LA L ) BIA] 15 /O A BE
HERHELBE - ERETE
HimandE  ARRE B
EEBANEBENCER

M2023F3A31H A& H
RIBEEITHERE ZEIW
HERHEEBBERE
3,112,000/ JL(2022 4 :
948,000/87C) - B R E L=
BERENE S EWKBEED
TE AR (= B B 185 13,397,000
78 7T (2022 4F : 12,342,000
JT) °

TRIVRRIEB T AR E
SR FRERN 2 HES
EEEEZD)

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HEHEE ZHEH
B8 (L& EEFBE
FERE) (BEERE) FLE-C)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
At 1 April 2021 MW2021F 4818 1,960 1,255 3,215
Transfer to credit-impaired EREZERE (126) 126 -
Allowance for ECL recognised ERRESREE
EREE 477 10,961 11,438
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR (1,420) - (1,420)
Exchange alignment V& 5 8 57 - 57
At 31 March 2022 and 20223 HA31A K
1 April 2022 20224 R1H 948 12,342 13,290
Transfer to credit-impaired EEREEERE (273) 273 -
Allowance for ECL recognised EHERBHEE
B R 2,437 782 3,219
At 31 March 2023 72023563 H831H 3,112 13,397 16,509
Fe¥(ER)EBMBRAR / —T_=FFRK 167
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O}

168

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments for a period
greater than agreed contract terms.

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables are presented
within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously impaired are credited against the
same line item.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The management monitored the financial background
and creditability of those debtors on an ongoing
basis. The Group seeks to minimise its risk by dealing
with counterparties which have good credit history.
Majority of the trade receivables that are not yet past
due have no default payment history. In this regard,
the directors consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Deposits

For deposits, the Group makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of deposits based
on historical information about the counterparties and
supportive forward-looking information. The Group
believes that there is no significant increase in credit
risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. At 31
March 2023, an accumulated allowance for ECL on
deposits amounted to HK$17,000 was recognised
(2022: HK$16,000), with ECL rate of 1.7% (2022: 2.0%).

Other receivables

For other receivables, the Group makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical information about the
counterparties and supportive forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there is no
significant increase in credit risk for other receivables
with gross carrying amount of HK$4,536,000 (2022:
HK$10,247,000) since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL. Other
receivables with gross carrying amount of
HK$3,650,000 (2022: HK$3,650,000) is credit-impaired
and the Group provided impairment based on
lifetime ECL. At 31 March 2023, an accumulated
allowance for ECL on other receivables amounted to
HK$3,743,000 was recognised (2022: HK$3,820,000),
with ECL rate of 45.7% (2022: 27.5%).

5. 2@ A
HREREERERBE(E)

(b)

(i)

Fek (IR EMARAT / T =558
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HiZems  AEEIRES
BHFABEERETE
MRTIEEE R T HEIZSH
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mEBERN  BAEEIRE
128 AIE 8 s B BB
B R2023F3A318 B
HREE AN TEHEEREE
B 1£517,0008 JT(20224F ¢
16,0007 7C) - FEEIEEEE
RE1.7% (20224 : 2.0%) °

H 1 fENFE

HEMERZFENS A%
EREEEEFINBEE
b B 37 1M AT A R A
fib FE U FIE A AT R B R B 3
TEHRERFG -  AEER
B BYIATERAR - BRE
# {8 /44,536,000 T (2022
4 110,247,000 7T ) Y E A

& U 3R TE 9 15 & L i I 48 R
=8m. H$$I$ETF121I

RIEBEERBTIRBER
& - BRE 48 {8 /A 3,650,000 7%
7T (2022 4F : 3,650,000 7T )
By E Ath EWGRIE HIRE B R
B AEEREZHESHE
EB1BRRAEE - KR 2023F
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SIEM R EEEBEE
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(ii)

170

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss

5. @I A

(b)

(i)

BRRREERERBEE)

FERRERBERNG (B

H ot fEH AR (1)
TRIRE BLE A U FRIA

allowances that has been recognised for other TER A S 18 B T BR
receivables:
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E—MR EoRER B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERT TET TERT
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4H1H 250 - 3,650 3,900
Allowance for ECL reversed BHEEHER
R (56) - - (56)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKH B AT (24) - - (24)
At 31 March 2022 and R202263H31H R
1 April 2022 2022F 418 170 - 3,650 3,820
Allowance for ECL reversed EHEEEHER
s {C (77) - - (77)
At 31 March 2023 M2023F3A31H 93 - 3,650 3,743

Amount due from an associate

The Group regularly monitors the business
performance of the associate. The Group's credit risks
in this balance is mitigated through the value of the
assets held by the associate and the power to
participate the relevant activities of the associate. The
management believes that there is no significant
increase in credit risk of this amount since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL. For the year ended 31 March
2023, the Group recognised ECL by assessing the
credit risk characteristics of amount due from an
associate and the prevailing economic conditions. At
31 March 2023, an accumulated allowance for ECL of
HK$222,000 (2022: HK$234,000) was recognised, with
ECL rate of 1.80% (2022: 1.76%).
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O}

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Pledged bank deposit/bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits and bank
balances are limited because the counterparties are
reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for
pledged bank deposits and bank balances by
reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit
rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m
ECL on pledged bank deposits and bank balances are
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance were recognised.

Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to minimal liquidity risk as a
substantial portion of its financial assets and financial
liabilities are due within one year and it can finance its
operations from existing shareholders’ funds and
internally generated cash flows.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of bank balances and
cash deemed adequate by management to finance
the Group's operations and mitigate the effect of
fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
current and expected liquidity requirements on a
regular basis.

5. 2@ A
HREREERERBE(E)

(b)

(i)

(iii)
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5.

172

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

5. @I A

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BBEMRSEEERBEE )
(Continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) RBELER(E)
The following tables detail the Group's remaining TR A EBEBRIEIT A
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial TREENaORNEBEN
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The TIREBEERPRE - T
tables have been drawn up based on the KokemaErnREIER
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities ERERBAEEGETE
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be NROEFEHRR - A5
required to pay. Specifically, bank and other msE @ WHEIZERERKR
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are RIRIT R EMERT AT
included in the earliest time band regardless of the RFRIER - A amiB1TiRIEMT
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their B H AR H AT a1t - H A IE
rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative TESRBEENIIHB LR
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment EiHpEERAE-
dates.
The tables include both interest and principal cash TEREBEINBEEAESIRER
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating E-WAMERERZEHF
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from X BIRBLIR S FEIZIRE B
interest rate at the end of the reporting period. REIFZEE o
More than ~ More than
Weighted ~ Ondemand one year but two years but Total
average or within less than lessthan ~ More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years five years five years cash flow amount
i EER BR-F BAMEF FERRES
FiF= g-Fh  EORRE EBOREF BBLE REEE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TER TERT TER THRT TER THR
At 31 March 2023 R2023%3A31H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ $f44REE
Trade payables EUT RN - 30,818 - - - 30,818 30,818
Accruals, other payables and B ER - EHENTER
deposits received Blize - 5,769 - - - 5769 5,769
Bank and other borrowings RTREMER 53 45,589 - - - 45,589 45,589
82,176 - - - 82,176 82,176
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(Continued)

5. 2@ A

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BHEREEBEERBEE)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) FREBELEMRE(E)
More than More than
Weighted ~ Ondemand  oneyearbut  two years but Total
average or within less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years five years five years cash flow amount
il EEX Bh—F BRRE AERRE
TR I—ER EIRBME  BIRLE BRLE st REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TEL TAT TER TAT TEr TAT
At 31 March 2022 2022434318
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ $54 4 REE
Trade payables EUT RN - 36,622 - - - 36,622 36,622
Accruals, other payables and [EHER - ERAFER
deposits received Bl - 4616 - - - 4616 4616
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 98 43,089 - - - 43,089 43,089
Bonds payable EfiE% 100 880 - - - 880 800
Lease liabilities HEAR 34 169 - - - 169 168
85,376 - - - 85,376 85,295
Feb (ER)EEBARAR / —E_=ZFFRH 173
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5.

174

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(iii)

5. @I A

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MEEREEBEEZEREE(E)
Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) RBESEM(E)
Bank and other borrowings with a repayment on B A5 4% B SR E B IE R IRTT
demand clause are included in the “on demand or R EMEFE AN LR HS
less than 1 month” time band in the above maturity e [EESksy DR — @A |
analysis. At 31 March 2023, the aggregate carrying FFER A o PA2023F3A31H -
amounts of these bank and other borrowings ZERTNEMEREART
amounted to HK$45,589,000 (2022: HK$43,089,000). & 545,589,000/ 7T (2022
Taking into account the Group's financial position, the F 1 43,089,000/ C) ° E &
directors do not believe that it is probable that the RIAREBFERR  EFR
banks/counterparties will exercise their discretionary BR1T/HF ARG TS
rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors TEERBEEZRKAEE
of the Company believe that such bank and other Ko ARFEZRR %5
borrowings will be repaid within ten years (2022: four IRITREAMERERREH
years) after the end of the reporting period in RE+TF(2022F : IF) A
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set RRER TN TATEE
out in the borrowings agreements, details of which MAHERE  FEHNTE
are set out in the table below:
Maturity analysis — Bank and other borrowings with a BT — HR ZESKAEE I
repayment on demand clause based on scheduled FEERTT R E MG (R GE
repayments AatE])
More than More than
one year but  two years but Total
Within less than less than  More than  undiscounted Carrying
one year two years five years  five years cash flow amount
BB-F BBmE KR
- BORmE BIREE  BBEE RENELE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TEL TAT THL TAL TAT
At 31 March 2023 12023E3A31R 20,813 12,015 11,773 5,322 49,923 45,589
At 31 March 2022 R202%3H31H 38,304 2,770 4,849 - 45923 43,089
Interest rate benchmark reform (iv) RIREERE

(iv)

Several of the Group’s HIBOR bank borrowings may
be subject to the interest rate benchmark reform. The
Group is closely monitoring the market and managing
the transition to new benchmark interest rates,
including announcements made by the relevant IBOR
regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to
HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The
multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong,
whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

(i)  The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded in
active markets are determined with reference to
quoted market bid prices and ask prices respectively,
and

(i) The fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models (e.g. discounted cash flow
analysis using observable and/or unobservable
inputs).

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining
and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

(i) Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

(i) Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liabilities,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices).

(i) Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

Fair value of the Group's financial assets are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis.

5. 2@ A
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 5. SRIAEw®
(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (0 £RMIBENATEHE(E)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial T L L N AR A A
Iiabf'lities that are measured at fair value on a recurring Eﬁﬁ}?ﬁé& SREEATE ()
basis (Continued)
Fair value at
RUATBENATLE
Valuation Significant
Fair value techniques unobservable
Financial assets 31 March 2023 31 March 2022 hierarchy and key inputs inputs
2023% 002 ETER FEATER
EHEE 3A31A 3A318 ATEER TERAER BB
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAR
Financial assets at FVTPL:
BRRTEFARGHEREE -
— Key management personnel life 5,297 5,945 Level2 Quoted redemption N/A
insurance policies F2R value by insurance ek
—FEEBABABRE company
IR 2 R EREY
BOEE
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of TRMEESIPATEAZHEER
financial assets.
Contingent
consideration
receivable
W AKRE
HK$'000
TET
At 1 April 2021 MR2021F4 A1 H 15,421
Derecognition (Note 23) O RERR (B 5E 23) (15,421)
At 31 March 2022 R2022F3 A31H -
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(¢) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a
recurring basis
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and
financial liabilities carried at amortised cost were not
materially different from their fair values at 31 March 2023
and 2022.
(d) Capital risk management (d)

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged during the reporting period.

The capital structure of the Group consists of total
borrowings and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising share capital, reserves and retained
profits as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital, and balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends
and injection of capital.

5. 2@ A

EMTRENQIPEFEGE

HEEEMEEL L FETEHE
EETHEERTHMAEALFE

AEBEMEER SR A EREHE
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EXmEmERE

AEBEEEEEN - LHERERER
Frgge RS ERE(ER kg
SAERAEREREAE R - A&
EHNERBRENRENRHERTT

IR A ISR - AEHE
MERRBEBEREERRANRRE
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SEEEREANRAREZERE
AEBROER - WFEBIRMRE R
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The following is the gearing ratio at the end of each UWTASREHRNEEARGLL
reporting period: =
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHBT
Total borrowings (Note (a)) AUEF (M5 @) 45,589 44,057
Total equity (Note (b)) ERERS (BIEE (b)) 101,254 95,370
Gearing ratio BEABHLE 45.0% 46.2%
Notes: ffEE -

(a)

Total borrowings represent bank and other borrowings, bond
payable and lease liabilities as set out in Notes 33, 34 and 35; and

(b)

Total equity includes share capital and reserves at the end of each
reporting period.

Fek (IR EMARAT / T =558
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6.

178

REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

6.

Wz
REFEFENNWED IF

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Continuing operations BEREXEK
Type of goods BmmER
Sale of diesel oil and related products: HE LS H MAEEE .
Diesel oil L5 420,041 351,095
Marine diesel oil e B 4e 8,553 3,997
Lubricant oil B 1,346 2,379
Total et 429,940 357,471
Timing of revenue recognition Wy 2 T R Y R
A point in time R E 429,940 357,471

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Details of performance obligations for contracts with customers
are set out in Note 3.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

All revenue from sale of diesel oil and related products are for
the periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15,
the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The information reported to the directors, who are the chief
operating decision-makers, for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of performance does not contain discrete
operating segment financial information and the directors
reviewed the financial results of the Group as a whole since the
operating segment of sale of steel products was discontinued
during the year ended 31 March 2022 upon disposal of /T FEFTE
7 B B B A 7] Jiangxi Xinji Power Technology Company
Limited*) (“Jiangxi Xinji"). Accordingly, only entity-wide
disclosures, major customers and geographic information are
presented.

* for identification purpose only

Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and the PRC
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. The Group's
revenue from continuing operations from external customers
based on the location of customers are detailed below:

BAORBEREFARAMMES (BIXE
BERRE) ERNENLBHABELN
REDHHTEER  BERHBEREE
ERAKEMNMEESE  RESNHE
TEFEG AR QAT AR
RDRWERIFELZDHNEE 2022
FIANBUEFEDRIEEE - At
E2NEBHERE  FTERF ME
Bkt e

* EHAF

Hh 3B &

HE2023FR2022F3A31BILFE -
REENEBURNEBERPE - KEH
REFPHREWE HRAINEE P FEE
KRB FIBOT ¢

Revenue from
external customers

REMBEF S
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx THET
Hong Kong HE 429,940 357,471

Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented
based on the geographical location of the assets are detailed

AEBREEMEMEED 2 EIER
BEEMHBENFRNT :

below:
Non-current assets
FREBEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Hong Kong &5 32,592 25,696
The PRC A [ 17,819 17,922
50,411 43,618

Non-current assets excluded financial assets at FVTPL and
deferred tax assets.

FNBEETBREEATEFAERY
PRIEENMRERIBEAE

Fek (IR EMARAT / T =558 179



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of both years contributing over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group from continuing and discontinued
operations are as follows:

DEER (&)

EEIEEFHNESR
REZMEFE  TFPAERMEAERERA
SEREEBR ORI EEB RS
B8 10% My e an T

2023 2022

2023 F 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET T

Customer A’ BEEA N/A F3E F 2 55,848

Customer B’ ZFE B! 95,733 41,336
Notes: Pt ot -

Revenue from sale of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong.

2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue

of the Group.

! REBIHESh R AARIE MU -

2 MR RE Yz P 5 R SR AU ER 10% A L

8. OTHER INCOME 8. HltA
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FET
Continuing operations BEREXK

Bank interest income RITHBUTA 11 15
Transportation services fee B RIS E 3,504 3,467
Rental income from diesel vehicle RESREMES KA 2,776 2,968
Rental income from investment property R B EWENTE S U A 556 46
Interest rebate F) 2. [0 B _ 297
Government grants (Note) R R B (B &E) 562 76
Sundry income HMIERA 246 85
7,655 6,954

Note: BiRE -

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised government grants of
HK$529,000 in respect of Covid-19 related subsidy which is related to the
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund provided by the Hong
Kong government.

There were no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to these
government grants.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

9. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES

9. HttmsiEiE

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT THBT
Continuing operations BEREXK
Unrealised (loss)/gain on financial assets at & A EFF ABZH©REE
FVTPL B3 (EB1R), W (648) 167
Loss arising on change in fair value of WEYEN T ESEEANEE
investment property (600) (1,907)
Gain on disposal of property, HEDE - HERKZENRE
plant and equipment 350 -
Gain on extinguishment of 1838 B At fE SR s (BT RE 33)
other borrowing (Note 33) 3,718 -
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate R {EHE — B2 Ak E - 81
Exchange (loss)/gain bE X (E18), e (986) 1,437
1,834 (222)
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BERA
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T
Continuing operations BEREEK
Interest expenses on bank borrowings IRITIE RN B R 617 112
Interest expenses on other borrowings Ha BRI B 2,198 4115
Interest expenses on bonds EHHF S - 192
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBENMEMX 1 18
2,816 4,437
Feb (ER)EEBARAR / —E_=ZFFRH 181
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

11. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 11. R ATEE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Continuing operations BEREXK
Loss before taxation has been MBI EET R
arrived at after charging/(crediting): (GtA) F5I&mE :
Directors’ emoluments (Note 14) FEEM(FFE14) 3,404 2,975
Other staff costs: Hh 8 TR
— Salaries and other benefits — e MEMmEA 6,419 6,163
— Retirement benefits scheme — RIREFIGT8IH5K
contributions 262 262
6,681 6,425
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 85 B 5 B
— Audit services — ZEPRTE 650 700
— Non-audit services — IEZRERTE 94 20
744 720
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKA 400,627 335,848
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BB R EITE (FiE18)
equipment (Note 18)
— Cost of sales — HEKAR 2,084 935
— Administrative expenses — ITHRX 208 205
2,292 1,140
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EAEEENE (MIFE19)
(Note 19) 64 382
Allowance for ECL on financial assets, SREEBHEERIBEE
net FER
— Trade receivables — E G EWFE 3,219 11,443
— Deposits and other receivables — &E RHEMEKIE (77) (42)
— Amount due from an associate — Uk — B2 N B 508 (12) 234
3,130 11,635
Expenses relating to short-term leases HRHRHEERENMAX 961 12,641
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES/(CREDIT)

12. FIBHAX(ER)

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHERT THBT
Continuing operations BEREXK

Over provision in prior years: RBEFEEERE
Hong Kong Profits Tax FEENEHR = (1,259
Deferred tax (Note 36) IEFERE (FI5E36) 929 169
929 (1,090)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the
year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 as the Group has no
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong or taxable profits were
wholly absorbed by estimated tax losses brought forward.

RIR BB TS AR AR & F 15 5 5
E aERSEEENE2EEETE
BRI 8.25% TR R - 2 F
BB ER RS M 512 16.5% &)
BEREP - EEFEHIEMEFEGE
JERTBFE 165%5TE

HRASEMENEBELERVEN
Kz RPN B 2B AKR AR
HEE - B E R EE 2023 F K2 2022 F
12ANBLFEZEENEHIELER -
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES/(CREDIT) (Continued)

184

The income tax expenses/(credit) for the year can be reconciled

to the loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of

12. FrBHiBEY (BR) @)

FAMREHASY(ER) BEaEE R
H 2 [ M R 2R P 51 B BR A A 18 AT

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: BRaT -
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Continuing operations FEREXEE
Loss before taxation BRBAIEE (3,908) (40,347)
Tax at domestic income tax rates HEHATSI R ENTE A (645) (6,657)
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERRBWANT B2
tax purpose (87) (296)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for  A]F1FR B ST T 5 52 £
tax purpose 607 3,018
Tax effect of share of results of DEEE AR EENT B E
an associate (201) 116
Tax effect of deductible temporary REERA TR G =50
differences not recognised Mg 561 66
Utilisation of deductible temporary A BAFEWEERE
differences previously not recognised AIFOFR TR = A (14) (32)
Tax effect of the tax losses not recognised 7 AT 1A &5 18 A R 75 57 2 708 3,954
Over-provision in prior years BT FE B R = (1,259)
Income tax expenses/(credit) for the year FRFTERIFS (%) 929 (1,090)
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(i)

Sale of steel products operation

On 7 February 2021, Eastern Champion Development
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an equity transfer agreement with a
connected person of the Company at subsidiary level under
the Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Investor”),
pursuant to which the Investor will make capital injection of
RMB20,000,000 to obtain 22.96% equity interest in a
subsidiary of the Company, Jiangxi Xinji, which carried out
all of the Group’s sale of steel products operation. Upon
the completion of the deemed disposal on 15 April 2021,
the Group retained 32.04% equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji
and lost its control over Jiangxi Xinji. As a result, Jiangxi
Xinji ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group and is
accounted for as an associate using equity method of
accounting in the Group's consolidated financial statements
since then.

The profit for the period from the discontinued sale of steel
products operation is set out below.

13. ERLERERK

(i)

HEMEEEL
R2021F2A78  ARAIEE:
EMBARERERABRARE
GEM EMRBIFE20FE TAR A
WEARERM —ZEEALT (R
BE DT s R E - B
& E T E ARE 20,000,000 70
DEEBARARINBARIANE
22.96% 5 HE - TP EEITALE
2 EB 8 EE an 8H S T o 722021
FA4ANSHBIELEFBETKE -
AEBRBENTAFERN32.04%
S iE - A 2k A H ¥ T PR T E A5
e A ITAFETBALAER
RHBAR) - WELEABE QT
RAEBMEE BB IRE P (FEH®
HEFHEAER ©

KB B LB EE an 35 B RS 0 H
PUEME R T X -

Period from

1 April 2021 to
15 April 2021
$1 2021 £F
4H1BZE
2021 %
4H15H
1EHAR
HK$'000
FAT

Loss of sale of steel products operation HA 8 2 fh 5 & KR E B

for the period
Gain on deemed disposal of

a subsidiary (Note 38) (BF5E38)

BIEHE —RMHNEB AR KRS

(78)

1,652

1,574
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

(i) Sale of steel products operation (Continued)

The results of the sale of steel products operation for the
period from 1 April 2021 to 15 April 2021, which have been
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, were as follows:

13.

CRIEREEK &)

() MEMBEER(E)

FFAGRABEREMEEARERA
R 8 2= SR 8H E E R B 2021F 4 B 1
HZ2021548158 |- B &9
EHIAT

Period from

1 April 2021 to
15 April 2021
2021
4RA1HZE
2021 4F
4H15H
1EHAR
HK$'000
FAT

Revenue g 25

Cost of sales SHE KA

(14)

Gross profit EA
Administrative expenses THAX

28
(106)

Loss for the period BN ET1E

(78)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

(i) Sale of steel products operation (Continued)

Loss for the period from discontinued sale of steel products

operation has been arrived at after charging:

13.

CRIEREEK &)

() MEMBEER(E)

BRI EHENE mEBNHR
R T AEHRR A T 5IR

Period from
1 April 2021 to

15 April 2021

£ 2021

4H1BZE

2021 F

4H15H

1EHAR

HK$'000

FATT

Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKRAR 1

Staff cost: BT :

— Salaries and other benefits —He MEMbER 114
— Retirement benefits schemes — RIREFET 85k

contributions -

114

Cashflows of the discontinued sale of steel products

BRI HEHEREHN IR

operation for the period were as follows: WIREmENT
Net cash inflow from operating activities #£& E&)IR &M A FFE 766
Net cash inflow WEMAFEE 766

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of Jiangxi
Xinji at the date of deemed disposal are disclosed in Note
38.

IAFEEENBERGELEE
AR EREERMIFE38 N EE o
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

188

(ii)

Sale and distribution of lubricant oil and related
products operation in the PRC

On 31 March 2022, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement to dispose of its entire equity interest
in Meijia Shell at cash consideration of HK$%,000,000 which
will be settled in six instalments over six months. The PRC
subsidiaries of Meijia Shell carried out all of the Group’s
sale and distribution of lubricant oil and related products
operation in the PRC, which was a separate major line of
business included in the sale and transportation of diesel
oil and related products operation and reportable segment
of the Group in the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2021. The disposal was completed
on 31 March 2022, on which date control of Meijia Shell
passed to the purchaser.

The profit for the year from the discontinued sale and
distribution of lubricant oil and related products operation
in the PRC is set out below.

13. R LEREEK &)

(i)

RABEHEER S HBEEBRME
BEmMER
MR2022%3A318H » AR AIEZ
BEHRUREERERZHNET
B #E - IR & X {8 9,000,000 JT #5
RANERRD NEEER - R
FRENEARNEAEENF HH
ERDEEERRAREERMNE
X% mEBAHERERSHAK
HEEMERREN—BELEE
EBUARAEBEZE 2021F3 A 31
AIEFEFAMBRER AN (@[
WEDE - MEFHEN2022F3 A
31 BT - MEFHAIZEH R Z
AEBEEEH -

BERIENRPBIHEE ko #HEE
REBEREBOFEREMEN T
7o

Year ended
31 March
2022

HE

2022 F
3H31H
IEFE
HK$'000
T4

Loss of sale and distribution of
lubricant oil and related products
operation in the PRC for the year

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

(Note 38) (K43 38)

R BISHE K 0 3HE 78 H &
MHREMmEENFANEIE

HE—RNB AR W

(1,296)

7,092

5,796
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 13.

(ii) Sale and distribution of lubricant oil and related
products operation in the PRC (Continued)

The results of the sale and distribution of lubricant oil and
related products operation in the PRC for the year, which

CRIEREEK &)
iy APEHERS BB HRE
BAE MK (E)

SPAGRERRE AR Em PR ERA
TR BISHE Mooy 5B B h AR E

have been included in the consolidated statement of profit DERERNZEEDT
or loss and other comprehensive income, were as follows:
Year ended
31 March
2022
HE
2022 4F
3A31H
1EFE
HK$'000
T
Revenue Uz 14,476
Cost of sales FHERA (14,029)
Gross profit ES | 447
Administrative expenses THAX (1,474)
Allowance for ECL on trade and g5 NEMEWFIETERER
other receivables, net EiERE - FR S
Loss before taxation BB A IS 18 (1,022)
Income tax expense gt (274)
Loss for the year FAEE (1,296)
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

13.

190

(ii)

Sale and distribution of lubricant oil and related
products operation in the PRC (Continued)

Profit for the year from discontinued sale and distribution of
lubricant oil and related products operation in the PRC has

CRIEREEK &)

iy APEHERS BB HRE
BAE R (&)
B IEE SRR B E R D 888
Seh 2 FE RS R 25 0 4F PR R T A

been arrived at after charging: HERA TN &I8 -
Year ended
31 March
2022
H=
2022 £
3A31H
HFE
HK$'000
TFETT
Cost of inventories sold BEFERA 11,230
Staff cost: BT :
— Salaries and other benefits — #He MEMEF 908
— Retirement benefits schemes — R FIET 85k
contributions 154
1,062

Cashflows of the discontinued sale and distribution of
lubricant oil and related products operation in the PRC for
the year were as follows:

BRI ERTRREE RS HEE
MR IEEEREBRNEANNIR SR
M

Year ended
31 March
2022

HE
2022 F
3H31H
IEFE
HK$'000
FHET

Net cash outflow from operating RESEENIR & R R

activities

Net cash inflow from financing activities & EE)IR &R AF5E

(569)
1,355

Net cash inflow BERAFRE

786

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of Meijia
Shell Group at the date of disposal are disclosed in Note
38.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

14. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2023

14. EEHE
HBZE2023F3HA31MBLEE

Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors' and other Discretionary scheme
fees benefits bonuses contributions Total
ek RIKEF
EEHe Hith @7l B FTEIfER @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
Executive directors BITER
Mr. Fong Chun Man FEXEE - 726 180 18 924
Ms. Lo Pui Yee ShEzL - 726 180 18 924
Mr. Chan Chi Fai, chief executive officer ~ BiE#EEL
(fTHEH) - 944 234 18 1,196
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHITES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert EECELE 120 = = = 120
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap BB 120 - - - 120
Mr. Wang Anyuan FRnisE 120 - - - 120
360 2,396 594 54 3,404
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE2022F3 A31BIEFE
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors' and other  Discretionary scheme
fees benefits bonuses  contributions Total
HE R RIRAEH
Yok HibfaF WiETEa FTEIEH @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT THT THT THT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Fong Chun Man A EE - 720 - 18 738
Ms. Lo Pui Yee SiEzL - 720 180 18 918
Mr. Chan Chi Fai, chief executive officer BEELE
(fTB#EH) - 858 213 18 1,089
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert EECE4 120 - - - 120
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap iy iRVt 80 - - - 80
Mr. Wang Anyuan FRTAE 30 - - - 30
230 2,298 393 54 2,975
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14.

15.

192

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The executive directors’ and the chief executive officer’s
emoluments shown above were mainly for their service in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as directors.

The executive directors and the chief executive officer of the
Company are entitled to bonus payments which are determined
based on their duties and responsibilities in the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there was no arrangement
under which a director or the chief executive officer of the
Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap and
Mr. Wang Anyuan agreed to waive their emoluments amounting
to HK$40,000 and HK$90,000 respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, no emoluments have been
paid by the Group to any of the directors or the chief executive
officer as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office (2022: Nil).

EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals included three (2022: three)
executive directors of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2023, details of whose emoluments are set out above in Note 14.
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining
two (2022: two) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

14

15.

. EEEFM e

A EPIRITE 5 AT BB A B 3 BN =
BESBRFREEARARASEER
BRARVBRF

EXFARELGFRAITEENHFMEER
MEEREFRERGOFMN -

RRABRATEZRITREREEZAIL
A DRBRENASEZBHELET
BT -

BE2023F3A3MHILEFE  TEAR
AIEFYITHARME LR ERETMA
&z 224k -

HE2022F3A31BIEFE » BB E
H R ERZTRAED DRI B MER SN
40,0007 7T % 90,000 78 T ©

HE2023F3A3MBILFE - AEEM
EBYNEENENTFEANESRITHRE
o AEBMASIRINAKREE %1 EE
SEABERE (20224 « ) -

BEHFMESREZASHMH

HE2023F3A31BIFE  BE4&S
FALTBEEARARAZZQ02F : =
ZIRITES - BRAFMFFBE N LM
H14- B TMEQ022F : MA) &5
BES (EAAFBEXRTEITHAE)
RFasEnT

2023 2022

2023 £ 2022 4

HK$’'000 HK$'000

TFET FET

Salaries and other benefits e kHEMmER 1,388 1,172
Retirement benefits scheme contributions iR K1E 51 2|4 5% 36 36
1,424 1,208
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

15. EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows:

15.

BEFMRSREEANSHHN

(%)

HEFEMENATEEANFFEERSH
HEE AT

Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AB A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,000 7T 2 2
The number of the senior management (excluding directors) HEMWERUTHEANSREREAR
whose emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows: (TBEES) ABROT
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 T 1 1

None of the above highest-paid individuals waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the year ended 31 March 2023
(2022: Nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, no emoluments have been
paid by the Group to any of the above highest-paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office (2022: Nil).

16. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

16.

BE &S EENEE2023F3 A
31 B 1 R RE 3R B OREE (IR B
(2022 : f&) -

HE2023F3A3MBILFE - AEE W
ETNERNHFMNTF IR LTS EH R
8 EAIASRINARE B % H 25
EABEREE (20224 « &) °

Hﬁ /%\

HE2023F3A831BItFE  EFT T
BRREMRE (2022F : &) o
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17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. BREE
From continuing operations REFERSEEL
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share from RABEEANEREAFELEEBLDN
continuing operations attributable to owners of the Company is FREREEEER IR TE8EH

based on the following data:

2023 2022
2023 4 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Loss F=]
Loss for the year attributable to MEATEERELRR
owners of the Company for the BEEEmS -
purposes of basic and diluted loss RARHEEA
per share FEMRFANEE (4,837) (39.257)
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
‘000 ‘000
TR FA%
(Restated)
(re=3%1))
Number of shares RHBE
Weighted average number of ordinary M ETRELRR
shares for the purposes of basic and EaEiEms
diluted loss per share SRR A INAE 122,053 99,134
The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose HAEFENERREEIEENS &
of basic and diluted loss per share for both years have been B INFE T EE BN 20225 6 429
adjusted for the share consolidation effective on 29 June 2022 H A MBI G & 0F k202269 A 158
and the rights issue effective on 15 September 2022. AR CETTIAEE ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

17. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued) 17. BREE®

From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share from
continuing and discontinued operations attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

REFACEEBRRCRIEREX
%

AREEREANEBIEREFELEET R
ERIEREXBNERERNRETEIR
TR T BUERRT &

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Loss BiE
Loss for the year attributable to RATEEREAR
owners of the Company for the BEEEmS
purposes of basic and diluted KAFIHAA
loss per share IS FANERE (4,837) (31,217)

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for
both basic and diluted loss per share.

From discontinued operations

Basic and diluted earnings per share from the discontinued
operations for the year ended 31 March 2022 is HK8.11 cents per
share (restated), based on the profit for the year from the
discontinued operations attributable to owners of the Company
of HK$8,040,000 and the denominators detailed above for both
basic and diluted loss per share.

Diluted loss per share were same as the basic loss per share as
there were no potential dilutive ordinary share in existence during
the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

TR B E EXHRERERN R ERE
PretatE MR -

RECRIEREXK

HE202F3ANBILEFE  KREEHK
HREXBNEREANETRNAE
B8V ENM(EES]) - HERARBIE
BARERBE DR IEERBENF R
78,040,000 7T K b St B AR B A K
BEEMFRN D BRE -

RREE 2023 F 2202263 A31 BILEF
EHMEFEEEESE BN  NERE
BB RESREANERER -
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

196

18. % - MEKKRE

Leasehold Motor Office Construction
improvement  Oil barges vehicles  equipment in progress Total
BENFEE SmE M "E BARE ERIR &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TATL TAT
Cost A
At 1 April 2021 R21E4F18 662 8,500 9,944 7 15,353 34,531
Additions NE - - - 14 - 14
Disposal of subsidiaries LEHBAR
(Note 38) (P 38) - - (4 (39) (15425) (15,468)
Exchange alignment i - - - - 72 72
At 31 March 2022 and R02F3A318
1 April 2022 R202F4R1H 662 8,500 9,940 47 - 19,149
Additions NE - 9,500 352 - - 9,852
Disposal HE - - (1,130 - - (1,130
Transfer from right-of-use assets BB EFRELE - - 1,275 - - 1,275
At 31 March 2023 M2023%3A31A 662 18,000 10,437 47 - 29,146
Accumulated depreciation: ZiE:
At 1 April 2021 RN E4A18 662 2833 9,361 54 - 12910
Charge for the year ERT - 850 288 2 - 1,140
Eliminated upon disposal of HEMBR RS
subsidiaries (Note 38) (i3 38) - - 2 (21) - 23)
At 31 March 2022 and R02F3A318
1 April 2022 R202F4R1H 062 3,683 9,647 35 - 14,027
Charge for the year FRTH - 1,713 575 4 - 2292
Eliminated on disposal R ER - - (1,130) - - (1,130)
Transfer from right-of-use assets EYVEERRELE - - 765 - - 765
At31 March 2023 R2023%3731 R 662 5,396 9,857 39 - 1595
Carrying amount: REE:
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3A31H - 12,604 580 8 - 13,192
At 31 March 2022 R02F3A318 - 4817 293 12 - 5122

At 31 March 2023, the Group’s oil barges with carrying amounts
of HK$12,604,000 (2022: Nil) were pledged to secure the Group's

other borrowings.
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. ERAEEE
Motor
vehicle
RE
HK$'000
FHBT
Cost R
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, MR2021F4 318 ~2022F 38318 X
and 1 April 2022 2022F 4 A1 H 1,275
Transfer to property, plant and equipment B ZE % « E MR E (1,275)
At 31 March 2023 72023%3 8310 -
Accumulated depreciation ZitineE
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 A1 H 319
Charge for the year FRAXH 382
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 MR20229F3 A31 B X202 4318 701
Charge for the year FAXH 64
Transfer to property, plant and equipment EREW% - FE M &E (765)
At 31 March 2023 M"2023F3H31H -
Carrying amounts BRMEE
At 31 March 2023 #R2023F3H31H -
At 31 March 2022 M2022%3 H31H 574
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Expense relating to short-term leases FREHEENRY 961 12,641
Total cash outflow for leases MEMR SN HLHE 1,130 4,849
The Group has the option to purchase the right-of-use assets for REBRERERSIGEENAEEES
a nominal amount at the end of the lease terms. During the year FRBEEE - #Z2202343H31HIEF
ended 31 March 2023, the Group exercised the purchase option B AEBERHERERETFEREEE
of a motor vehicle upon the end of its lease term. Accordingly, EEE At REXREARZATESD
the cost and accumulated depreciation of the motor vehicle 511,275,000 7% 7T ] 765,000 7T 2 # %
amounting to HK$1,275,000 and HK$765,000 respectively were EYE - BEMERE -

transferred to property, plant and equipment.

Fek (IR EMARAT / T =558 197



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

20.

198

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

20. REYE

2023 2022
2023 20226
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET
Fair value AFE
At 1 April MaB1R 20,000 -
Addition NE - 21,907
Loss arising on change in fair value REGZERN DT EFSEEN
recognised in profit or loss B (600) (1,907)
At 31 March M3HA31H 19,400 20,000
Unrealised loss on change in fair value of &Y AT ESEEED
investment property REBEE (600) (1,907)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group acquired an
investment property located in Hong Kong by cash consideration
of HK$9,820,000 and allotment and issuance of 130,000,000 new
ordinary shares. The Group recognised the investment property
with reference to fair value of the investment property at
completion date of acquisition which was valued by an
independent qualified professional valuer, International Valuation
Limited (“IVL"). Acquisition cost of approximately HK$907,000
was capitalised in the acquired investment property.

The Group's investment property has been pledged to secure
the Group's borrowings.

Fair value measurement

The Group's investment property was measured at fair value at
31 March 2023 and 2022. The valuation was carried out by IVL
which has among its staff members with appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the locations and
categories of property being valued. The directors have
discussion with IVL on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation was performed at the end of each
reporting period.

In estimating the fair value of the investment property, the

highest and best use of the investment property is their current
use.

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

HE202F3831HILEE  REBK
BARBBNEEME  FRAAEEER
89,820,000/ 7T WA K B2 B K 2 17
130,000,000 Az 5 & i s - REBRLRE
B A EREEGEMBERTIEERA
A ([BEE]) RUEE 2 pk B BRI IR E
ERHENRATEEBERIZEMSE - K
FERKZN49907,000 78 7T B UK BB 1% & W 2
BB o

AEBENREMED FERT - ISR
EEMER

AFEFE

NEE IR E Y R 2023 F 1 2022 F 3
B31BRAFESE - HEEBETE
ToEFMEEABHEEEREME
PIEFTTEM B R IERI B HAE S - B F
EREREHRETHEREBRTTHR
HERIMHELR -

REREMEORTER  REME
MkmMRERAESERKAR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group's investment property
located in Hong Kong is categorised into Level 3 fair value
hierarchy. Valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurement are as follow:

20. BEWE @)

DN EFEE)
AEBURFBNREMEN R FER
EEDBREIRATESHR - A FE
AHERMARGERN RBAZRENT -

Valuation Relation of significant unobservable

techniques Significant unobservable input inputs to fair value
EXTABERARESR

fEER EXRUBRGABE DNYPENBE

Commercial property Combination of

located in Hong Kong income

Capitalisation rate, taking into account the
capitalisation of rental income potential,

Aslight increase in the capitalisation rate
used would result in a significant

MREBREENE capitalisation nature of the property, and prevailing decrease in fair value, and vice versa.
method and market condition, of 2.7% (2022: 2.7%). FIREARE MM R AL NBEH AT E
direct comparison FREAMEBEKAEN - MEHERER KETE - RZIMA -
method TR BAMCRA27% (20226 : 27%) °

BHBRABRILER
ERLEZE Monthly market rent, taking into account the A significant increase in the monthly
differences in location, and individual market rent used would result in a
factors such as location, floor level, significant increase in fair value, and
building age, size and conditions of the vice versa.
properties, at an average of HK$36 (2022:  Fi ARG AMEHE REENKEHA
HK$37) per square foot. TEREEM  R2ZIA
ZRIAMEBEZARSHE BE B X
NEOERAEEFIER - 8ATSHES
RO FHER36ET (20225 < 3778
%)
21. GOODWILL 21. HE
HK$'000
FHET

Cost and carrying amount AR BREE

At 1 April 2021 20214411 2,044

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 38) HENE QR (MFE38) (2,044)

At 31 March 2022 7202243 A31H -
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22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 22. RBE N RN ER

2023 2022

2023 F 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHERT THBT

Cost of investment in an associate & — R &R A MR AR 18,507 18,507

Share of post-acquisition loss and other DG UkEE & Ei8 R E b 2 &8

comprehensive loss (694) (591)
Exchange alignment PE X % 6 6
17,819 17,922
Details of the Group's associate at the end of the reporting AREBRNBEHROBLARFBLOT -

period are as follows:

Proportion of

ownership interest

Place of Principal place of and voting power
Name of entity incorporation business held by the Group Principal activities
AEERANRERERER
ERER 118 B AL 3t 2 TEEXHH R RRELLA TEEH
2023 2022
2023%F  2022F
Jiangxi Xinji (Note) The PRC The PRC 19.70% 19.70%  Manufacturing, sale and
T E (Kish) F H distribution of steel products
MEMBE - HERDH
Note: fsE -
As disclosed in Note 13, Eastern Champion Development Limited entered into an AN 13 AT IR BRERABR AR EKREER]

equity transfer agreement with the Investor, pursuant to which the Investor will make
capital injection of RMB20,000,000 to obtain 22.96% equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji.
Upon the completion of the deemed disposal on 15 April 2021, the Group retained
32.04% equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji and lost its control over Jiangxi Xinji. As a
result, Jiangxi Xinji ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group and is accounted for as
an associate using equity accounting in the Group's consolidated financial

statements since then.

On 18 October 2021, the Group and the three existing shareholders of Jiangxi Xinji
entered into capital contribution agreement with ¥T7R i SRR E Z R ESI G E
@& (BRE#) (Xinyu Steel Chain Technology Industry Innovation and Development
Guidance Fund (Limited Partnership)*) (“Xinyu Steel Chain”), pursuant to which
Xinyu Steel Chain agreed to contribute RMB30,000,000 to Jiangxi Xinji for capital
injection. Upon completion of the capital contribution by Xinyu Steel Chain, the
Group's equity interests in Jiangxi Xinji decreased from 32.04% to 19.70%. The
Group is still able to exercise significant influence over Jiangxi Xinji because it has
the power to appoint one out of the five directors of Jiangxi Xinji under the articles
of association of Jiangxi Xinji. The Group continues to use equity method to account
for its equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji. The Group recognised a gain on deemed
disposal of HK$81,000 in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2022 resulted from the capital
contribution.

*  for identification purpose only
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22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 22. NEBFE RN RIVER (8)

EXRBENTANYBENEE

BRAASEERE 2 RRNMEE R
REIT - TIHBERB R BRE
BEM B RE ERREY L XM B R

Summarised financial information of material associate

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
material associate is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the associate’

financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

RFIREHE °

Jiangxi Xinji AR
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Non-current assets EREEE 74,415 76,538
Current assets MBEE 52,973 53,066
Current liabilities mEAE (36,936) (38,627)
Non-current liabilities FErEEaE - -
Period from
15 April
Year ended 2021 to
31 March 31 March
2023 2022
£ 2021 F
BZE 48158%
2023 F 2022 £
3A31H 3HA31H
IEFE 1FHARA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Revenue for the year/period FHAK e 318,972 459,532
Profit/(loss) for the year/period FEHRRHEM,(E1E) 6,176 (3,930
Other comprehensive (loss)/income £ RNEMRE
for the year/period (E18), Wz (6,701) 1,486
Total comprehensive loss F /RN EEBARE
for the year/period (525) (2,444)

Fek (IR EMARAT / T =558 201



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 22. REBE N RINER (9
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to T ER BB HEG S ERERPE
the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in RORBEERAINERNREE 2B
the consolidated financial statements: AR

2023 2022

2023 £ 2022 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FAT

Net assets of Jiangxi Xinji TPOMEREEE 90,452 90,977
Proportion of the Group's ownership AREBRIAFHERN

interest in Jiangxi Xinji Fr 7 #E Rz L 51 19.7% 19.7%

The Group's share of net assets of AREB DM IATNER

Jiangxi Xinji FEE 17,819 17,922
Carrying amount of the Group's Zliilﬁ/\}lﬁ%ﬁﬂ"]

interest in Jiangxi Xinji DR EREE 17,819 17,922

23. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLE 23. EINSHARE

Contingent consideration receivable represents the profit RS AR ERREFLERRER
guarantee given by Mr. Zhu Yixiang and Mr. Li Weinian A (FerE faﬁﬁﬁ‘fﬂﬂlﬁ%%mﬁﬁiﬁlﬁ$
(collectively, the “Vendors”) to the Group in relation to the EEREAREFRE - BURSKARED
acquisition of Meijia Shell Group. Contingent consideration R P ERBIEEREATEFAER
receivable has been designated as financial assets at FVTPL upon WEMEE  WRBEARKQIFES
initial recognition and is measured at fair value at the end of the E - B AREBHRAFEZSHNT

reporting period. The movement of the fair value of contingent
consideration receivable is as follow:

Details of the profit guarantees are as follows: BAMRBEBLT -

Meijia Shell

Profit guarantees Group
it AR EEREE
HK$'000

TET

At 1 April 2021 R2021%F4 318 15,421
Loss on derecognition R IETERE A (15,421)
At 31 March 2022 M202243 H31H -
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23.

24.

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLE

(Continued)

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA”) in
relation to the acquisition of Meijia Shell Group, the Vendors
have given a guarantee to the Group that the audited
consolidated net profit after tax of Meijia Shell Group for the
three financial years ending 31 March 2021, 31 March 2022 and
31 March 2023 (each of the “Guaranteed Period”) would be no
less than RMB5,000,000, RMB10,000,000 and RMB10,000,000 (the
“"Guaranteed Sum”) for each of the Guaranteed Period (the
"Profit Guarantee”). For further details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 31 March 2022 and 8
April 2022.

Upon completion of disposal of Meijia Shell Group during the
year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered into agreement
with the Vendors to release and discharge their obligations and
liabilities under the Profit Guarantee, which the Board considers
was fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
as a whole. Accordingly, the Group recognised a loss on
derecognition of contingent consideration receivable of
approximately HK$15,421,000 to profit or loss during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

23. B ARE @)

BRIEEBHREZEREENEEH &
([EEHzE]) EAERASERHR
HEREREBRHE2021F3A318
20223 A31 H k20233 A31HIE=
EFBEE (SR REH]) HETEZER
EBRBEBAEFBTLORSREBRNAR
#5,000,0007 + A K % 10,000,000 7T &
AR 10,000,000t ([fRES2EE]) (&
FRFE]D - BEHE—FFE B2HAK
AN A HEA2022% 3 A31 H &20224F4
A8HMRE -

REZE2022F3A3BIEFExKEE
EEREEE AEBRESEHFFTLH
# OUYHBBESERNEFIRETHEAR
B EBIRAUMEATAERT
AREMEEALE - Bt - ZEBERE
E202F3ANALEFEMNERTER
BRI S AR E B 1B 4Y 15,421,000
BT o

24. BAVEFAEENERHEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT

Key management personnel life insurance FEBEIEEA B AFRE
policy 5,297 5,945

Analysed for reporting purposes as: MEREWDITA :

Non-current JERB 5,297 5,945
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24.

25.

204

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The Group entered into life insurance policies with insurance
companies to insure against the death and permanent disability
of executive director. Under the policy, the beneficiary and policy
holder are the Company, Great Wall (International) Qil Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and the total insured
sum is approximately US$3,150,000 (2022: US$3,150,000)
(equivalent to HK$24,570,000 (2022: HK$24,570,000)). The
contracts will be terminated on the occurrence of the earliest of
the death of the key management personnel insured or other
terms pursuant to the contracts. The total insurance premium
paid at the inception of the policy was approximately US$768,000
(2022: US$768,000) (equivalent to approximately HK$5,990,000
(2022: HK$5,990,000)). The total initial premium charge paid was
approximately US$38,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$309,000). The Group may request a surrender of the contracts
at any time and receive cash back based on the cash value at the
date of withdrawal, which is determined by the gross premium
paid at inception plus accumulated guaranteed interest earned
and minus insurance premium charged. A guaranteed interest
rate for the first five years ranges from 4.10% to 4.25% per annum
applied to the contracts, followed by the a minimum guaranteed
interest rate of 2% per annum for the following years until
termination. The fair value is based on redemption value quoted
by the insurance companies.

24. ERAFEFABEENSHEE

(%)

AEBRRBABIRE—MHASRE
MATEE TR R AKAEELR - BIE
RE  ZmARREFBEABERRAT R
AR Z2EWNBRAREN(BEE) A
BRAG - B IREE 4 53,150,000
70 (20224 : 3,150,000% 7t ) (B & »
24,570,000 7T (20224 : 24,570,000 7
TL)) c BHEBRZRHNFEEEEAS
FiNE s IR IR A S B M IR FGR E T T A
BIEAREBREEARE) - RRER
REFE AR B AERE 4 5 768,000
7T (20224 : 768,000 7T ) (10 & R 4
5,990,000 7T (20224 : 5,990,000 &
T  ENMUBRREERETEN A
38,0003 7T (#8& 7 47 309,0008 L) ° A&
EEABERERERR - WRERKRAEH
ReEENEES  BHEBERERS
B E X TRREEENS BRI RETR
BFBRANBRREETE - BARED
MERFREFMEN T410EZE425
B ERFREAAKEREFMNR2E
BEERIEAIE - RFERRBR AR TR
ERIEEE -

INVENTORIES 25. Z&
2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 4
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Finished goods 2URK T 403 820

All inventories were stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.
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26. TRADE RECEIVABLES

26. B 5 BWRKIE

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Trade receivables E 5 NGB 92,323 96,574
Less: allowance for ECL, net o BRI EE S EREFE (16,509) (13,290)
75,814 83,284
(a) Ageing analysis (a) BRERDAT

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables

presented based on the invoice date at the end of the

reporting periods:

AT ARBRERRZEZAHZT
& 5 WA IR R D AT

2023 2022

2023 % 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&xT T4

Within 30 days 30HA 27,386 43,406
31 to 60 days 31260H 20,908 12,150
61 to 90 days 61290H 9,480 12,413
91 to 120 days 912 120H 8,233 6,076
121 to 150 days 1212150 H 4,418 4,609
Over 150 days BB 150 H 21,898 17,920
92,323 96,574

The Group's average credit term with its customers is, in

general, 3 days to 150 days. The Group seeks to maintain

strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue

balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.

(b) ECL assessment on trade receivables (b)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, allowance for ECL
on trade receivables of approximately HK$3,219,000 was
recognised to profit or loss (2022: HK$11,438,000).

Details of ECL assessment on trade receivables are set out

in Note 5(b).

AEEHERFHNTHEESR K
AB3BZE150H « NEB B H A
FRUL[B] & JE US 5R T8 4 1 BR AR o
BHEHERRERETHER -

ESEWFIENEREERIE
Rl
HZE202343A831RILFE " &
SREUGRIBNESEEBBERED
3,219,0007% JT A 18 75 R #E 7R (2022
£ : 11,438,000 7T) °

ERE SR ENBREEER
FHEFHIEE MR 5(b)
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27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

27. ENRE REREMEBRRK

RECEIVABLES b
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&x FHIT
Deposits, net of allowance for ECL & (KR BEEEFIERE)

(Note (i) (M3E @) 957 776
Prepayments TR FRIE 590 1,432
Other receivables, net of allowance H b fE U FRIE (F0BR TEHR

for ECL (Note (ii)) EEEERE) (M) 4,443 10,077

5,990 12,285
Analysed for reporting purposes as: HEHRENSTR -
Current TED 5,990 12,285
Notes: BiRE -
(i) Deposits mainly represent rental deposits and utility deposits. (i) ReXZREASRERARBERS -
At 31 March 2023, an accumulated allowance for ECL on deposits of M2023F3A31H  BEHRESTEHEES

approximately HK$17,000 was recognised (2022: HK$16,000).

(ii) Included in other receivables at 31 March 2023 was consideration receivable
from disposal of Meijia Shell Group of HK$4,500,000 (2022: HK$%,000,000),
net of accumulated allowance for ECL of approximately HK$93,000 (2022:

HK$169,000).

At 31 March 2023, an accumulated allowance for ECL on other receivables of
approximately HK$3,743,000 was recognised (2022: HK$3,820,000).

Details of ECL assessment on deposits and other receivables are

set out in Note 5(b).
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28. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE

29.

Amount due from an associate is unsecured, non-interest
bearing, and repayable on demand.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, a reversal of allowance for
ECL on amount due from an associate of approximately
HK$12,000 was recognised to profit or loss (2022: allowance for
ECL of approximately HK$234,000).

Details of ECL assessment on amount due from an associate are
set out in Note 5(b).

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK
BALANCES

28. R E X EIFIR

29.

FENEE & AR RIBEAERE 2B KA
BEREE -
HE2023F3A3MHILLFE @ ElEHE
ARAIRENEREEBERFERRD L
12,0008 7T (2022 FF : BRI E B 18 1A
#9234,00078 L) i i8am P IER ©

JE U HE 2 N R AN BRI E BB IE T
B FMIFES((bD) ©

%gﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ/ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T

Pledged bank deposits EHEMRITIF 6,087 6,077
Cash and bank balances RE NIRITE 28,557 14,276
34,644 20,353

At 31 March 2023, the Group’s cash and bank balances
denominated in RMB was RMB8,000 (2022: RMB7,000) (equivalent
to HK$9,000 (2022: HK$9,000)). RMB is not a freely convertible
currency in the PRC and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is
subject to the foreign exchange control promulgated imposed
by the government of the PRC. The Group's cash and bank
balances denominated in RMB which located in Hong Kong are
not subject to the foreign exchange control.

Cash and bank balances comprise cash at bank and cash on hand
held by the Group. Bank balances earn interests at floating rate
based on daily bank deposit rates and is placed with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

The pledged bank deposits were pledged as collateral for bank
facilities and carried interest at a range of 0.25% to 1.00% (2022:
0.25%) per annum.

Fel 2k () EEAR AT

20233 A31H » REBUAREH
BEHIRE MIRITESR A ARES000T
(20224 : ARHE7,0007T) (FE 79,000
7 7T (20224F < 9,000/870)) - AR
FEYIEATERLBNERE  BELlE
o Fh B 8 8 5T R B R T B A Y SNTE B
Bl e REBENUARBFEMNERS RIEIT
I NES - TRIMNEEFIRE -

RAeMRITERKERRTIFRANAEH
FENFTERE - |RITERIZTHRT
T RA R OF BN R REUK B - TR
HAY 2 ARk B E RAFROERTT o

EERBARTEREEBAETRE
RIEIR S - WAFFIENF0.25FEZE1.00
[E (20224 : 0.25[E )5t 5
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

30. TRADE PAYABLES 30. EHEAHKE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FH&T
Trade payables 2 S EMNFUA 30,818 36,622
The average credit term from suppliers is up to 3 to 90 days. The HEFATHEEEERERZ A3290
following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based He UTARMEMRREZAHZ7
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting periods: ME S EMNFIARR ST
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHAT
Within 30 days 30BN 11,282 18,454
31 to 60 days 31E260H 7,980 8,195
61 to 90 days 61E290H 3,519 9,093
Over 90 days @90 H 8,037 880
30,818 36,622
31. ACCRUALS, OTHER PAYABLES AND 31. BT8R - HttENRERE
DEPOSITS RECEIVED WikE
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Accruals JEETEH 3,349 2,880
Other payables H A T FRIE 564 1,251
Amount due to a director EN—%EEHIE 1,622 322
Deposits received BiZ e 124 53
Rental deposit received Bl Ee 110 110
5,769 4,616
Amount due to a director is unsecured, non-interest bearing, and N —R2EERERERF 28 KA
repayable on demand. REREE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
Provision of selling steels products and sale of injecting
molding machine products

When the Group receives a deposit before the sales contract
commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of
a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract.

Movements in contract liabilities

32. NEE

RARNEREEREETIEHRER

AEEEHES QRGN KBRS
ANEROHERELEANARG  HEE

BB A ARSI o

BHNAEEBEED

2022
2022 F
HK$'000
TET
At 1 April R4H1H 5,780
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 38) HEN B AR (KTEE38) (6,576)
Revenue recognised that was included in st AFFE LB ENC R WS
the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (2,273)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of & A FLE MW AL &
receiving deposits during the year in MEHE LA BN
respect of the goods 2,956
Exchange alignment (ER S 113
At 31 March M3HA31TH -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

210

33. RITREMER

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Secured bank borrowings (Note (i)) EAERRITER (HEE @) 28,630 11,810
Secured other borrowings (Note (i) B 1R E A 18 3R (PR3 (i) 16,959 31,279
45,589 43,089
Carrying amount repayable: JEEEMNREE :

On demand or within one year and BRERFIBRBBEMTAE

shown under current liabilities R—FRNEERE 45,589 43,089

Notes:

@

Invoice discounting facilities of HK$7,875,000 (2022: HK$11,810,000) are
interest bearing at 1.5% per annum above HIBOR for a period equal in
length to the loan period, secured by investment property and pledged
bank deposits of the Group, guaranteed by the Company and maturing
within four months. At 31 March 2023, the effective interest rate of the
invoice discounting facilities ranged from 5.22% to 5.70% (2022: 1.83% to
2.26%) per annum.

Term loan of HK$9,500,000 (2022: Nil) is interest bearing at 1.5% per annum
above 1-month HIBOR, secured by investment property and pledged bank
deposits of the Group, guaranteed by the Company and maturing in
February 2027. At 31 March 2023, the effective interest rate of the term loan
was 4.67% per annum.

Term loan of HK$9,000,000 (2022: Nil) is interest bearing at 3.38% per annum,
guaranteed by the HKMC Insurance Limited and Mr. Fong Chun Man and
maturing in October 2032.

Installment loans of HK$2,029,000 (2022: Nil) are interest bearing at 2.25%
per annum, guaranteed by Mr. Fong Chun Man, secured by motor vehicles
of the Group and maturing in July 2024.

Installment loan of HK$226,000 (2022: Nil) is interest bearing at 2.00% per
annum, guaranteed by Mr. Fong Chun Man, secured by motor vehicle of the
Group and maturing in June 2024.

Installment loan of HK$6,965,000 (2022:HK$9,292,000) is interest bearing at 1%
per annum above HK$ prime rate as determined by the lender, guaranteed
by the Company, Mr. Fong Chun Man and HKMC Insurance Limited and
maturing in December 2025. At 31 March 2023, the effective interest rate of
the installment loan was 7.13% per annum.

Installment loans of HK$9,994,000 (2022: Nil) are interest bearing at 1% per
annum above HK$ prime rate as determined by the lender, guaranteed by a
subsidiary of the Company, secured by oil barges of the Group and maturing
in June 2025. At 31 March 2023, the effective interest rate of the installment
loan was 7.13% per annum.

Other loan of HK$7,987,000 at 31 March 2022 is interest bearing at 20.4% per
annum and secured by shares charge over subsidiaries of the Company.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered into a settlement
plan with the lender pursuant to which the Group's obligation to repay the
outstanding principal and interest would be fully discharged after a final
repayment of HK$5,340,000. The Group has settled the final repayment and
a gain on extinguishment of HK$3,718,000 was recognised to profit or loss.

Other loan of HK$14,000,000 at 31 March 2022 is interest bearing at 12.5%
per annum, secured by investment property of the Group and guaranteed by
Mr. Fong Chun Man. The loan was fully settled in August 2022.
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

34. BONDS PAYABLE

The bonds payable are interest bearing at the fixed coupon rate
of 10% per annum, payable annually in arrear and repayable as

34. BHES

ENEFZEEREFFEI10% S
ARNEBFFEN  LRATHAEER

follow:

2022
2022 F
HK$'000
FAT
Within one year —FR 800

Analysed for reporting purpose as: HEHRENSTR -
Current R 800

The effective interest rate of the corporate bonds for the year
ended 31 March 2022 is 10% per annum.

35. LEASE LIABILITIES

BE202F3A3NBILFE - RAIES
M ERFENERS10%

35. fHEEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Minimum lease payments due: BB SEEENK
Within one year —F R = 169
Less: future finance charges W RRBEE R = (1)
Present value of lease liabilities HEABRE - 168
Analysed for reporting purpose as: HERENSTA -
Current T E = 168

At 31 March 2022, the weighted average incremental borrowing
rates applied to lease liabilities is 3.4%.

MR2022F3A31H  EANHEAEN
IR EE KRR 5 3.4% -
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36. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES

The followings are the major deferred tax balances recognised
and movements thereon during the years ended 31 March 2023

36. BEFIE(EE) BE

AR AREE 20234 & 202243 A31 H
HFEERRNTEEEHREBLEHR R EE

and 2022: & -
Accelerated
Allowance tax
for ECL depreciation Total
RAEE
EBERE mERERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4H1H (650) 451 (199)
Charged to profit or loss kB 500 17 517
Exchange alignment PE 3¢, % 9 - 9
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 M202263H31H
K 20224 R1H (159) 468 309
Charged to profit or loss NkiEs 159 770 929
At 31 March 2023 M2023%F3A31H - 1,238 1,238

At 31 March 2023, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$44,351,000 (2022: HK$40,060,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 HILFE

37. SHARE CAPITAL

37. B

Number of
Share HK$'000
REE FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BRMEEO.1 BT (2022 F :
(2022: HK$0.01 each) SREEO0.01BT) HEER
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 R2021%F4H18 »
and 1 April 2022 20223 HA31HR
2022F 4 A1H 2,000,000,000 20,000
Share consolidation (Note (i) & & B (B EE () (1,800,000,000) -
At 31 March 2023 A2023F3H31H 200,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRERE :
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 A1H 878,000,000 8,780
Issue of shares upon acquisition of R B M E B BEITIRD
investment property (Note (ii)) (PR3 (i) 130,000,000 1,300
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R2022F3 318 &
2022F4H1H 1,008,000,000 10,080
Share consolidation (Note (i) Rin& O () (907,200,000) -
Issue of shares by way of rights issue VAR R 31T I (D
(Note (iii) (B & Giif)) 36,720,190 3,672
At 31 March 2023 M202343A31H 137,520,190 13,752
Notes: BiEE

(iii)

On 29 June 2022, the Company completed share consolidation which
involves the consolidation of every ten issued and unissued existing shares
of the Company of HK$0.01 each into one consolidated share of the
Company of HK$0.1 each.

On 4 August 2021, 130,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were
allotted and issued for the acquisition of an investment property located in
Hong Kong.

On 15 September 2022, the Company completed an allotment and issue of
ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to the rights issue on the basis of
one rights share for every two existing shares of the Company. Details of the
rights issue are disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 23 August
2022.

@ M20225 6 A29 R » RRRFEREND & G -
BN E T REREECO BTN ALR
AERBETRABTRARDAHA—RER
EECVETLNART A G

(i) 202148 A 4H - 130,000,000 & & & M (&
0.01 B TTHOM B AR DAL S R 31T - LA
BAUNEENREME -

@iy  R202F9A158  ARAREBHFERBAR
NAEVRB RO B — IR AR AR By A 1T
AR TR BB R BT AR LB o HEAREE
EHER AN R HEA2022F 8 23 AMHA

mET -
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38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(i)

Deemed disposal of Jiangxi Xinji

As disclosed in Note 13, on 7 February 2021,
Champion Development Limited entered into an equity

Eastern

transfer agreement with the Investor, pursuant to which the
Investor will make capital injection of RMB20,000,000 to
obtain 22.96% equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji. Upon the
completion of the deemed disposal on 15 April 2021, the
Group retained 32.04% equity interest in Jiangxi Xinji and
lost its control over Jiangxi Xinji. As a result, Jiangxi Xinji

38. HEHEBAT

(i)

REHSE THEMA

AR EE13FT K FR - 72021 2
A78 BREREGRAFEEE
BRI M IREE RS B 18E
#1151 & AR ¥ 20,000,000 7T LAER
180T 78 31 3 22.96% % #& - 722021
FALANSHBIEHETNE - A%
BUREE T IR E /) 32.04% [ HE -

WREEE TR ERZGIHE -

ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group and is accounted for It ST ENB ANEE NN B
as an associate using equity method of accounting in the NCIRIN A=A (=Y l/N 2 cE
Group's consolidated financial statements since then. HEEAREXRNEENLGE TS
ko
HK$'000
FHET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over REERHENEEREBDN :
which control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEREE 15,445
Prepayment for right-of-use assets fAEEEMNTEN 8,961
Deposits for property, plant and equipment ME - MR MR 1%3’]} 7,904
Inventories FE 12,743
Trade receivables B 5 REIFIE 294
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables FENIIE - 10e R EH M E R 7,049
Cash and bank balances W& MRITHE R 879
Trade payables B RENFIE (496)
Accruals, other payables and deposits received  [EFTE R ~ HMEMZKERE Wik (3,704)
Contract liabilities EROF=RE (4,024)
Amount due to a group company JET =B A RIFRIA (11,879)
Net assets disposed of EHEFEE 33172
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38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(i)

38. HEME AT @)

Deemed disposal of Jiangxi Xinji (Continued) (i) WJ|IEHEIAHEE)
HK$'000
FAT
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary: BAEHE —FEME DR RY W
Deemed consideration received — fair value of  1R1EE KB — REBEZHN A FE
retained interest 18,241
Net assets disposed of EHEFEE (33,172)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 2 15,100
Reclassification of cumulative exchange reserve  RAHEEHBAREEFTN DB R
upon disposal of subsidiary bE 1,483
Gain on deemed disposal RAEL & e 1,652
The gain on deemed disposal of BEHE-—BHNBELRANKRSEEE :
a subsidiary comprises:
Gain on deemed disposal of equity interests BIEH SRS 1,652
HK$'000
FABT
Net cash outflow arising from the deemed REHE—BHEAREEN
disposal of a subsidiary: BeRLFHE
Cash consideration received EWERERE -
Cash and bank balances disposed of EHERE RRITHER (879)
(879)
Feb (ER)EEBARAR / —E_=ZFFRH 215
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38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(i)

Disposal of Meijia Shell Group

As disclosed in Note 13, on 31 March 2022, the Company
entered into a sale and purchase agreement to dispose of
its entire equity interest in Meijia Shell at cash consideration
of HK$9,000,000 which will be settled in six instalments over
six months. The purchaser is a connected person of the
Company at subsidiary level under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The disposal was completed on 31 March

38. HEMEB AT @)

(i) HEXEREHE

AN EE13FT R - 720224 3
A318 ARAGFMEEH#H
HEEREZZNE2DRE  BHe
£ fE9,000,00078 7 #E A S E A A
DNEEN - BEHAGEM LT
BIZE20E H T AR AR B AR
BHEAEEAL - BEEIER 2022

2022, on which date control of Meijia Shell passed to the

purchaser.

Upon completion, the purchaser has pledged the sale
shares of Meijia Shell to the Company to secure his

FIA3 AT - KRR IEGIE
RZABBERD -

KRR - B RARREMES
FRE I E RO AR L SN RE R

obligation to pay the consideration. HIiE e
HK$'000
BT
Consideration: RIE :
Cash consideration receivable FEWIR &R E 9,000
HK$'000
FET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over KEREHENEERABEDI
which control was lost:
Goodwill RS 2,044
Inventories FE 2,961
Trade receivables 2 5 WA 5,599
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TR ~ e M EMmEWRFIE 5,205
Cash and bank balances [ MIRTTE 988
Trade payables B ZRENFIE (9.659)
Accruals, other payables and deposits received  fEEE M - B EN F0E R E Wik e (1,468)
Contract liabilities aHaE (2,552)
Other borrowings H g (1,355)
Net assets disposed of EHEFEE 1,763
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38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. HEMB AR ®)
(i) Disposal of Meijia Shell Group (Continued) (i) HEEZZREER(E)
HK$'000
FAT
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB A RN :
Consideration receivable FEWAR B 9,000
Net assets disposed of EHEFEE (1,763)
Non-controlling interests eI T (138)
Reclassification of cumulative exchange reserve  RHEEMBAGIEEFHDHELRT
upon disposal of subsidiaries b 5 (7)
Gain on disposal s 7,092
HK$'000
T
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEMBAREED
of subsidiaries: BeRmbFeE:
Cash consideration received EWERERE -
Cash and bank balances disposed of BHERE RIBITER (988)
(988)
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

39. AR T BMRE

2023 2022
2023 £ 2022 4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FETT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBRRZIEE = -
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB &R 12,604 -
12,604 -
Current assets REBEE
Prepayment, deposits and other EBAFIE - Ze K
receivables H b e W 3IR 4,493 9,616
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U B A B3k IE 19,638 5,617
Cash and bank balances RS RIRIT4E 706 799
24,837 16,032
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables FEET B N E b e FUOE 2,461 3,265
Other borrowings HAnfE R 9,994 7,987
Bonds payable JERHE S = 800
Amount due to a subsidiary e —MEWE R RIRIA 3,576 -
16,031 12,052
Net current assets REEEFE 8,806 3,980
Total asset less current liabilities BEZABBADERE 21,410 3,980
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIBEE 1,238 -
Net assets EEEE 20,172 3,980
Capital and reserves EXR#HE
Share capital R& AR 37 13,752 10,080
Reserves 1 40 6,420 (6,100)
Total equity B 20,172 3,980

DR2023F6 A3 EESSHENE
BETED WA THEERKRES

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
23 June 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Fong Chun Man Lo Pui Yee
FEX gmE
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEE HiTEE
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40. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

40. XA

Share  Accumulated
premium losses Total
IR E Rt EiE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHIT FAT
At 1 April 2021 7K2021F4 18 64,821 (58,783) 6,038
Loss and total comprehensive FAEELEEEERRE
loss for the year - (22,018) (22,018)
Issue of shares upon acquisition 1R IE IR B ¥ 22517
of investment property A& (B47E20)
(Note 20) 9,880 - 9,880
At 31 March 2022 and R2022F3 4318 &
1 April 2022 2022F4H1H 74,701 (80,801) (6,100)
Profit and total comprehensive FRBMNEEEKEBEE
income for the year - 4,151 4,151
Issue of shares by way of DA IR R 31T D
rights issue (Note 37) (f¥7¥37) 8,813 - 8,813
Cost attributable to issue of VAR RS 2 X 3 1 TR 1D
shares by way of rights issue BRI (444) - (444)
At 31 March 2023 20233 HA31H 83,070 (76,650) 6,420

At 31 March 2023, the Company had distributable reserves of
HK$6,420,000 (2022: Nil) in accordance with the Companies Law,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands.

Fel 2k () EEAR AT

MR2023F3 A31H ' RIEFSHSARE
FE22F(1961 FBIFUEN - &4 kB
51 )+ AR 8] A 6,420,000 7T (20224 -
1) AR D IR o

—ECFEFR 219



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ 202343 A31 AILFE

41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

41. TEME LT

RIEBR - AR EBHE QA
(=N

Proportion of

Place and Principal Issued and  ownership interest and
date of place of paid up capital or  voting power held by the
Name of subsidiary incorporation operations  registered capital Group Principle activities
£ BERTRAR AEESENRER
il NGRS AR A S EARFEMER BERRFELH TREH
2023 2022
2023 % 20225
% %
Great Wall (International) Hong Kong, Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Sale and transportation of
Oil Limited 22 December 2005 diesel oil and related
products
= (BR) ABERAR BE & 1% EHREBEREE
20054 12 A 228 g
Eastern Champion Hong Kong, Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Property investment
Investment Limited 26 May 2021
EE N 1% MERE
2021465A26H

The above subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at

the end of the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in the

opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets

of the Group. To give detail of other subsidiaries would, in the

opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths.
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41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 41. TERBEL TR @
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have BREERFEREZNHZENWS
material non-controlling interests NEIFHE
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries TRETEAERIFERERNAER
of the Group that have material non-controlling interests: BB REFFE :

Proportion of

ownership
interests and
voting rights
held by  Loss allocated to Accumulated
Place of incorporation and non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary principal place of business interests interests interests
FEREZFEN
L 5295 PERFHER
WEARER AR LBERTRE KB REELH RENEBE  RAFERES
2022 2022 2022
20225 0225 0225
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% TAT TAT
Jiangxi Xinji The PRC N/A (35 -
IFHE h NEH
Meijia Shell Group The PRC N/A (635) -
EEREHE H NEH
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the BEEREERERNAEESMEAR
Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is R ER B EH N T X - TFIE B 7
set out below. The summarised financial information below BRI ZREEANLAIHEHEANNSHE -

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.
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41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 41. TEMB AR @)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have BEEARFERESZNIIDEWES
material non-controlling interests (Continued) NAHEF (B
From 1 April
2021 to
15 April
2021
12021 4F
AR1BZ
2021 5
4H15H
HK$'000
Jiangxi Xinji ST T
Revenue sk 42
Cost of sales HEKA (14)
Gross profit E A 28
Administrative expenses TR (106)
Loss for the period BAEs1E (78)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KAFVER NE(FEE 43)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests FEVEAR M 25 FE (G T 18 (35)
Loss for the period HAEE (78)
Other comprehensive income attributable RRE R AE
to owners of the Company Hib 2 EE 117
Other comprehensive income attributable FEVERS M = FE A
to non-controlling interests HAth 2 E W 95
Other comprehensive income for the period BN E fth 2 T E 212
Total comprehensive income attributable RREHEE ANEEEERERE
to owners of the Company 74
Total comprehensive income attributable IR G2 E =B
to non-controlling interests 60
Total comprehensive income for the period HA2HEKEREE 134
Net cash inflow from operating activities TR FTEER
e mAHE 766
Net cash inflow WamAFEE 766
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41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests (Continued)

41.

FEMMB AT @)

BEEAIEZRESNEZENS
ACESHG )

Year ended
31 March
2022
BZE 20224
3H31H
IEFE
HK$'000
Meijia Shell Group EEREER FAT
Revenue W as 14,476
Cost of sales HEXA (14,029)
Gross profit EA| 447
Administrative expenses THAX (1,474)
Allowance for ECL on trade and B REMBWHIBERES
other receivables, net B R R 5
Loss before taxation BrEf AT E B (1,022)
Income tax expense FriS it (274)
Loss for the year FNEE (1,296)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company RAEHEE AEILEE (661)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests IR E R BN EE (635)
Loss for the year FAEE (1,296)
Other comprehensive loss attributable RRABEAAEMLEEMZE
to owners of the Company &8 (20)
Other comprehensive loss attributable FEFE R R E M 2
to non-controlling interests EE (18)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FERHEMEMEERE (38)
Total comprehensive loss attributable RARHEEANEEEEEELETE
to owners of the Company (681)
Total comprehensive loss attributable IR B R BB ERE
to non-controlling interests (653)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEERARE (1,334)
Net cash outflow from operating activities KEEFTEAMNRE SR FEE (569)
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEFRBMEEANRESRAFE 1,355
Net cash inflow WEMAFHE 786
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42.

43.

224

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
Under the MPF Scheme, employees are required to contribute
5% of their monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500
(2022: HK$1,500) and they can choose to make additional
contributions. Employers’ monthly contributions are calculated at
5% of the employee’s monthly salaries or up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 (2022: HK$1,500) (the “mandatory contributions”).
Employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s mandatory
contributions upon their retirement at the age of 65, death or
total incapacity.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions arising from the
MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income represent contributions
paid or payable to the funds by the Group at rates specified in
the rules of the schemes.

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, there was no forfeited contribution
under any defined contribution schemes available which may be
used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions,
nor any contribution under any defined contribution schemes was
forfeited by the Group for both years.

The contributions paid and payable to the schemes by the Group
are disclosed in Note 11.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 23 March 2017
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme became
effective on the date of the Company’s listing (12 April 2018) and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
ten years from that date.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to
employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants,
advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners or service providers of the Group and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.
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43.

RKEFETE

AEBBEARFNMELTESEIEH X
Y-ETHEER B EAE SRR
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SHEFEE A 11,5008 70 (2022 F 1,500
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ZEARFRINEEBREE R %A E
Bt 78 A 1,500 7T (2022 4F + 1,500
BT ([E ) - /8 BT 65 BRRIN -
S TR R AT DR A28
BEE AEED 2@ sl -

RiraBm MEMEE KA RIS
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43. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any
option shall be determined by the board (or as the case may be,
including, where required under the GEM Listing Rules, the
independent non-executive directors) from time to time on the
basis of the participant’s contribution or potential contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 80,000,000 shares (or such number of
shares as may result from a subdivision or consolidation of such
80,000,000 shares from time to time), representing 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of share issuable
under share options granted to each eligible participant in the
Share Option Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding
options) within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue. Any grant or further grant of share
options in excess of this limit must be separately approved by
shareholders in general meeting. Any grant of share options
under the Share Option Scheme to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, must be approved by the independent non-executive
directors (excluding any independent non-executive director who
is the grantee of the option). In addition, any share options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates,
which would result in the total number of share issues and to be
issued, upon exercise of all options already granted and to be
granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding),
to such person under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company to such person in any
12-month period up to and including the date of the grant in
aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and
with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company's share at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5
million, such further grant of options is required to be approved
by shareholders of the Company at a general meeting of the
Company, with voting to be taken by way of poll.

43. BRETTE (@)

Exg (RBERME (M GEM LR AIE
K)o NBEBILFRATES) I TER
BE2EEHAEEERLIERAELH
AREEH M B RUR TR T EREDN
SEEER -

AITEREERETSRE G TREY
R EREmA] TEITHRMEE £
R /80,000,000 f% (kTR D Hr ok & BHaz
£ 80,000,000 % A% {7 B RE = AE 0 5 A A
MEE)  HRERERMNERARAFTE
BITRAD Y 10% o PAME{a 1218 B R A B8
BETENTREERI2EERTNE
BEiE (BIEEITE R M ARTTERMBERARE)
Frg el TE8TRMEB B ERAERR
RIDEITRMOE1% - RESE—F R
FRBI R AR AR IR AR AR R
TLEBUE - MARAESE - TTRA
B FTERRABEENTAHEARD
R8T A BB A B S FEBTT
BX (TREAS BBIREAR ANER
BN IEMITE S ) U o b MEER
RABUIERTEFTREESENEM
HEARDEMERERNERTEHER
HHB(REZA) IEEMI121E A B
W B A TEITEREERERE &
RARMEM EMEREREIE X K&
FRERNEIERE(BIEERTE B
SHR M ARITERBRE) MAABALE
TR TFETHROBEELBALTA
AT EITRME01% : M(BERO P
EERHBHEMENE) REBRBES
ST BIEEME H BB B SRR
PNRIRERARE EEZE R AR R -
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43.

226

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The offer for the grant of share option must be accepted within
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.
The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company
on acceptance of the offeror the grant of an option is HK$1. An
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to provision of early termination thereof. There is
no requirement of a minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised. The subscription price of a
Share in respect of any particular option granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the board
and notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i)
the closing price of the shares as started in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the ate of grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average closing prices of the
Shares as stared in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the
date of grant of the option.

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, there was no outstanding share
options under any share option scheme. No share option was
granted, exercised, lapsed, expired or cancelled during the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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44. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND 44, BERXGREAXBBIRS
MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Save as disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated financial B E B BERREMmtt F iR EE N
statements, the Group had also entered into the following R EEE - AREBENRFI LA TEKRES
material related party transactions during the reporting period: Bt HA 5
(a) Connected transactions and related party (a) BEXZRBHBAIRS
transactions
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
Name of party Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
BEE A8 REME THET TBT
Jet Good Limited ("Jet Good”) (Note) Rent expenses 961 1,247
H=ERAA (8= 1K) ek
(b) Connected and related balances (b) BRERBEBiEER
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Name of party Nature of balance HK$'000 HK$'000
EA 5 £ B EME THET FAT
Jet Good (Note) Prepayments 146 -
£ (f5) TEfTFRIE
Deposits 444 444
o
Note: Mr. Fong Chun Man, an executive director and ultimate controlling MisE © ARBMITER RELIERRER T E
shareholder of the Company, has beneficial interests in Jet Good. NAERYFHEER R - Bt -
Hence, Jet Good is related company and connected entity of the BIEGEM LT HRBE20E B R
Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. EaUNSIEE o) NS AL g
For the transactions constitute connected transactions B AR GEM LT 5% BIIE T 15 Ak 78
under the GEM Listing Rules, please refer to the sections (RS S  B2HEEER
headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing EIETHAER S RIFERER
Connected Transactions” under the “Report of the Board ] —fio

of Directors”.
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44. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

45.

228

(c)

(d)

Personal guarantee and securities provided by key
management personnel

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, Mr. Fong Chun Man, an
executive director of the Company, provides personal
guarantee and life insurance policy of insured sum
amounted to US$2,600,000 which Mr. Fong Chun Man is
the insured person as securities for loan facilities granted to
the Group.

Compensation of key management personnel

The directors of the Company and senior management are
identified as key management personnel of the Group and
their remunerations during the reporting period are set out
in Notes 14 and 15.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Assets with the following carrying amounts have been pledged to

(c)

(d)

44. REXGRERBBAIRS

(%)

HEFEEBABREMPNEBEALE
REIE

R20234F K202293A31H K
NAMITEEFETAREEA
PR M AR 58 52,600,000 3 TTHY A
SRE(HEXEERXIRA) £
AASEERERRERER -

FTEEEABNMHE
RATEZRGRELEEETE R
AEBNTIEEEAR  RENH
SRR BB E 14 2 15 ©

. BEERA

ERATEREESEERR  UEAX

secure the loan facilities of the Group as follow: EEEFRMEER
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT FHBT
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFESFABGNEREE
— Key management personnel life —FEEBABASRE
insurance policy 4,440 4,979
Investment property "B YE 19,400 20,000
Pledged bank deposits EEMRITIFR 6,087 6,077
Motor vehicles RE 491 574
Oil barges S B 12,604 -
43,022 31,630
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46. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

46. REEEFMELE S BNYIR

Bank and
other Lease Bonds
borrowings liabilities payable Total
BITRHEM
B HEEE « EAEH @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR T T
At 1 April 2021 R2021%54 /181 21,294 758 8,800 30,852
Changes from financing cash flows: RERMER S REMED)
Proceeds from bank and BOIREMERAETE
other borrowings 48,219 - - 48,219
Repayment of bank and BERFITRAMET
other borrowings (25,087) - - (25,087)
Repayment of bonds payable BEEMNES - - (8,000) (8,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERRE - (590) - (590)
Interest paid BFE (3,289) (18) (870) 4,177
Total changes in financing cash flows HERSRERB B 19,843 (608) (8,870) 10,365
Other changes: Hip g
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 38) HENE DA (st 38) (1,355) - - (1,355)
Interest expenses ik 4,227 18 192 4,437
(Increase)/decrease in accrued interest FE=HR 2 ()R (938) - 678 (260)
Exchange alignment IZFWH%% 18 - - 18
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R 2022%3 A 31 BN
2022F4 A1 43,089 168 800 44,057
Changes from financing cash flows: pE] Eﬂﬁiﬁﬁméﬁ’]ﬁ@j :
Proceeds from bank and RITREMEFMETE
other borrowings 74,713 - - 74,713
Repayment of bank and BRRITREMER
other borrowings (68,495) - - (68,495)
Repayment of bonds payable EBREMES - - (800) (800)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAE = (168) = (168)
Interest paid ENFIE (3,752) (1) - (3,753)
Total changes in financing cash flows HERERELEBE 2,466 (169) (800) 1,497
Other changes: H
Interest expenses FBEX 2,815 1 - 2,816
Decrease in accrued interest EFI 2R 937 - = 937
Gain on extinguishment of EEEMER
other borrowing Hlzs (3,718) - - (3,718)
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3A31H 45,589 - - 45,589
Fe¥(ER)EBMBRAR / —T_=FFRK 229
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47. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE 47. RETRGEMBRER
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
The consolidated financial statements were approved and RETBHREREN2023F6H238HE
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 June 2023. EoRE R E
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Financial Summary

MR E

For the year ended 31 March 2023

RESULT

HE2023F3A31HILEE

ES

For the year ended 31 March

BE3A3MBLEE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 2020 2021 2022 F 2023 F
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FET FET THET
(Restated) (Restated)
(&7)) (&51)
Continuing operations REREEK
Revenue Was 229,718 328,119 357,753 357,471 429,940
Cost of sales SHERA (207,995)  (305,421)  (332,420)  (352,579) (413,699)
Gross profit EH 21,723 22,698 25,333 4,892 16,241
Profit/(loss) for the year from REFBEEEER
continuing operations FREF/(ER) 5,336 4,856 7,592 (39,257)  (4,837)
Discontinued operations BRIEEEEK
(Loss)/profit for the year from REDRIEEEERR
discontinued operations FER(BER),/EF (4,532) (350) (2,133) 7,370 -
Profit/(loss) for the year EREN/(B1R) 804 4,506 5,459 (31,887) (4,837)
Attributable to TH AL
Owners of the Company RREEBA 804 4,664 6,387 (31,217) (4,837)
Non-controlling interests EEtb g £ - (158) (928) (670) =
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF(BE) 804 4,506 5459  (31,887)  (4,837)
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 March
®3AB31H

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204 2021 4 2022%F 20234
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET FHBT FHBT FET
Non-current asset FRBEE 10,166 34,103 59,896 49,722 55,708
Current assets MBENVEE 108,992 118,704 154726 131,411 128,960
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 4,522 9,498 561 468 1,238
Current liabilities mERE 26,085 36,775 82,023 85,295 82,176
Net current assets RBEEFE 82,907 81,929 72,703 46,116 46,784
Net assets BEFE 88,551 106,534 132,038 95,370 ~ 101,254

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

Such summary was prepared as if the current structure of the Group

had been in existence throughout these financial years and is

presented on the basis as set out in Note 3 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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